

## TOWN OF CRESTON COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

## Tuesday, January 16, 2024, 4:00 PM

## Council Chambers, 238-10th Avenue North, Creston, BC

1. CALL TO ORDER

## 2. TRADITIONAL TERRITORY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA

**Recommended Motion:** THAT Council ADOPTS the Regular Council Agenda of January 16, 2024.

## 4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

a. Regular Council Meeting Minutes - January 9, 2024

## Recommended Motion:

THAT Council ADOPTS the minutes of the Regular Council Meeting held on January 9, 2024.

## 5. RESOLUTION TO RESOLVE INTO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Council now RESOLVES itself into a Committee of the Whole.

## 6. DELEGATIONS

a. Justine Keirn, Executive Director, Valley Community Services, regarding United Way BC's report on Senior's Housing

## 7. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE BUSINESS

a. Justine Keirn, Executive Director, Valley Community Services, regarding United Way BC's report on Seniors Housing

## RECOMMENDATION

THAT the Committee RECEIVES the delegation from Justine Keirn, Executive Director, Valley Community Services, regarding United Way BC's report on Seniors Housing.

b. Presentation from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services regarding the 2024 Core Budget

## RECOMMENDATION

### THAT Committee RECOMMENDS

c. Council Direction Request from the Manager of Community Planning and Development regarding Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 1986 - Fences and Housekeeping

## RECOMMENDATION

THAT the Committee of the Whole RECOMMENDS that Council DIRECT Staff to draft a zoning amendment bylaw for consideration of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting; THAT Council DIRECT Staff to draft a fees and charges amendment bylaw for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting; AND FURTHER THAT, Council repeal Fence Height Policy SER-005-055.

d. Council Direction Request from the Manager of Community Planning and Development regarding the Backyard Hen Program

## RECOMMENDATION

THAT Council DIRECT Staff to present draft bylaws to amend Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763; Animal Care and Responsibility Bylaw No. 1826; and, Bylaw Notice of Enforcement Bylaw No. 1760; AND FURTHER, THAT Backyard Hen Pilot Program Policy SER-005-060 be repealed.

e. Council Direction Request from the Manager of Community Planning and Development regarding the Parks Booking Policy and Bylaw

### RECOMMENDATION

THAT Council DIRECT Staff to present draft amendment bylaws for Parks, Trails and Public Spaces Bylaw No. 1788; Delegation of Authority Bylaw No. 1855; and, Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763 for consideration of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> readings at an upcoming regular Council Meeting; AND FURTHER, Council direct Staff to update the Parks and Public Space Booking Policy SER-009-010.

f. Council Direction Request from the Manager of Community Planning and Development regarding an amendment to Fees and Charges Bylaw regarding Property Access Applications

## RECOMMENDATION

THAT Council DIRECTS Staff to draft a bylaw to amend Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763, 2011, for Council consideration of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting.

g. Council Direction Request from the Manager of Community Planning and Development regarding Short Term Rental Notification

## RECOMMENDATION

THAT Council DIRECT Staff to notify Town residents of new Short Term Rental regulations, following adoption of the relevant bylaws, AND FURTHER THAT, Council DIRECT Staff to begin enforcement of the regulatory bylaws six months following adoption of the relevant bylaws.

## 8. RESOLUTION TO RISE FROM COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Council RISE from Committee of the Whole.

### 9. ITEMS OF BUSINESS

a. Recommendations from the Committee of the Whole held on January 9, 2024

### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Council ADOPTS Recommendations No. 1 - 4 from the Regular Committee of the Whole of January 9, 2024 as follows:

## Recommendation #: 1

The Committee RECEIVED the delegation from Staff. Sgt. Brandon Buliziuk, Creston RCMP, regarding the Quarterly Update.

## Recommendation #: 2

THAT Council DIRECT Staff to amend Development Permit 20-11 for the properties legally described as Lots 1 & 2, District Lot 525, Kootenay District, Plan 10683, Except Plan EPP37612, PIDs: 007-028-687 and 007-028-652, and located at 215 and 235 Northwest Boulevard, as requested by the applicant and outlined in the attached Staff Briefing Note.

## Recommendation #: 3

THAT Council DIRECT Staff to draft a Fees and Charges Amendment Bylaw for Short Term Rentals AND, FURTHER THAT Council DIRECT Staff to bring the Fees and Charges Amendment Bylaw, Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 1977, 2023, Business Licence Bylaw No. 1793, 2017, Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw No. 1979, 2023, and Fire Service Bylaw No. 1928, 2021 to an upcoming Regular Council meeting for consideration of 1st and 2nd Readings.

## Recommendation #: 4

THAT Council DIRECTS Staff to draft a bylaw to amend or replace Property Access Bylaw No. 763 for Council consideration of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting.

b. Request for Decision from the Manager of Community Planning and Development regarding DP 20-11 Amendment (Grain Elevator)

### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Council DIRECT Staff to issue an amendment to Development Permit 20-11 for the properties legally described as Lots 1 & 2, District Lot 525, Kootenay District, Plan 10683, Except Plan EPP37612, PIDs: 007-028-687 and 007-028-652, and located at 215 and 235 Northwest Boulevard.

c. Request for Decision from the Manager of Building and Bylaw regarding Casey's Community House Application to the Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Board

## Recommended Motion:

THAT Council AMENDS Resolution # 398-23 as follows: THAT Council SUPPORTS Casey's Community House application to the British Columbia Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Branch requesting an extension of hours of operation for 7 days a week 10:30 am to 1:00 to 9:00 am to 2:00 am.

d. Kootenay Regional - Skate Canada BC/YT Section, Discretionary Grant Application for the Regional Championships at Creston and District Community Complex in the amount of \$1000

**Recommended Motion:** 

THAT Council AUTHORIZES a discretionary grant in the amount of \$

### 10. CORRESPONDENCE

- a. Action Recommended
  - 1. Marion Eunson, Industry Engagement Officer, Ktunaxa Nation Council, regarding 2024 Ktunaxa Business Showcase Registraion
- b. Receive for Information
  - 1. Mike Farnworth, Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General, regarding Policing

### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Council RECEIVES the correspondence from Mike Farnworth, Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General regarding policing.

## 11. BYLAWS

a. Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 1977, 2024 (Short Term Rentals) (1st and 2nd Readings)

### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 1977, 2024, BE READ a first time by title and a second by content.

b. Business Licence Amendment Bylaw No. 1978, 2024 (Short Term Rentals) (1st and 2nd Reading)

#### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Business Licence Amendment Bylaw No. 1978, 2024, BE READ a first time by title and a second by content.

c. Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw No. 1979, 2024 (Short Term Rentals) (1st and 2nd reading)

#### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 1979, 2024, BE READ a first time by title and a second by content.

d. Fire Service Amendment Bylaw No. 1982, 2024 (Short Term Rentals) (1st and 2nd Reading)

### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Fire Service Amendment Bylaw No. 1982, 2024, BE READ a first time by title and a second by content.

e. Fees and Charges Amendment Bylaw No. 1994, 2024 (Short Term Rentals) (1st and 2nd Reading)

## **Recommended Motion:**

THAT Fees and Charges Amendment Bylaw No. 1944, 2024, BE READ a first time by title and a second by content.

## 12. NEW BUSINESS

13. REPORTS OF REPRESENTATIVES

**Recommended Motion:** THAT the written and verbal reports of Council, BE RECEIVED.

## 14. GIVING OF NOTICES

## 15. ACTING MAYORS SCHEDULE

- January: Councillor Eisler
- February: Councillor Dumas
- March: Councillor Baldwin

### 16. QUESTION PERIOD

## 17. RECESS AND MOVE TO CLOSED MEETING

### **Recommended Motion:**

THAT the Regular Council Meeting of DATE be recessed at TIME and by the authority of the *Community Charter*, Council move to a Closed Council Meeting with this meeting be closed from the public and/or news media pursuant to

## 18. RECONVENE TO REGULAR MEETING

## 19. RESOLUTIONS FROM CLOSED MEETING

## 20. ADJOURNMENT

**Recommended Motion:** THAT the Regular Council Meeting of January 16, 2024, be adjourned at TIME.

#### TOWN OF CRESTON

#### **COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES**

Tuesday, January 9, 2024, 4:00 PM Council Chambers, 238-10th Avenue North, Creston, BC

PRESENT:	Mayor Arnold DeBoon Councillor Norm Eisler Councillor Keith Baldwin Councillor Denise Dumas
REGRETS:	Councillor Monique Arès (Parental Leave)
STAFF:	Mike Moore, Chief Administrative Officer Steffan Klassen, Director of Finance & Corporate Services Jared Riel, Fire Chief Joel Comer, Manager of Community Planning and Development Kirsten Dunbar, Corporate Officer Natasha Ewashen, Municipal Services Coordinator/Planner Marsha Neufeld, Executive Assistant/HR Asha DeLisle, Affordable Housing and Climate Coordinator
GALLERY:	Staff. Sgt. Brandon Buliziuk, Director Garry Jackman, Director Roger Tierney, Director Kelly Vandenbergh, Ian Morgan (Next Architecture), Mel Joy, Allan Clement, Carolyn Hawton

#### 1. CALL TO ORDER

The Mayor called the Regular Council Meeting to order at 4:00 pm.

#### 2. TRADITIONAL TERRITORY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Regular Council Meeting was held on the unceded traditional territory of the Yaqan Nukiy within the Ktunaxa Nations.

#### 3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA

#### Resolution #: 01-24

Moved by Councillor Baldwin Seconded by Councillor Eisler

THAT Council ADOPTS the Regular Council Agenda of January 9, 2024.

MOTION CARRIED

#### 4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

a. Regular Council Meeting Minutes - December 12, 2023

#### Resolution #: 02-24

Moved by Councillor Dumas Seconded by Councillor Baldwin

THAT Council ADOPTS the minutes of the Regular Council Meeting held on December 12, 2023. MOTION CARRIED

#### 5. RESOLUTION TO RESOLVE INTO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

#### Resolution #: 03-24

Moved by Mayor DeBoon Seconded by Councillor Eisler

THAT Council now RESOLVES itself into a Committee of the Whole.

MOTION CARRIED

#### 6. DELEGATIONS

a. Staff Sgt. Brandon Buliziuk, Creston RCMP, regarding Quarterly Update

The Mayor welcomed Staff Sgt. Brandon Buliziuk, Creston RCMP to the Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting at 4:01 pm.

Staff Sgt. Buliziuk noted that 2023 was the busiest the detachment has been in sixteen years with the highest calls for service and the lowest substantiated criminal offence rate. This was attributed to the community requesting more proactive policing. Staff Sgt. Buliziuk noted that there were a total of 3627 calls for service in 2023, staffing is currently at 11 of 13 regular members, and strategic planning begins in April.

The Mayor thanked Staff Sgt. Buliziuk for his time and work in the community and the Staff Sgt. left the meeting at 4:15 pm.

#### 7. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE BUSINESS

a. Staff Sgt. Brandon Buliziuk, Creston RCMP, regarding Quarterly Update

#### Recommendation #: CW-1-24

The Committee RECEIVED the delegation from Staff. Sgt. Brandon Buliziuk, Creston RCMP, regarding the Quarterly Update.

b. Council Direction Request from the Manager of Community Planning and Development regarding a Development Permit 20-11(Grain Elevators))

#### Recommendation #: CW-2-24

THAT Council DIRECT Staff to amend Development Permit 20-11 for the properties legally described as Lots 1 & 2, District Lot 525, Kootenay District, Plan 10683, Except Plan EPP37612, PIDs: 007-028-687 and 007-028-652, and located at 215 and 235 Northwest Boulevard, as requested by the applicant and outlined in the attached Staff Briefing Note.

c. Council Direction Request from the Manager of Community Planning and Development regarding proposed Short Term Rental Fees

#### Recommendation #: CW-3-24

THAT Council DIRECT Staff to draft a Fees and Charges Amendment Bylaw for Short Term Rentals AND, FURTHER THAT Council DIRECT Staff to bring the Fees and Charges Amendment Bylaw, Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 1977, 2023, Business Licence Bylaw No. 1793, 2017, Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw No. 1979, 2023, and Fire Service Bylaw No. 1928, 2021 to an upcoming Regular Council meeting for consideration of 1st and 2nd Readings.

d. Council Direction Request from the Manager of Community Planning and Development regarding Property Access Bylaw No. 763

#### Resolution #: CW-4-24

THAT Council DIRECTS Staff to draft a bylaw to amend or replace Property Access Bylaw No. 763 for Council consideration of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting.

#### 8. RESOLUTION TO RISE FROM COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

#### Resolution #: 04-24

Moved by Councillor Baldwin Seconded by Councillor Dumas

THAT Council RISE from Committee of the Whole.

MOTION CARRIED

#### 9. ITEMS OF BUSINESS

a. Recommendations from the Committee of the Whole held on December 12, 2023

#### Resolution #: 05-24

Moved by Councillor Baldwin Seconded by Councillor Dumas

THAT Council ADOPTS Recommendations No. 1-2 from the Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting held on December 12, 2023 as follows:

#### **RECOMMENDATION 1:**

THAT Council DIRECT Staff to revise the Backyard Hen Pilot Program addressing the allowance of chicks inside and coop placement, bringing forward the amendments to an upcoming Committee of the Whole for consideration.

#### **RECOMMENDATION 2:**

THAT Council RECEIVES FOR INFORMATION the Council Direction Request regarding short term rental bylaws and upcoming provincial and federal measures regarding short term rentals; AND FURTHER, THAT Council DIRECTS Staff to bring forward fee structure options regarding business licencing and fire inspections for short term rentals for consideration at an upcoming Committee of the Whole Meeting. MOTION CARRIED

b. Request for Decision from the Chief Administrative Officer regarding the Appointment of the Election Officers for the 2024 By-Election

#### Resolution #: 06-24

Moved by Councillor Baldwin Seconded by Councillor Dumas

THAT Council APPOINT Kirsten Dunbar as the Chief Election Officer; AND FURTHER, THAT Council APPOINTS Donna Cassel and Marsha Neufeld as Deputy Election Officers for the upcoming By-Election March 16, 2024. MOTION CARRIED

c. Council Action List

#### Resolution #: 07-24

Moved by Councillor Dumas Seconded by Councillor Eisler

THAT Council RECEIVES the Council Action List.

MOTION CARRIED

#### 10. CORRESPONDENCE

a. Action Recommended

#### 1. Creston Valley Regional Airport - Request for a Letter of Support for Application to BCAAP Grant

#### Resolution #: 08-24

Moved by Councillor Baldwin Seconded by Councillor Dumas

THAT Council AUTHORIZES the Mayor to write a letter in support of the Creston Valley Regional Airport's application to the BCAAP Grant for the purchase of a standby generator. MOTION CARRIED

2. Garry and Carol Bennett, regarding traffic safety concerns between Highway 21 and Valleyview Drive

#### Resolution #: 09-24

Moved by Councillor Baldwin Seconded by Councillor Dumas

THAT Council REFER the correspondence from Garry and Carol Bennett regarding traffic safety concerns between Highway 21 and Valley view Drive to Staff. MOTION CARRIED

#### 3. Trinity United Church, request for funding for Shelter

#### Resolution #: 10-24

Moved by Councillor Baldwin Seconded by Councillor Dumas

THAT Council AUTHORIZES the Mayor to issue a response to Trinity United Church regarding their request for funding for a daytime shelter. MOTION CARRIED

- b. Receive for Information
  - 1. Bindi Sawchuk, Assistant Deputy Minister, Housing and Land Use Policy Division, Ministry of Housing, regarding capacity funding for legislative changes to support housing initiatives
  - 2. Regional District of Central Kootenay, regarding the Resident Directed Grant Process for 2024
  - 3. Todd Doherty, MP Cariboo-Prince George, regarding the display of an information poster regarding 988
  - 4. Fort St. John, correspondence to the Honourable Mike Farnworth regarding the Community Safety Act
  - 5. Kootenay River Secondary School, regarding letter of appreciation for Senior Boys Volleyball Discretionary Grant

#### Resolution #: 11-24

Moved by Councillor Eisler Seconded by Councillor Dumas

THAT Council RECEIVES the following correspondence:

- Bindi Sawchuk, Assistant Deputy Minister, Housing and Land Use Policy Division, Ministry of Housing regarding capacity funding for legislative changes.
- Regional District of Central Kootenay, regarding the Resident
  Directed Grant Process for 2024
- Todd Doherty, MP Cariboo-Prince George, regarding the display of an information poster regarding 988
- Fort St. John, correspondence to the Honourable Mike Farnworth regarding the Community Safety Act.
- Kootenay River Secondary School, regarding letter of appreciation for Senior Boys Volleyball Discretionary Grant.

MOTION CARRIED

11. BYLAWS

Nil.

12. NEW BUSINESS

#### 13. REPORTS OF REPRESENTATIVES

- The Mayor reported on his attendance at the CPKC Holiday Train, the Joint Resource Recovery Committee Meeting, the RDCK Board Meeting, a Meeting with MOTI for Highway 3 Realignment, a meeting with the Chamber of Commerce, and the ARES School HoHoHo Contest.
- Councillor Baldwin reported on his attendance at the Economic Action
  Partnership Advisory Committee.

- Councillor Dumas reported on her attendance at a Creston Valley Regional Airport Society Meeting, a meeting with the Chamber of Commerce, the Christmas parade and two meetings regarding the temporary emergency shelter.
- Councillor Eisler reported on his attendance at a Chamber of Commerce Networking event and a Creston Valley Housing Society Meeting.

#### Resolution #: 12-24

Moved by Councillor Eisler Seconded by Councillor Dumas

THAT Council RECEIVES the verbal and written reports of Council and Staff. MOTION CARRIED

#### 14. GIVING OF NOTICES

Regular Council Meetings: January 9, 16, 23 February 13, 20, 27

#### 15. QUESTION PERIOD

There were no questions from members of the gallery.

#### 16. RECESS AND MOVE TO CLOSED MEETING

No Closed Council Meeting.

#### 17. ADJOURNMENT

#### Resolution #: 13-24

Moved by Councillor Baldwin THAT the Regular Council Meeting of January 9, 2024, be adjourned at 5:03 pm. MOTION CARRIED

#### **CERTIFIED CORRECT:**

Arnold DeBoon Mayor Kirsten Dunbar Corporate Officer

Page 11 of 155

# Aging in Uncertainty:

The Growing Housing Crisis for BC Seniors

November 2023

Laura Kadowaki, Gemma Bridgefoot, Marcy Cohen



Working with communities in BC's North, Interior, Lower Mainland, Central & Northern Vancouver Island

## **Report Background and Acknowledgements**

This report was prepared by United Way British Columbia and the Housing Working Group, a committee of the Community Based Seniors' Services (CBSS) Leadership Council. The Leadership Council advises United Way BC's Healthy Aging Department and is a provincially-represented body of leaders working in the not-for-profit and municipal-based seniors' services sector, as well as older adults who are leaders in this sector.

The Housing Working Group was established by the Leadership Council in response to growing concerns raised by not-for-profit agencies and service providers across BC on two issues: the growing unaffordability of housing for seniors and the lack of social supports tied to housing that would make it possible for seniors to live well and remain in their own homes for longer.

The Housing Working Group includes members from urban and rural communities throughout BC who have an interest in, and knowledge of, seniors' housing needs, challenges, models, and/ or solutions. We would like to thank the working group co-chairs, Deborah Hollins and Tim Rowe, as well as the other members of the working group for their insights and support on our journey to develop this report.

We would also like to thank 411 Seniors Centre, and the agencies that work with them, who raised the alarm bells about the growing crisis of housing insecurity (i.e., precarity) and homelessness within BC's seniors' population.

And a special thanks to all the seniors, volunteers, and housing and service providers who participated in interviews or shared their insights with us in other ways.



## Contents

Key Messages4
Executive Summary5
1. Introduction
2. Report Methodology11
3. Literature Review: Housing, Human Rights, and Health 13
4. The Growing Affordability and Precarity Crisis in Seniors Housing15
5. Interview Findings23
6. Seniors Housing Precarity Goals and Recommendations37
Appendix 1. Prevalence of Low-Income After Tax in British Columbia by Age Group, 1990-202152
Appendix 2. Government Retirement Income Benefits53
Appendix 3. Average Monthly Rental Cost for a 1-Bedroom Apartment by Community54
Appendix 4. Seniors Living in Unaffordable Housing or Precariously Housed, By Community55
Appendix 5. 100 More Homes Penticton58
Appendix 6. Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region60
Appendix 7. Whole Way House Model61
Appendix 8. SRO Hub Program – Tenant Based Initiatives63
Appendix 9. Seniors Housing Information and Navigation Ease65
Appendix 10. Temporary Housing Program66

## **Key Messages**

- Low-income rates for seniors in BC (15.2%) are now the highest for any age group, which is a dramatic reversal from three decades ago when seniors had the lowest low-income rates of any age group.
- Population aging, coupled with rapidly rising costs of living and the inadequate incomes of seniors, is contributing to the seniors' housing precarity crisis.
- A 70-year-old senior who is dependent on government benefits (i.e., OAS, GIS, BC Seniors Supplement) would spend 78% of their income to rent an average one-bedroom apartment in BC (\$1,432), on average.
- Access to subsidized rent-geared-to-income seniors' housing has been declining in BC, while at the same time, low-cost private market options are being lost due to skyrocketing rents, evictions, renovictions, and redevelopments; as well as seasonal and regional influxes of people into communities.
- Almost 1 in 5 senior-led renter households (18% or 21,565 households) are spending 50% or more of their income on housing and are considered to be precariously housed and at risk of homelessness.
- In our interviews we heard that:
  - There is a growing number of seniors who are unsheltered or living in substandard or unsafe housing situations (e.g., staying with abusive family members; living in cars or storage lockers; camping in the woods; housing without heat or electricity).
  - An increasing number of these seniors find themselves on the verge of homelessness for the first time in their 60s and 70s.
  - Housing precarity and homelessness takes a significant toll on the physical and mental health of seniors. For example, one frontline service provider stated that over half of their clients experiencing housing precarity talk openly about whether they want to live anymore.
  - The current continuum of housing and housing supports does not serve seniors well, due to gaps in the continuum as well as a lack of senior-specific supports and housing options.
- In our report recommendations, we have identified six goals and sixteen specific recommendations, including examples of positive actions that have been initiated by the BC Government, municipalities in various regions of the province, and community-based organizations. Expanding on these examples will help to achieve the goal of housing affordability for seniors and other low-income British Columbians. The first three goals address the need for more low-income rental housing stock in BC for all age groups, while the last three goals focus specifically on the needs of the senior population.

Page 15 of 155



## **Executive Summary**

## Introduction

In British Columbia (BC), low- and moderate-income people of all ages and from all walks of life are being affected by the housing affordability crisis. Our report highlights the impact of the housing affordability crisis on one specific demographic: seniors. Over the past year and a half, communitybased seniors' services (CBSS) have been sounding the alarm that the risk of homelessness among low-income seniors is reaching crisis proportions.

Population aging, coupled with rapidly rising living costs and inadequate retirement incomes, is contributing to a growing number of seniors experiencing housing precarity later in life. Historically, seniors have received limited policy attention in terms of their housing rights, as improvements to retirement income benefits in the 1970s dramatically reduced the lowincome rates for seniors to levels lower than those of other age groups. However, today seniors' rates of low income in BC (15.2%) are nearly double that of any other age group. Furthermore, one in four seniors has an income below \$21,800. In this report, we delve into the distinctive housing contexts, challenges, and needs that emerge later in life, as well as potential solutions for meeting the needs of precariously housed seniors. We synthesize data from various sources to illustrate the scope of the seniors' housing precarity crisis among seniors and present findings from interviews with seniors, volunteers, housing providers, and service providers. While our primary focus is on seniors, we acknowledge housing as a basic human right, and emphasize the significance of taking broader action to ensure that British Columbians at all stages of life have access to affordable housing.

## The Growing Affordability and Precarity Crisis in Seniors Housing

In BC, the cost of housing has been skyrocketing, making it nearly impossible to find an affordable rental unit in many communities. The average monthly rental cost for a 1-bedroom apartment in a purpose-built rental building has surged from \$871 in 2010 to \$1,432 in 2022, marking a 64% increase. In comparison, the monthly income available to seniors through OAS/GIS/BC Seniors Supplement for seniors aged 65-74 was only \$1,841.35 in 2023. While rental supplements are available for seniors through the Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters (SAFER) program, these subsidies are inadequate to make housing affordable for seniors, with the average monthly SAFER subsidy amounting to only \$195.

Furthermore, evictions for personal or family use, renovictions, and redevelopments have displaced many longstanding senior tenants. Seasonal and regional influxes of people into communities (e.g., tourists, migrant and remote workers, etc.) have added extra pressure to housing markets. One study estimated that from 2016-2021, approximately 6.1% of BC's non-subsidized lowcost units (units with rents below \$750) were lost.

Subsidized housing with rent-geared-to-income, where renters pay 30% of their income for housing, is an effective way to ensure that housing is affordable to low-income seniors. However, despite a 20% increase in the senior population from 2017-2022, access to subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing remained stagnant over this period (0.1% increase was observed) (see figure 1). Close to 30,000 units of subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing will be lost in BC by 2033 and 51% of these will be seniors' units. This loss is due to the expiration of operating agreements with the provincial and/or federal governments that provided funding for these subsidized rent-geared-toincome housing units.

If a 70-year old senior was dependent on government benefits (i.e., OAS, GIS, BC Seniors Supplement) they would spend **78% of their** 

to rent the average 1-bedroom apartment.





1 Statistics Canada. Table 17-10-0005-01 Population estimates on July 1st, by age and sex [Data table]. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/1710000501-eng</u>

2 Data request from BC Housing

The housing situations of senior renters are extremely precarious. The loss of subsidized units, rising rents, evictions for personal or family use, renovictions and redevelopments are pushing more senior renters to the brink of homelessness. In 2020, almost 1 in 5 senior-led renter households (18% or 21,565 households) spent 50% or more of their income on housing, rendering them precariously housed and at risk of homelessness. In 2023, in Greater Vancouver, seniors made up 22% of the homeless population.

## **Interview Findings**

In the interviews, we learned about the significant toll that the housing affordability crisis is taking on low-income seniors. There is a growing number of seniors who are unsheltered or living in substandard or unsafe housing situations (e.g., staying with abusive family members; living in cars or storage lockers; camping in the woods; housing without heat or electricity). The housing affordability crisis has been reported to affect seniors residing in large urban communities and small rural and remote areas. Most shockingly, an increasing number of seniors, who have worked all their lives, are finding themselves on the verge of homelessness or experiencing homelessness for the first time in their 60s and 70s.

Housing precarity and homelessness significantly impact the physical and mental health of seniors. In addition, the high costs of housing often leave seniors in impossible situations, where they must choose between paying for housing and meeting other essential needs such as food or medications.

The interviewees also reported that the staff and volunteers supporting these seniors are experiencing significant moral distress because there are no affordable housing options available in their communities. Burnout is a concern for many organizations, due to heavy workloads and insufficient resources, as well as the difficult nature of the work. Several interviewees noted that their organizations had staff members currently on mental health leave or who had left their positions due to the stress of their work.

The lack of coordination with and support from the healthcare system, particularly to address mental health needs, further exacerbates the challenges for both the seniors and the staff who assist them. The interviews also emphasized that seniors, and particularly those who are homeless and precariously housed, need access to a continuum of housing options based on their housing situation and level of support need - including access to housing navigation services, homeless shelters, transitional and temporary housing, subsidized rent-geared-toincome and other low-income rental housing units, supportive housing, assisted living facilities and long-term care facilities. The most persistent concern expressed by interviewees was that the current continuum of housing supports does not adequately serve seniors due to gaps in the continuum as well as a lack of senior-specific supports and housing options.



And I would say, well, over half of our clients talk openly about the question of whether or not they want to live anymore, and the burden that they feel like in the current system.

**Service Provider** 



## 66

And so, we just see this influx of people that are in absolute crisis because they know that they have a very limited time and that their application for BC Housing, or their going into BC Housing, probably won't be realistic and so [they're] looking to us and are coming to us and just saying, "what are our options?" And unfortunately, we don't say this to people, but on our side, we know that there are none. And I've said this multiple times on my team before, I honestly cringe whenever these kinds of things happen, because we have a very limited ability, if anything, to respond.

**Service Provider** 



## Recommendations

Moving forward, there is an urgent need for multigovernmental and intersectoral collaboration to address the housing affordability crisis in BC. In this report, we have identified six goals and sixteen specific recommendations, along with examples of positive actions initiated by the BC Government, municipalities in various regions of the province, and community-based organizations. Expanding upon these examples would significantly contribute to achieving the goal of housing affordability for seniors and other low-income British Columbians.

The first three goals target the necessity for more low-income rental housing options in BC for all age groups:

- **Goal 1**. To increase access to subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing for low-income people of all ages (i.e., where tenants pay no more than 30 percent of their income on housing).
- **Goal 2**. To retain the existing stock of lowincome rental housing for all age groups.
- Goal 3. To develop multisectoral community tables, coalitions, or alliances to identify common housing issues and develop community-driven solutions.

#### Furthermore, we propose eight

recommendations detailing specific steps that can be taken to accomplish these three goals – such as increasing investments in nonprofit housing developments, utilizing local government policy levers to encourage the development of low-income rental housing, strengthening protections for renters in the private market, implementing a home repairs grant program, and more.

The last three goals are specifically tailored to the needs of the senior population:

- Goal 4. To increase financial assistance for low and moderate-income seniors living in private market rental housing by introducing needed changes in the SAFER program.
- Goal 5. To increase access to housing with supports (both social and health supports) to ensure low-income seniors can maintain their housing tenancy and improve their health and well-being.
- Goal 6. To ensure that housing navigation supports, the shelter system, and transitional and low-income rental housing are, not only adequately funded, but also accessible, safe, and appropriate for seniors who are homeless or precariously housed.

The report presents eight recommendations outlining specific steps that can be taken to achieve these senior-focused goals. These steps include increasing SAFER amounts to better align with the rental market, developing funding streams to support community-based organizations providing on-site tenant and social connection supports, increasing access to multidisciplinary mental health services, supporting and expanding access to the Seniors Housing Information and Navigation Ease program, investing in transitional housing models for seniors, and more.



## 1. Introduction

In British Columbia (BC), there is a growing number of reports and news stories focused on the housing affordability crisis and the increasing numbers of individuals who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. Young couples wanting to buy their first home and start a family, older renters who are living on fixed incomes, students who are despairing if they will ever be able to move out from their parents' home, recent immigrants who have moved to BC to start a new life - low and moderate income British Columbians of all ages and across all walks of life are being impacted by the housing affordability crisis. While BC has been widely recognized as one of the provinces that has been most severely impacted by the housing affordability crisis, we are not alone. Housing affordability and increased homelessness is a challenge across our country. In 2023, the Canadian Human Rights Commission released a scathing report, stating:

Thousands of people across the country are having their human right to adequate housing violated. Affordability for those who need it most is being eroded. Housing insecurity is worsening. People are at risk of falling through the growing cracks of the safety net into homelessness. Encampments are more visible than they have ever been.<sup>1</sup>

Our report focuses specifically on seniors, a population that has traditionally received little policy attention when it comes to the right to housing and issues of housing precarity and homelessness. This is because of improvements to retirement income benefits in the 1970s that dramatically reduced the low-income rates for seniors to the point that they were lower than for other age groups in the population. This began to change in the mid-1990s. Today, the incomes of many seniors are not keeping pace with the rapidly rising costs of living and the percentage of seniors with low incomes has been rising. In fact, seniors' rates of low-income in BC (15.2%) are now almost double that of any other age group (<u>see Appendix 1</u>).<sup>2</sup> In 2020, in BC, half of all seniors had an after-tax income below \$32,000, and one in four seniors had an income below \$21,800, an amount that is about \$10,000 below the minimum wage.<sup>3</sup>

In addition, over the past decade, the proportion of the BC population that is over 65 has significantly increased, from 15% of the population in 2010 (667,472 seniors) to 20% in 2022 (1,058,462 seniors).<sup>4</sup> The combination of population aging, rapidly rising costs of living, and inadequate retirement incomes means that many more seniors are experiencing the effects of the housing affordability and homelessness crisis.<sup>5,6,7</sup>

In this report, we explore the unique housing contexts, challenges, and needs that arise later

in life, along with some of the solutions for addressing the needs of precariously housed seniors. At the same time, we recognize housing as a fundamental human right, and stress the importance of taking broader action to ensure that British Columbians in all stages of life have access to affordable housing. Our perspective aligns closely with a 2023 position paper from the Health Officers' Council of BC, where they argue that homelessness is an urgent public health crisis,<sup>8</sup> and highlight the need for multisectoral, upstream approaches to prevent homelessness. This includes options for seniors, people living with complex chronic health needs, young adults, and people in need of transitional or emergency housing. While the primary focus of this report is on seniors, we identify goals and recommendations at the end of the report to both increase the affordability of housing for British Columbians of all ages and specifically address the unique needs of low-income seniors.

## 2. Report Methodology

Over the last year and a half, community-based seniors' services (CBSS) have been sounding the alarm that the risk of homelessness among low-income seniors is reaching crisis proportions. The goal of this report is to draw both the public's and governments' attention to this crisis. The report begins with a review of the relevant literature that establishes housing as a human right and a social determinant of health. It then summarizes recent data from numerous sources to illustrate the scope and reasons why the housing affordability crisis for seniors is so dire. Lastly, and most importantly, it includes findings from interviews with seniors, volunteers, housing providers, and service providers, to better understand what

this crisis looks like on the ground, including the impact on the seniors, the communitybased agencies supporting these seniors and the health system.

A total of 16 interviews were conducted, and we received one response to our questions over email. The interviewees are from communities across the province, with all five health regions and both urban and rural communities represented. In addition, we also include the lived experience of two seniors who have direct experience with housing precarity and/ or homelessness. The names of the seniors and some details of their stories have been altered to protect their identities.

## Defining affordable housing

In Canada, housing has traditionally been considered affordable when the cost of rental housing or housing ownership is less than 30% of a person's income. Unfortunately, today, many people use the term "affordable housing" in various ways, making it more misleading than helpful. For example, "affordable rental housing" is often used to refer to lower-end-of-market housing or below market housing where there may be some level of subsidy, but the cost of rent is still often unaffordable for seniors and those with low incomes. That's why, in this report, and especially in the recommendations, when we discuss rental housing that is affordable for everyone, we use the term "rent-geared-to-income" (i.e., housing that costs no more than 30% of a person's income). Subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing may be available through BC Housing, co-operative housing providers, or non-profit housing providers.<sup>9</sup>

## Defining homelessness and housing precarity

Colu

The Canadian Observatory on Homelessness defines homelessness to include a range of living situations. This encompasses situations where an individual is unhoused and living on the streets, in emergency shelters, or in other locations unsuitable for habitation. Additionally, it covers temporary living situations (e.g., couchsurfing, transitional housing). Individuals are also considered at risk of homelessness if their current financial or housing situation is precarious or does not meet public health and safety standards.<sup>10</sup> In this report, we use the term "housing precarity" to refer to individuals at risk of homelessness. Housing is commonly considered precarious, and an individual is at risk of homelessness if they are spending 50% or more of their income on housing.

Note: Housing co-operatives (co-ops) are a unique form of housing that are controlled by their members and provide at-cost housing. In BC, most housing co-ops offer non-profit rental housing, and some are subsidized.

**Uncertainty: The** 



## **3. Literature Review: Housing, Human Rights, and Health**

## 3.1 Housing as a Human Right

The right to adequate housing has been recognized as a basic human right internationally since the United Nations' 1948 *Universal Declaration of Human Rights.*<sup>11</sup> Key elements of adequate housing include:<sup>12</sup>

- **affordability** (i.e., the cost should not comprise other basic human rights);
- **security of tenure** (i.e., protection from unjust evictions, harassment, and threats);
- **habitability** (i.e., providing physical safety and adequate space);
- availability of services and infrastructure (i.e., having access to sanitation, electricity, safe drinking water, etc.);
- location (i.e., living in a safe location with access to needed services and amenities);
- **accessibility** (i.e., ensuring vulnerable and marginalized groups have access to housing)
- cultural adequacy (i.e., respecting your cultural identity).

Canada is a signatory to the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and the right to housing has been enshrined in federal housing policy through the 2019 National Housing Strategy Act, which states, "It is declared to be the housing policy of the Government of Canada to (a) recognize that the right to adequate housing is a fundamental human right affirmed in international law."<sup>13</sup> Housing as a human rights issue was also reaffirmed in a 2023 op-ed by BC's Human Rights Commissioner, which emphasized the need for all levels of government to collaborate in meeting the housing needs of British Columbians.<sup>14</sup>

## **3.2 Housing as a Social Determinant of Health**

Housing precarity is both a human right concern and a public health concern. Housing is widely recognized in Canada as a key social determinant of health. Social determinants of health are the living and working conditions that impact the health and well-being of individuals and communities.<sup>15</sup>

There are several different ways through which housing can impact health outcomes.<sup>16</sup> First, research suggests a relationship between housing instability (i.e., housing insecurity and homelessness) and poor physical and mental health. Second, individuals typically spend a significant amount of time at home, and a poor quality or unsafe home environment (e.g., moldy, overcrowded) can negatively impact health. Third, when the costs of housing are too high, this can lead to a lack of funds to cover other expenses such as food and medications. Fourth, the neighbourhood and built environment surrounding our home (e.g., public transportation, access to grocery stores, safety) have an impact on our health.

## The Health Impacts of Housing Precarity and Homelessness

There is a consistent body of evidence linking housing precarity with mortality. One extensive study examined the relationship between housing affordability and mortality rates in 27 countries, including Canada, and found that high housing costs were associated with higher levels of avoidable mortality and suicides. The study also revealed that the impacts of housing costs on health were mitigated in countries with greater social spending on pensions and unemployment benefits, more social housing, and rent control policies. This suggests that these are effective interventions for addressing the negative health impacts of housing precarity.<sup>17</sup>

A second study, which analyzed mortality rates in a sample of 881,220 Canadians aged 65 and over, showed a clear gradient between mortality and both housing assets and income. Individuals who were renters (housing asset poor) had higher mortality rates than homeowners, while people who owned the most expensive houses had the lowest rates of mortality. Having a lower income was also associated with higher rates of mortality.<sup>18</sup> Additional research suggests that for seniors, being a renter or facing high housing costs or difficulties paying for housing is associated with greater odds of experiencing:

- an activity limitation,<sup>19</sup>
- cardiovascular risk factors and conditions<sup>20,21</sup>
- poor self-rated health<sup>22,23</sup>
- chronic conditions<sup>22</sup>
- symptoms of depression,<sup>23,24</sup>
- poorer respiratory health.<sup>25</sup>

Unsurprisingly, homelessness is also associated with significant negative health outcomes. Analyses of the health needs of homeless seniors aged 50 and up in the United States have found that the prevalence of age-related conditions (e.g., activity limitations, cognitive impairments, visual impairments, falls) is much higher among homeless seniors than the general population of seniors.<sup>26,27</sup> In fact, one of these studies found that homeless seniors experienced worse health than housed seniors who were, on average, 20 years older.<sup>26</sup>

## The Health Care Costs of Housing Precarity and Homelessness

Researchers from the United States have studied the impacts of housing homeless seniors on their health care utilization and costs. One study conducted in San Francisco followed a group of 51 homeless seniors who were placed in supportive housing for 7.5 years. In the year prior to supportive housing placement, the total health care costs of the seniors were \$1.7 million. After being placed in supportive housing, the total annual cost of provide housing, day health services, and hospital care for the group was only \$1.2 million per year.<sup>28</sup> Another study from the United States that followed 250 homeless seniors (50+) in Boston for 12 months found that at follow-up, participants who obtained housing had a rate of acute care visits of 2.5 per year compared to 5.3 per year for participants who remained homeless.<sup>29</sup>

## 4. The Growing Affordability and Precarity Crisis in Seniors Housing

## 4.1 BC's Growing Seniors Population

The seniors' population in BC has been rapidly growing, and in 2022, one in five British Columbians were seniors.<sup>4</sup> The vast majority of seniors in BC (95%) live independently in the community, while about 5% live in assisted living or long-term care. Among seniors living in the community, approximately 50% reside in detached houses, 22% in an apartment or condominium, and 23% in a townhouse, duplex or other type of home.<sup>30</sup>Most seniors in BC are homeowners (80%), while 20% are renters.<sup>31</sup>

## 4.2 Many Seniors are Low-Income

While some seniors have comfortable retirement incomes, a large proportion are low-income. Half of seniors in BC have an after-tax income below \$32,000, and one in four seniors have an income below \$21,800.<sup>3</sup> Most low-income seniors rely solely on government retirement income benefits, including Old Age Security (OAS), Guaranteed Income Supplement (GIS), and the BC Seniors Supplement, for their income. The income seniors receive from these government benefits (\$22,096.20 annually for seniors aged 65-74 and \$22,934.52 annually for seniors 75+) is about \$10,000 less than the income a person would make at minimum wage in BC.\* (See Appendix 2 for more information about Government Income Retirement Benefits).

Box 2. Spotlight on the Income of Older Women

The median after-tax income for senior women in BC (\$27,600) is approximately \$10,000 less than the median income of senior men (\$37,600).<sup>3</sup> Senior women typically have lower incomes than senior men due to financial disadvantages that accumulate over the life course. Traditionally, married women with children did not work outside of the home. Unfortunately, these women were not eligible for their own pension under the Canada Pension Plan. The married women who worked outside of the home usually had different work patterns than men. Women are more likely to engage in part-time work or experience work disruptions due to child-rearing and caregiving responsibilities, which also have implications for the receipt of pensions. Finally, there is a gender pay gap which still exists. In 2022, women in Canada earned approximately \$0.88 for every dollar a man earns.<sup>32</sup>



<sup>\*</sup> Annual income from minimum wage (\$34,840) was calculated by assuming a 40 hour work week, 52 weeks of the year. Minimum wage in September 2023 was \$16.75. Annual income from OAS/GIS/BC Seniors Supplement is based on maximum amounts for a single senior in September 2023 and was \$1,841.35 per month for seniors aged 65-74 and \$1,911.21 per month for seniors 75+.

## Box 3. Spotlight on the Income of Pre retirement (55-64) Seniors

In BC, subsidized rent-geared-to-income seniors' housing units are available for people aged 55 and above. Overall, the 55-64 age group has higher incomes than seniors aged 65 and older, with a median after-tax income of \$40,800 in BC.<sup>3</sup> However, extreme cases of poverty can still be found within this age group. If a person aged 55-64 is unable to work due to disability, health, or other reasons, they are unable to access OAS and GIS Benefits.<sup>†</sup> In September 2023, the maximum annual income available for a single person through disability assistance was \$17,802,<sup>33</sup> and for income assistance for an employable individual, \$12,720, or for a person with persistent multiple barriers to employment, \$13,320.<sup>34</sup> These incomes are lower than the income available to a senior on OAS/GIS/BC Seniors Supplement.

## 66

"[This] is exactly that population [pre-retirement seniors] that tends to end up in the shelter or the hospital because they just get to the point where their money has run out, they can no longer afford their rental, and there's nowhere else for them to go. And they can't even apply for CPP, or they don't know how to apply for CPP because that application process is a nightmare too."

(Service Provider)



Some individuals may be eligible though for a GIS spousal or survivors allowance at age 60. The earliest age a person can access the Canada Pension Plan (CPP) is 60.

16

- United Way British Columbia - Aging in Uncertainty: The Growing Housing Crisis for BC Seniors

## 4.3 The Cost of Rental Housing is Growing Faster than Seniors' Income

The cost of rentals has been skyrocketing in recent years, making it nearly impossible to find an affordable rental unit in many communities. For example, in Greater Vancouver, only 1 in 200 units are affordable for renters with the lowest 20% of incomes.<sup>35</sup>

As shown in Figure 2, particularly since 2016, average monthly rental costs have been rapidly increasing in the primary rental market. The average monthly rental cost of a 1-bedroom apartment increased from \$871 in 2010 to \$1,432 in 2022 (a 64% increase). In comparison, the monthly income available to seniors through OAS/GIS/BC Seniors Supplement for seniors aged 65-74 is only \$1,841.35 in 2023. Appendix 3 shows the current average rental cost of a 1-bedroom apartment in different communities, ranging from a low of \$651 in Quesnel to a high of \$1,643 in North Vancouver.



Almost half of older renters live alone.<sup>36</sup> If a senior is living alone and fully reliant on government retirement income benefits (i.e., OAS/GIS/BC Seniors Supplement), it would be practically impossible to rent a bachelor or onebedroom apartment. For example, a 70-year-old senior would spend 69% of their income to rent an average bachelor apartment (\$1,271) and be left with \$570.35 to cover the costs of food, utilities, transportation, medications, internet and phone, clothes, and basic necessities. A onebedroom apartment (\$1,432) would be essentially out of the question, with 78% of the senior's income spent on housing and only \$409.35 left.

Figure 2. Average Monthly Rental Cost (\$) of Apartment in BC, 2010-2022



Data Source: CMHC Housing Market Information Portal, Primary Rental Market Statistics.

Note: The Primary Rental Market refers to rental housing units in apartments that were purpose-built as rental housing.

Box 4. Spotlight on Food and Housing Security

There are strong connections between food and housing security. When an individual is living in unaffordable housing, food may be one of the areas that they need to cut costs in order to afford rent. In a survey of low-income seniors conducted by the Office of the Seniors Advocate, 84% reported running out of food some of the time, with 16% reporting this happening most or all of the time. Furthermore, 27% of low-income senior renters reported accessing a foodbank.<sup>37</sup> Canadian research suggests that individuals who are severely food insecure die on average 9 years earlier than food secure individuals.<sup>38</sup>

The provincial government regulates rent increases and places a limit on the amount a landlord can increase the rent each year (e.g., for 2023 the limit was 2%). However, there are no limits on the increases that can occur when a unit is vacant (i.e., if the renter moves out of the unit, the landlord can increase the rent as much as they want for the next tenant). As a result of this loophole, landlords can circumvent the caps on rent increases, and in the current housing market, they have significant incentives to evict long-standing tenants. For example, in Greater Vancouver in 2022, the average rent for a newly vacant unit is a staggering 43% higher than for occupied units. This is a dramatic increase from the year before (i.e., 2021) when the average rent increase for a newly vacant unit was only 10%.<sup>35</sup>

Landlords and property developers use multiple strategies to force tenants to leave so they can take advantage of this loophole, including repossessing a property for "personal or family" use, renovicting their tenants, or redeveloping the property. Seniors are particularly vulnerable as they often have been long-term tenants and therefore are paying low rents. In many communities, the old three and four-storey rental housing buildings that house low-income seniors are being torn down to build highrise condominiums. Other traditional low-cost housing options, such as motels and trailer parks, are also being lost to redevelopment.

Particularly in communities outside of the Lower Mainland, there are often additional regional and seasonal factors contributing to the loss of existing rental housing options for low-income residents, causing them to be priced out of the market. These factors include:

- Increased tourism and visitors to resort towns (primarily during the summer, but also during the winter in some communities);
- Seasonal and migrant workers who temporarily move into communities for work;
- The transformation of rental housing stock into Airbnbs;
- Influxes of workers into industry and resource communities to work on largescale projects;
- Remote workers moving into smaller communities; and
- Residents of other communities being displaced due to emergencies or disasters.

## Box 5. Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters

For renters in the private market, Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters (SAFER) is a government program that provides rental supplements to seniors 60+ with low to moderate incomes. Older renters do not automatically receive SAFER and must apply each year to receive the benefit. The income ceilings for SAFER (maximum income you can have to be eligible) range from \$29,352 to \$30,600 for an individual depending on the region you live in.<sup>37</sup>

The amount an individual receives from SAFER is dependent on their income, rent (rent ceilings are currently set at \$734 to \$803 per month), and where they live.<sup>39</sup>

From 2017/18 to 2021/22, the number of seniors receiving SAFER increased from 22,956 to 23,774.<sup>30</sup>

While landlords are allowed to annually increase rents, SAFER is not annually adjusted based on rising costs of rents. The last time the rent ceilings were increased for SAFER was in 2018<sup>37</sup> and the average cost of a 1-bedroom apartment was \$1,193 compared to \$1,432 in 2022.

In 2021/22, the average monthly SAFER subsidy an individual received was only \$195,<sup>37</sup> and with the rising costs of housing, SAFER subsidies are inadequate to make housing affordable for older adults. For example, a 70-year-old senior living alone in Greater Vancouver on OAS/GIS/BC Seniors Supplement would only receive a \$225.54 monthly subsidy towards their rent (average rent \$1,543 for a 1-bedroom) and would end up spending 72% of their income towards their housing, therefore they would still be at high risk of homelessness.

Notes: SAFER subsidy amount calculated in September 2023 using BC Housing's Rental Assistance Program (RAP)/SAFER Calculator.

## 4.4 Declining Access to Seniors' Rent-Geared-To-Income Housing

As noted earlier, subsidized housing with rentgeared-to-income is an effective way of ensuring that housing is affordable to low-income seniors (i.e., when the senior renter pays 30% of their income for their housing). In BC, most of this housing is subsidized through BC Housing's Seniors Subsidized Housing program. There is also a type of subsidized housing known as Seniors Supportive Housing where a senior pays 50% of their income and receives housing and some hospitality services (e.g., meals, housekeeping, recreational activities, etc.). However, there is a significant lack of subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing in BC. While the senior's population has increased by 20% over 2017-2022, access to subsidized rent-geared-toincome housing has stagnated. And at the same

time, the waitlist for subsidized rent-geared-toincome housing has increased by 45% for seniors (see <u>figure 3</u>).

While there have been new investments in subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing in some communities in recent years, a significant number of units are also being lost due to expiring operating agreements. Operating agreements are agreements between the provincial and/or federal governments to provide funding for subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing, and when these expire, the non-profit providers, who deliver much of this housing for BC Housing, become fully responsible for the financial costs. In BC, it is estimated that the operating agreements for almost 30,000 units of subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing will expire by 2033, and 51% of these will be seniors' units.<sup>40</sup> When operating agreements expire, many of the non-profit housing providers are no longer

Figure 3. Declining Access to Subsidized Rent-Geared-To-Income Housing in BC, 2017-2021/22



Data Sources: (1) Statistics Canada. Table 17-10-0005-01 Population estimates on July 1st, by age and sex [Data table]. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/1710000501-eng</u> (2) Data request from BC Housing.

Notes: There are some subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing units that are subsidized through sources other than BC Housing (e.g., housing providers, donors) and therefore are not included in these figures.

20

able to provide rent-geared-to-income units and instead need to convert the units to more expensive below-market or market-priced units. The same thing is happening in the co-op housing sector in BC, where many of the operating agreements are also expiring, and individual co-ops, who are now fully responsible for the costs, are becoming less able to provide co-op members with rent geared-to-income subsidies.

At the same time we are losing these subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing units, we are also losing low-cost market rental housing units (see <u>Section 4.3</u>). In fact, it has been estimated that from 2016-2021, approximately 6.1% of BC's nonsubsidized low-cost units (units with rents below \$750) were lost.<sup>41</sup> It is difficult to quantify exactly how many low-income rental housing units are being built and lost in BC over time, but the numbers are likely significant, and there is a need for better tracking of these changes.



"There's just not enough housing out there. There's kind of this, screaming into the void kind of thing, that's how I would put it. You're filling out these applications for BC Housing units, and there's no BC Housing units, and there's just no way that there's going to be enough units that are going to be built. So, you know, where are people going to go?"

(Service Provider)



## 4.5 Measuring Housing Precarity and Homelessness

The housing situations of senior renters are particularly precarious, and an increase in rent, eviction for personal or family use, renoviction or redevelopment can tip a senior renter into homelessness. For example in <u>Section 4.3</u>, the 70-year-old living alone on government benefits, who would have to pay on average, 78% of their income to cover the cost of a 1-bedroom apartment, is a case in point.

Data from the 2021 Census shows that half (49%) of senior-led renter households in BC (56,930) live in housing that is unaffordable. Furthermore, almost 1 in 5 senior-led renter households (18% or 21,565 households) are precariously housed and at risk of homelessness.<sup>42</sup> Appendix 4 shows the number of senior-led renter households at risk of homelessness in communities across the province.

Unfortunately, because these statistics were collected during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, they under-estimate the situation we are facing in 2023/24. In 2020, when the census income data was collected, some seniors may have been receiving the Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB) or other pandemicrelated payments, which meant that their incomes were temporarily higher than they are in 2023.

Furthermore, policies put in place by the BC Government to freeze rents and ban evictions, very likely prevented some seniors from becoming homeless. Given the significant increase in the cost of living in 2022 (annual inflation was 7%),<sup>43</sup> and continuing increases in 2023, this underestimation is likely quite significant.

The other key source of information on seniors' homelessness and housing precarity are homeless counts, and homeless counts conducted across BC over the past decade suggest that in many regions, senior homeless populations are Box 6. Homeless Counts are Important Resources but Have Limitations

Homeless counts usually include both homeless individuals who are unsheltered (i.e., people living on the streets or in abandoned buildings) and sheltered (i.e., staying in homeless shelters or other temporary accommodations). In many homeless counts, people aged 55+ are considered to be seniors, but some use other age cut-offs. It is important to recognize that homeless counts are underestimates and do not represent the full picture of homeless populations for a number of reasons, including: a) counts only represent the homeless population during a single point of time within a year, b) homeless counts usually miss the hidden homeless (e.g., individuals who are homeless but temporarily staying in another household) and individuals at risk of homelessness, and c) homeless individuals may prefer not to be counted or prefer not to disclose their age and other demographic data.

increasing. However, they also underestimate the scope and extent of homelessness among seniors (Box 6 provides more information on what is included and excluded in the homeless counts).

Combined data from homeless counts conducted over 2020/21 in 25 different communities across BC suggest that approximately 21% of homeless individuals are seniors aged 55 and up (a total of 1,165 homeless seniors).<sup>44</sup> The proportion of homeless individuals who are seniors has been increasing in many regions where historical data is available. For example, in Greater Vancouver the proportion of homeless seniors (55+) more than doubled from 9% of the homeless population in 2008 to 22% in 2023 (568 seniors). A total

of 216 seniors (38%) reported experiencing homelessness for the first time as a senior.45

With the data currently available, the most we can say is that for every senior that is homeless, there are approximately 19 more who are precariously housed. However, because both statistics underestimate the scope and size of the problem, homelessness and housing precarity among seniors in 2023 are likely to be considerably higher.

## 4.6 Housing Precarity in the Rural and Remote Context

It is important to recognize that experiences of housing precarity in rural and remote communities may differ from those in urban communities. Generally, there are higher rates of home ownership in these communities; however, while having a house is a significant asset, the costs of home maintenance and modifications can prevent seniors from remaining in their own homes. In BC, about 4% of senior homeowners (35,075) and 28% (950) of Elders in housing provided by a First Nation band are living in housing that is inadequate and requires major repairs.<sup>46</sup> Furthermore, while the costs of rents tend to be lower outside of the Lower Mainland and other major metropolitan areas, the costs of food, gas, and utilities are usually higher in rural and remote communities.

Downsizing or moving into housing that is closer to family or services may not possible due to the lack of housing options in the community and the low values of many rural properties. A recent analysis of data from the 2021 Census found that the there is a lack of diversity of housing stock in non-metropolitan areas in BC. Mismatches frequently exist between the size of households and the types of housing that are available, which are often larger and more expensive than required (e.g., a single senior may be living in a detached house due to the lack of smaller housing options).47

## Page 33 of 155



## **5. Interview Findings**

5.1 The Significant Toll of the Housing Crisis on Seniors in BC

Living in unsheltered, substandard, or unsafe housing situations

"We're seeing seniors who are living in their cars, seniors who are living in their storage lockers... seniors who were going out to the airport, and because they were dressed kind of nice, they could spend a night out there."

## (Senior Volunteer)

Most of the interviewees talked at length about the growing number of seniors who are unsheltered or living in substandard or unsafe housing situations because they have no other housing options available to them.

They provided examples of seniors who are:

• Staying with abusive family members or roommates;

- Living in rodent-infested buildings;
- Living in housing without heat, electricity, or plumbing;
- Staying in cars, moving trucks, or storage lockers;
- Living unsheltered on the streets or in homeless shelters; and
- Camping in the woods, even during the middle of winter.

Several of the interviewees spoke about how in the current housing market, senior renters are often afraid to make complaints, which allows landlords to take advantage of them and get away with offering terrible living conditions. Seniors, particularly senior women, who are staying with family or friends, are vulnerable to abuse due to the lack of any other housing options.

Substandard housing was also a concern for homeowners, particularly for rural, remote, and Indigenous communities. Multiple examples were provided of seniors living without heating, plumbing and/or electricity, either because their housing lacks access to the infrastructure, or because they cannot afford them. An example was provided of an older man living in a trailer who had lost his job, and as a result, he went through a winter of minus 40-degree weather with no electricity or heat. Declines in health and physical abilities that can occur with age make it more difficult for seniors to cope with such conditions (e.g., physical frailty can lead seniors to no longer be able to chop wood).

"I've had people that we've just had to move into emergency housing because their circumstances are so bad. And, you know, for instance, they have inadequate insulation, a broken window, no heat except for a woodstove. And as they get more and more frail, they're not capable of managing the woodstove."

(Service Provider)

Homeless for the first time in their lives at the age of 60 or 70

"We are in a housing crisis. But we're also in an income disparity crisis. And so, it is important to emphasize, these are folks that worked, and worked hard all their lives and provided for themselves, and are now finding themselves in a place where they can't manage." For some seniors, housing precarity and homelessness are chronic issues that have impacted them over the life course. Interviewees noted that, as our population ages, the homeless population is aging as well.

There are also, however, a growing number of seniors who are finding themselves homeless, or on the verge of homelessness, for the first time in their 60s or 70s. The lived experience story in Box 7 highlights this point. A range of factors can tip a precariously housed senior into homelessness, including eviction or renovictions, death of a partner, loss of income, and mental health or physical health issues. Multiple interviewees highlighted that they are seeing more and more seniors who were steadily employed for most of their lives, and they never imagined they would be unable to afford housing later in life. Interviewees described how seniors are shocked when they end up on the verge of homelessness for the first time late in life, as they believed the housing and retirement income systems would take care of them in their old age.

"The emotional outlook of our clients is overwhelmingly dark. It's, there's a lot of language around: I failed, I didn't want a handout, I thought I did everything right. Yeah, so there was a belief that there was a support structure in place. And I find that for seniors the shock of like, what do you mean, there's no housing? What do you mean, there's no support?"

(Service Provider)

(Service Provider)

## Box 7. Lived Experience Story: Lucy

Lucy became homeless at the age of 73 when, due to the pandemic, she was unable to retain her long-time job. After a year of burning through her savings to keep her \$1,100 per month housing, she was given two months' eviction notice. She struggled to reach out to family and friends because of the shame she felt and the concern of being a burden.

When it was time for Lucy to move out of her apartment, she went to a homeless shelter, but upon arrival she felt unsafe and uncomfortable due to the substance abuse and other activities taking place at the shelter. When Lucy could no longer stay at the shelter, her last option was to sleep in her car. She didn't sleep very much during these times as she was aware of her vulnerability and the men nearby also sleeping in their cars. Three weeks after moving into her car she was taken to the hospital after a blood clot formed in her legs that nearly took her life. Following this experience, she was brought to a different shelter operated out of a motel and she was treated very poorly there.

These experiences had huge impacts on Lucy's mental, spiritual and emotional health. She felt anxious, she didn't have energy and was losing weight. Lucy felt embarrassed and ashamed. She often wondered how she had landed in her situation, having raised 3 children as a single mother and worked full-time for many years. The stress took a huge toll on her body, "It made me think I aged 10 years. I just looked in the mirror. I didn't recognize that woman."

Thanks to a few non-profits, Lucy was able to get some support for gas cards and food. Today, she lives in a low-cost housing facility for women. She is inspired and determined to make a difference in her community in the little ways she can, by sharing love and encouragement with the people around her. Even with her limited income, she still finds ways to bless others, whether it is surprising a stranger by paying for their Tim Hortons bill or giving someone a compliment.

While Lucy is grateful to have secured affordable housing, she knows that many other seniors are still struggling and are forced to make enormous health sacrifices to maintain or acquire their housing. "When I'm thinking of housing for seniors, you know, when you have to make a decision whether you want to get your medications or eat that month, or if you're paying rent, that's pretty, pretty scary."

## Compromised access to other basic necessities

Interviewees described how the high cost of housing often leaves seniors in impossible situations where they must choose between paying for housing and other essential needs. Even though an individual may be housed, this can occur at the expense of meeting other health and safety needs.

"But we do hear a lot of the time people say, you know, I'm prioritizing my rent over food. And that's why there's now such a need for Meals on Wheels and subsidized food for seniors, because when they're on fixed incomes, they can't afford both. So even if they are housed, I think it's important to kind of highlight that, those essential needs of shelter, and warmth, as well as like sustenance are kind of pitted against each other."

## (Service Provider)

Food security was a particular concern, with some interviewees reporting increased use of food banks, Meals on Wheels, and other low-cost and free food programs by seniors due to the rising cost of living. However, the interviewees also noted the limitations of currently available food security supports, including a lack of low-cost and free food, food that is not culturally appropriate, and lack of cooking and meal preparation support. For example, an interviewee stated that while their community's food bank is supposed to be open four days a week, usually they offer information and referral services on the fourth day because they run out of food by then.

The inability to afford prescription medications was also a key concern. An example was provided by an interviewee of an older gentleman who has been experiencing chronic pain for many years, but is unable to afford his prescribed pain medications due to the high costs of housing. Multiple interviewees also stated that when clients are unable to afford medications for pain or mental health conditions, this can lead them to turn to alcohol or street drugs to address their unmet needs.

## The physical, mental, and emotional toll of housing precarity

The interviewees said housing precarity and homelessness have significant negative impacts on the physical, mental, and emotional health of seniors. One interviewee succinctly summed this up by stating that "homelessness is healthlessness." Multiple interviewees described the physical, mental, and emotional toll that housing precarity was having on their clients.

"So, they really are quite a bit more vulnerable, not just income wise, but medically, they've often lived harder lives. Like more transient lives. There's a lot of people who maybe have been close to being homeless before. But there's also a lot of women who've never been homeless that we've been seeing too. And they're facing the streets
for the first time at the age of like 68, or 70, which is very terrifying for them, rightfully so. And just living with the stress of the housing insecurity, it plays a huge toll, especially if they're not eating. And then their physical health goes downhill. And of course, it compounds with their mental health."

#### (Service Provider)



Seniors who are experiencing housing precarity are often already experiencing other forms of vulnerability (e.g., poverty, mental health problems, chronic medical conditions, addictions) that housing precarity further exacerbates. Interviewees particularly emphasized the mental health impacts, including stress, anxiety, shame, fear, anger, and depression. Self-neglect and unhealthy coping mechanisms, such as turning to alcohol or drugs, were reported as common among clients.

Disturbingly, it was also reported that some seniors were considering suicide or medical assistance in dying due to their feelings of hopelessness about their situation. One interviewee stated her team had been referring so many seniors to their organization's mental health and counselling services that they had introduced new training for staff on the mental health needs of seniors. "And I would say, well, over half of our clients talk openly about the question of whether or not they want to live anymore, and the burden that they feel like in the current system."

(Service Provider)

### Loss of community and social supports

The housing crisis has caused seniors to be displaced from their long-standing communities due to evictions, renovictions, redevelopments, and rising rents. The displacement of seniors was reported to be occurring in both urban and rural communities. Examples were provided of seniors forced to move multiple times in the same year. Interviewees described how the loss of their community (e.g., friends, social activities, health services) can be devastating for seniors.

"The issue for us is really, that these older folks who have lived in our community for decades, who are being renovicted, are not going to be able to stay in their own communities. And what we know about that is that as people get pushed out of their communities, that those protective relationships that have kind of helped them through, get severed. And it causes additional issues in people's lives."

(Service Provider)

In particular, seniors who live alone or lack family support may struggle to build social support networks if they are forced to relocate to a new community. An interviewee described how they have some clients who no longer live in their community but continue to travel one or two hours by public transportation in order to access their services and connect with their friends.

## The impacts of intersecting vulnerabilities

Interviewees highlighted how intersecting vulnerabilities and sources of discrimination can influence and intensify the housing challenges faced by seniors.

Gender influences experiences of housing precarity, with older men and women reported to have different housing experiences. Several interviewees observed that older men were more likely to be living unsheltered on the streets or camping, while older women were more likely to be able to couch surf with family and friends or live with roommates. It was highlighted that women are more vulnerable to violence and abuse and may stay in abusive relationships or trade sex to maintain their housing. Income was particularly emphasized as a factor contributing to the housing precarity experiences of women. Additionally, a couple interviewees raised the concern about the lack of safe and inclusive temporary and transitional housing options for 2SLGBTQIA+ seniors, and in particular transgender seniors.

Interviewees also identified that there is lack of culturally and linguistically appropriate housing and support services for immigrant and ethnocultural seniors. For immigrant seniors with limited English language skills, language barriers can be a significant challenge. Furthermore, seniors who have come to Canada as sponsored immigrants are fully reliant on their sponsors (i.e., do have access to most government benefits) and have few options for alternative housing, which can put them at risk for abuse.



ty: The Growing Housing Crisis for BC Seniors

Similar concerns were also raised about services for Indigenous Elders, with an interviewee noting available housing and supports may not be culturally safe. Furthermore, the interviewee emphasized the need to recognize the enduring impacts of colonialism and how residential schools, the 60s scoop, the cultural genocide of Indigenous peoples, and other injustices of colonialism contribute to Indigenous Elders' experiences of housing precarity today.

Other interviewees highlighted the unique context of housing precarity experiences within rural, remote, and Indigenous reserve communities and reinforced the concerns that were previously discussed in Section 4.6 about rising costs of living for both renters and homeowners, home maintenance and repair needs, and the lack of diversity in housing options available. For example, one interviewee noted that they recently had several senior clients who had to sell their homes and move into rentals. Interviewees also talked about the need for more funding for homeowners in order to address home maintenance issues that compromise their health and safety. While there are programs available for home improvements and modifications, these programs are not appropriate for small repairs or low-income seniors who cannot afford to pay upfront and wait to be reimbursed.



"When I'm trying to find help for some of these people, it's that we have these programs that are designed to assist people who are basically middle class who can afford to pay, you know, 10 grand, even if it's with a temporary loan, to get a heat pump put in and then get reimbursed for it. But if someone has no money, they can't even get their window that's broken fixed."

(Service Provider)

Overall, it was reported that these communities have fewer health, housing, and support services available. There also can be significant financial and time costs associated with accessing needed services. For example, it was observed that for Elders from remote reserve communities, it can cost \$30 just to drive into town to buy groceries, attend medical appointments, or access social services.

The lack of accessible and affordable rental housing also significantly disadvantages seniors living with disabilities, who usually have lower incomes and more limited housing options than other individuals. Older apartment buildings, which are often the most affordable, tend to lack elevators and other accessibility features. Stairs can be a significant barrier for people who use mobility devices (e.g., wheelchairs, walkers). The lived experience story in Box 8 highlights the impacts that intersecting vulnerabilities can have on housing precarity experiences.

#### Box 8. Lived Experience Story: David

THIMMAN THINK THE PARTY OF THE

David's story highlights the experience of an older person with a disability trying to navigate the housing affordability crisis. David enjoyed his well-paying career for many years until he noticed he was developing a visual impairment. Unfortunately, this unexpected disability led to David losing his long-term job which he had been planning to continue for several years before retiring.

Around this time, David almost became homeless, not because he couldn't afford a place, but because his visual impairment meant he could not search for and attain a rental unit at the competitive pace that the market requires. "I was almost homeless looking for a place. And with visual impairment, I had a heck of a time tracking down vacancies, getting support to help me track down vacancies and then getting to appointments to meet if there was one. And I was finding that there were so few places available. I was running around trying my best catching buses and by the time I get to a place and meet the landlord, it was basically gone."

With affordable housing being so sparse and competition for units high, David was aware that his age, disability, and involuntary retirement made his chances of finding housing low. "The fact that I could no longer work and in my age -- given the choice of 20 candidates for a vacant apartment, I was not in the top five. Ever. So, the housing shortage just completely throws a curveball at anybody who doesn't fit the bill."

> David eventually found a rental unit, but things took another turn downhill. The unit had looked very promising; it was a clean building and seemed fine at first, but after a little time, David realized that the building was riddled with drug trafficking, theft, and violence. There was a steady level of fear and alertness he had to maintain because people knew he was partially blind. "So, for some reason, if you have a disability that's visible, it makes you especially vulnerable. You are a target." There were several occasions where his money, keys, and other small belongings were stolen while he was out of his unit. Even his own security was not safe. Once, while he was sleeping in his home, his belongings were stolen. "And so, it was the world I walked into, it was unbelievable. Nothing safe, nothing was secure."

David has received valuable aid from local non-profit organizations in navigating the housing system and securing safer accommodation compared to his previous home. Unfortunately, his visual disability makes him a target for break-ins, posing ongoing challenges. While local non-profit organizations have been supportive, their extensive client bases restrict their ability to offer intensive individual assistance. David wishes additional resources could be allocated to local non-profit organizations, thereby enhancing their capacity to ensure that seniors like him can live safely and be supported in affordable housing environments.

# 5.2 The Moral Distress and Burnout of Housing and Service Providers

## Staff and Volunteers are Burning Out

Due to the lack of low-income rental housing available, interviewees reported that staff and volunteers experience significant moral distress when a senior comes to them and there are no housing options. Homeless shelters were reported to regularly operate at capacity, therefore even finding a shelter bed can be very difficult. While staff and volunteers can try and help by making phone calls, getting people on waitlists, providing information, etc., it is deeply frustrating and distressing when they know the reality is that the senior is probably going to end up homeless. Multiple interviewees commented that our housing and health care systems are broken.

"I was just so distressed by it. Some seniors or volunteers were close to tears. And also, I would say it's very hard because it makes you feel helpless, because I can get people to fill out SAFER, I can do that in a minute, but I know at the end of the day, that person still is going to be homeless."

#### (Senior Volunteer)

Burnout was a concern for many organizations, due to heavy workloads and inadequate resources, as well as the difficult nature of the work. Several interviewees noted that their organizations had staff members currently on mental health leave or who had left their positions due to the stress and trauma of their work. At a homeless shelter in a rural community, it was reported that they have 50 beds, but can only use 30 beds due to lack of staffing. This interviewee raised the point that we can build more beds and housing, but we also need to be able to staff it. Multiple interviewees identified the importance of organizations having adequate funding so they can provide more mental health and wellness supports for staff. Organizations that rely on volunteers also noted that while there are many amazing volunteers, it can be difficult to retain them due to the intense nature of the work (and in some cases using volunteers may be inappropriate for high needs clients).

One interviewee spoke about the lasting impacts burnout has, and how while you may be able to eventually return to work, once you have experienced burnout there are lasting changes to the lens through which you view the world. Staff and volunteers also may experience direct or vicarious trauma due to the difficult situations they deal with, which can involve seniors experiencing abuse, mental health crises, and violence. Multiple interviewees stated that working with precariously housed and vulnerable seniors has increased their anxiety around their own housing security and aging experience.

"I would say we're like, myself, but I'm beyond the state of burnout. I'm operating in some alternate reality. And at this point, the last seven months have been the most challenging I've had in all of my career. And I've been working with this population for 15 years or so."

(Housing Provider)



# Lack of Support from the Health System to Address Mental Health Needs

Interviewees from communities across the province decried the gaps in services to address the mental health needs of seniors, including addictions, cognitive impairments and dementia, and psychiatric conditions. The gaps in mental health services in rural communities were especially dire. For example, in one rural community, it was reported people needed to travel 5-6 hours by bus in order to access addictions detox and treatment services.

"Two of [my clients in a shared rental house] are schizophrenic, and they need more care than they're getting. But they're falling through the cracks in the mental health system, because they're not getting mental health support because they're housed... But just because you're housed doesn't mean you don't need supports to help you live well."

(Service Provider)

"And there are really not any mental health services in the community. We have a mental health department, but I know a woman, one of my clients who's supposed to be a client of mental health, and she can't even get them to call her back... So, she calls me. And she's suicidal for cripesakes."

### (Service Provider)

In rental housing, individuals with unmanaged mental health concerns can be a serious safety concern to themselves, as well as the other tenants and staff in the building. When CBSS or housing providers try to seek help for these seniors, interviewees reported there is often a lack of responsiveness from the health care system - either due to lack of capacity, the mental health issues not being deemed serious enough, or poor coordination between services. Examples were provided of tenants who had assaulted other tenants and staff, destroyed property, or caused fires due to unmanaged mental health issues. Unfortunately, housing providers sometimes find themselves with no other option but to evict the tenant.

"But as a landlord, we occupy a very small space in terms of what we can action on behalf of the tenant, or in support of other tenants, when a tenant's behavior is increasingly adverse. We cannot remove someone from a building, we rely on health, law enforcement and the RTB. And when those three systems don't work, or are not open to working with us, it creates untenable situations and leaves people at risk, greater risk, not just tenants or their family members or contractors who are going into the buildings but also our staff."

#### (Housing Provider)

Hoarding was also raised in several interviews as very difficult to address, due to the complex and cross-sectoral nature of the issue (i.e., behaviour is a mental health concern, but also can be a municipal bylaw issue, pet issue, fire safety issue, etc.) and there is a lack of integrated support services.

### Enhanced Collaboration is Required Between the Health, Housing, and CBSS Sectors

Interviewees recognized that clients of the health, housing and CBSS sectors often overlap, and in order to support seniors to age in place, coordination and supports are required from all sectors. However, there are often no mechanisms in place for collaboration or for streamlined communications between the CBSS, health, and housing sectors.

In addition to the mental health service concerns described previously, a key concern raised by multiple interviewees was around hospital discharges, with examples provided of seniors being:

• Discharged back into the community only to find out they had no housing (e.g., landlord

had evicted them because they had been in the hospital for so long);

- Sent directly to homeless shelters because they were homeless; or
- Discharged back into their current housing when they clearly required a higher level of care.

These situations leave CBSS or housing providers scrambling to find ways to support extremely vulnerable seniors. In some communities, interviewees reported they had been successful in building relationships with health services so that they could effectively coordinate services with them and address issues such as inappropriate discharges, but in others, coordinating with health services was a persistent challenge.

Interviewees also raised concerns about seniors who clearly had care needs that exceeded their current housing situation. In several communities, it was reported that home support staff would not go into homeless shelters, leaving the untrained shelter staff with the responsibility of assisting frail seniors with bathing or other activities of daily living. Interviewees also raised concerns about inappropriate expectations around the role of rental housing staff (e.g., requests to be emergency contacts for seniors without family) and the lack of mechanisms to transition individuals from rental housing into assisted living or long-term care facilities when their needs increase.

# 5.3 A Continuum of Housing Supports Are Required

Seniors, and particularly those who are homeless and precariously housed, need access to a continuum of housing options depending on their housing situation and level of support need – including access to housing navigation services, homeless shelters, transitional and



temporary housing, subsidized rent-geared-toincome and other low-income rental housing units, supportive housing, assisted living facilities and long-term care facilities. The most persistent concern of interviewees was that the current continuum of housing supports do not serve seniors well, due to gaps in the continuum as well as a lack of senior-specific supports and housing options.

# Growing need for housing navigation services for seniors

Interviewees highlighted how the needs of seniors experiencing housing precarity and homelessness can differ from other groups, therefore navigation and support services primarily targeting people with mental health and addictions needs or street-entrenched individuals may not be appropriate for seniors. The demand for housing navigation and related supports for seniors (e.g., applying for benefits, filling out forms, filing taxes, outreach, etc.) was observed to vastly exceed the current capacity of most CBSS organizations. The movement of services and information online in recent years has intensified the need for navigation supports for seniors, who have lower digital literacy levels than the rest of the population. Interviewees noted that it can take a couple of hours just to look up and communicate needed information to a client, and clients who have complex cases or require more intensive one-on-one supports may require multiple interactions over several weeks or months to address their needs.

"I would say I noticed quite a bit of moral distress, spiritual distress among staff -- like I feel it myself too. Because my job description isn't to be a housing navigator and I do it because the need's there and we're here to serve older adults, but my job is not to be really that frontline. And I'm still spending probably about 10 hours a week doing this on top of my other work."

(Service Provider)

# The current shelter system is not serving seniors well

Multiple interviewees reported that homeless shelters in their community are regularly at capacity and it is difficult to place people in them. Furthermore, interviewees expressed concerns about the safety and accessibility of homeless shelters for seniors. Homeless shelters were not considered to be a safe place for frail seniors, particularly if they have a physical disability or cognitive impairment. One interviewee highlighted the accessibility issues at their homeless shelter (e.g., use of bunkbeds, no elevator or ramp access).

"I've advised strongly against sending any seniors [to our homeless shelter] that have not been [previously] involved with us, because they will be taken advantage of. It's not a safe place. It's a very dangerous place. And especially if you have any sort of mobility challenges, people will rob you, that has happened here. We had a senior who came to us a couple of years ago, and he was in a walker and people robbed him and would just take his stuff, and he couldn't do anything about it, unfortunately."

(Housing Provider)

# Seniors need access to safe and supported low-income rental housing options

In communities across the province, interviewees highlighted the lack of low-income rental housing in BC, and in particular, the lack of subsidized rent-geared-to-income units. Concerns were raised both about the insufficient number of new units being built and the loss of existing units. Long wait lists of two, three or four or more years for subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing were common in many communities. While there are private rental market subsidies available (e.g., SAFER), the interviewees noted the amounts are inadequate to meet the needs of seniors.

"And so, we just see this influx of people that are in absolute crisis because they know that they have a very limited time and that their application for BC Housing, or their going into BC Housing, probably won't be realistic and so [they're] looking to us and are coming to us and just saying, "what are our options?" And unfortunately, we don't say this to people, but on our side, we know that there are none. And I've said this multiple times on my team before, I honestly cringe whenever these kinds of things happen, because we have a very limited ability, if anything, to respond."

(Service Provider)

While the limited availability of units was the primary concern, and has been well documented in <u>Section 4</u>, interviewees also noted that the low-income rental housing options that are available are not necessarily appropriate for seniors. Multiple interviewees expressed concerns over the lack of senior-specific buildings, and the tendency to house vulnerable low-income seniors in places where many of the other residents struggle with mental health and addiction challenges.

"And finally we were able to find her some housing, but she had to move to another neiahbourhood. There's a BC Housing site right there, which was incredibly frightening for her. She found the neighborhood to be such that she wasn't comfortable. The neighbourhood is a very interesting area, I'd love to live down there, but I have lots of resources. But for somebody who is living in supported housing in that area, there's a lot of drug use in that area, there's a lot of homelessness in that area. And she found it very, very anxiety provoking to be forced into that kind of an environment. And in fact, the building she's living in has a lot of drug users and mental health issues within the building. And so, we are still in touch with her, but it is very anxiety provoking for her - and I would say not appropriate, mixed housing for a senior."

(Service Provider)

Many of the interviewees also identified the need for more supports to help vulnerable seniors in low-income rental housing to maintain their tenancies and feel safe and supported. Seniors within low-income rental housing buildings often have higher health and social needs. For example, one housing provider reported that one in five seniors in their rental buildings have no family or friends to call for support during an emergency.

Interviewees observed that there are some evictions or emergencies that could be prevented if a senior had more support (e.g., senior is in the hospital so fails to pay rent, housekeeping concerns). In many communities, there are only a small number of low-income rental housing providers, so once a senior has burned their bridges with one provider, it is difficult to find other housing options. Housing providers themselves are quite limited in regard to the supports they can provide, given their mandates and current legislation. In addition, tenants often are reluctant to seek help from their landlord given concerns that disclosing issues may affect their tenancy.

"The expectations placed on landlords by health workers, tenant family members, and tenants themselves are often beyond organizational and legislated capacity. We're also seeing fewer resources to refer tenants to for support or it's harder to access. We as landlords, we're not acting, we're not eligible for a lot of the program funding that social services agencies are, or community based senior service agencies are. Because our mandate isn't programming. Our mandate is housing."

(Housing Provider)



# 6. Seniors Housing Precarity Goals and Recommendations

There is an urgent need for multigovernmental and intersectoral collaboration to ensure that seniors have access to housing that is appropriate and affordable and are supported to navigate the housing system, maintain their health and tenancies in rental housing, and age in place. We have identified six goals, with specific recommendations for each of these goals. The first three goals address the need for more low-income rental housing stock in BC for all age groups, while the last three goals focus specifically on the needs of the seniors' population. Our hope is that governments at all levels, housing providers, the health care system, the CBSS sector, and other partners will begin working together towards these goals and recommendations.

We also want to acknowledge that inadequate income is an important root cause of housing precarity for low-income seniors, with one in four seniors having an income below \$21,800.<sup>3</sup> While the focus of this report is housing, and it is beyond its scope to explore in-depth the financial security of seniors, we strongly support the recommendations that have been made by the Office of the Seniors Advocate in her report *BC Seniors: Falling Further Behind*<sup>37</sup> to improve the financial security of seniors at the Provincial level. We also recognize the need at the Federal level to enhance GIS and other income supports for seniors.

# Goal 1: To increase access to subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing for low-income people of all ages (i.e., where tenants pay no more than 30 percent of their income on housing).

As outlined in this report, the vast majority of rental housing in BC is unaffordable for lowincome seniors. Furthermore, the growth of subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing (which provides guaranteed affordability for all seniors) has stagnated and is not keeping pace with the growth of the seniors' population.

### **Recommendation 1.1:** The Federal and Provincial Governments need to prioritize and significantly increase their investments in non-profit housing developments.

It is widely recognized that to increase the affordability of building rental housing, using non-profit developers creates the largest potential cost savings – between 20 to 30 percent of total construction costs.<sup>48</sup> This is due to non-profit developers having no expectations of developer profits, as well as the availability of preferential financing options.

The Office of the Federal Housing Advocate makes a similar point arguing that the financialization of housing is a key factor contributing to the loss of housing affordability in Canada.<sup>49</sup> Financialization refers to the growing dominance of private for-profit interests in housing markets, which leads to markets where maximizing profits takes precedence over government's role in ensuring access to affordable housing for low-income people.

If you look at the evidence, it is clear that we cannot count on for-profit developers to build the housing we need to support low-income renters. In Metro Vancouver, it has been estimated that the 1-bedroom apartments in a new building would need to rent for between \$1,942 to \$2,970 per month depending on land costs and type of construction to be a worthwhile project for a private developer. On the other hand, a non-profit developer would require rentals of \$1,357 to \$1,995.<sup>50</sup> However, even with the provision of low or no-cost land, the lowest rents that non-profit developers can offer (\$1,357) are still unaffordable for many low-income seniors, illustrating the need for provincial and federal investments to further offset costs and allow for the provision of subsidized rent-geared-to-income units.

Since the Federal Government largely withdrew from its role in developing and funding rental housing in the early 1990s and downloaded these responsibilities onto the provinces and municipalities, there has been a severe lack of investment in building rental housing across Canada.<sup>49</sup>

At the provincial government level, the end of a major program to fund new subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing in 2002 further decreased investments in subsidized housing in BC, though in recent years there have been some positive investments made, such as the development of the Community Housing Fund.<sup>51</sup> The Community Housing Fund is intended to fund the development of 20,000 new affordable rental homes by 2031/32 in addition to funding for 6,000 units specifically targeted at seniors or families. Under the Community Housing Fund requirements, 70% of units will need to be rentgeared-to-income, while 30% will be market rents.<sup>52</sup> While this is a positive step, further investments are still required from the Province of BC to keep pace with demand and population growth. In 2021 alone, the Community Housing Fund received applications to build 13,000 units, but was only able to fund 2,600.53

Housing experts assert that there is a pressing need for greater investments from the Federal and Provincial Governments to support the capital and operating costs of subsidized rentgeared-to-income housing.<sup>48,54</sup>

**Recommendation 1.2:** Local governments develop and utilize all the tools that are available to them, building on best practices from local governments in BC and elsewhere, to support non-profit developers to build low-income rental housing.

While increased Federal and Provincial funding is essential for the development of low-income rental housing, there are multiple zoning, development, and financial policy levers that local governments can use to encourage the development of low-income rental housing. Key challenges to building new housing include time, costs, and uncertainty,<sup>55</sup> so any steps local governments can take to address these challenges enhance the capacity of non-profit developers to build low-income rental housing.

The Community Social Planning Council recently released a toolkit of *Local Government Levers for Housing Affordability*<sup>55</sup> that outlines policy levers available to local governments to address housing affordability. Similar policy levers are also recommended in the Institute on Municipal Finance & Governance's *The Municipal Role in Housing* report.<sup>56</sup> Examples of key policy levers include rental only or inclusionary zoning, policies to fast-track developments, waiving and lowering development fees, and property tax exemptions (see Box. 9).

#### Box 9. Examples of Local Government Policy Levers

**Rental Only or Inclusionary Zoning:** In BC, municipalities have the power to implement rental only zoning that requires an area, building, or portion of a building to be used for rentals only. Inclusionary zoning can also be used to encourage or require new developments or re-zoning projects to include low-income rental housing. New Westminster is an example of a municipality in BC that is using rental only zoning to protect and create new rental housing stock.

**Fast-Tracking Developments:** Changes to the Local Government Act in 2021 now allow municipalities in BC to fast-track housing developments by a) no longer requiring public hearings for changes to zoning if developments are consistent with the municipality's Official Community Plan and b) allowing municipal staff to approve permits and variances. The City of Victoria has passed legislation in accordance with these changes to fast-track developments and estimates that this will reduce the time required to build new housing by 9 months.

#### Waiving or Reducing Development and

**Permit Fees:** In some communities, permit and development fees can make up almost 20% of the costs of building housing, therefore if a municipality waives or reduces these fees, this can significantly reduce development costs. Penticton and Parksville are two municipalities that currently waive 100% of development fees for low-income rental housing.

**Property Tax Exemptions:** Municipalities have the option of waiving or reducing property taxes for a set period of time, which can enhance the financial viability of rental housing projects. For example, Victoria and Langford currently offer property tax exemptions for 10 years to lowincome rental housing projects.

Sources: Local Government Levers for Housing Affordability<sup>55</sup>; The Municipal Role in Housing<sup>56</sup>

**Recommendation 1.3:** All levels of government work together to enable access to publicly owned land that can be provided for free or at a low cost to non-profit housing developers.

In some communities, local governments may have suitable, unused publicly owned land that can be offered for free or at a low cost to non-profit housing developers. For example, in Kelowna, researchers have mapped out 230 plots of suitable government and non-profit land that could be used for new housing developments.<sup>48</sup> However, not all local governments have such land; therefore, partnerships and support from other levels of government are also required to support land acquisition and the potential use of crown land or other government-owned land.<sup>54</sup> It has been estimated that free land can reduce the costs of new housing developments by between 15 to 25 percent.<sup>48</sup>

# Goal 2: To retain the existing stock of low-income rental housing for all age groups.

In addition to creating new low-income rental housing stock, another key priority is to retain the current stock that exists. As described previously in <u>Section 4</u>, BC is currently experiencing the loss of many subsidized rent-geared-to-income housing units due to expiring operating agreements, as well as the loss of other affordable rental and lowcost housing options on the private market due to redevelopments and rising rental costs.

**Recommendation 2.1a:** The Federal Government increases available financial supports for subsidized housing buildings with expiring operating agreements.

Expiring operating agreements are a significant threat to the continued viability of subsidized

rent-geared-to-income housing in BC, with the receipt of Provincial and/or Federal Government subsidies tied to these agreements. As noted previously, in BC the operating agreements for almost 30,000 housing units will expire by 2033.<sup>40</sup> While the Province of BC has committed to continuing to fund its share of federal/provincial cost-shared projects, even after operating agreements expire,<sup>40</sup> greater federal investments are needed to protect existing subsidized rentgeared-to-income housing.

### **Recommendation 2.1b**: The Provincial Government continues to support the development of housing acquisition programs.

Housing acquisition programs are an effective strategy that has been implemented internationally and in Canada (e.g., Toronto, Quebec, Downtown Eastside of Vancouver) to purchase existing rental housing or properties (e.g., hotel, motels) that can be transformed into low-income rental housing.<sup>57</sup> The Province of BC's introduction of the \$500 million Rental Protection Fund in 2023 to purchase existing purpose-built rental buildings has been a very positive step.<sup>58</sup> It has been estimated that this fund will protect the affordability of approximately 2,000 homes across the province.<sup>59</sup>

Recommendation 2.2: Provincial and local governments must take steps to protect the housing security of renters in the private market, including implementing vacancy controls (i.e., limits on rent increases between tenancies) and strengthening tenant protections. These must be implemented in a way that avoids unintended negative consequences for non-profit housing providers.

The majority of renters live in private market rental housing. One in five senior-led renter

households are already at risk of homelessness, and if rents continue to increase, more seniors and people of all age groups will be at risk. There is an urgent need for action to be taken to enhance housing security and affordability for renters in the private market.

As described in <u>Section 4.3</u>, there are limits on rental increases set by the Provincial Government each year. However, the lack of vacancy controls to limit rent increases between tenancies provides landlords with a convenient loophole to circumvent these rent controls. As noted previously, in Greater Vancouver the average rent for a newly vacant unit is 43% higher than for occupied units.<sup>35</sup> Vacancy control was in place previously in BC until 1983, and it has been recommended that the Provincial Government reinstate vacancy controls.60,61

We recognize that vacancy controls could potentially have a negative impact on non-profit housing providers given that raising rents in between tenants is one of the only ways they can keep up with the rising cost of operations within the current economic environment. Therefore, steps would need to be taken to ensure that vacancy controls are implemented in a manner that ensures the continued financial viability of non-profit housing. Consultations would need to be undertaken with non-profit housing providers in order to determine the best way to implement vacancy controls.

Steps also need to be taken to strengthen protections for renters from renovictions and redevelopments. A recent report found that BC has the highest rates of eviction in Canada, with 11% of renter households experiencing an eviction over 2016-2021. BC's higher rates of eviction are primarily driven by more no-fault evictions (i.e., evictions for personal use, renovation or repair, sale of the property, or redevelopment).<sup>62</sup>

As of 2021, landlords must apply to the Residential Tenancy Branch for pre-approval to issue evictions for renovations. A similar eviction approval system could also be introduced by the Provincial Government for evictions due to "personal or family" use to ensure they are being conducted in good faith.<sup>63</sup> Municipalities can also take the initiative to introduce tenant assistance policies that require developers to provide displaced tenants with supports such as financial compensation, moving or relocation assistance, and/or a unit in the new building. Tenant assistance policies are already in place in municipalities such as Victoria and Burnaby.55



### **Recommendation 2.3: The Provincial Government introduce a home repairs** grant program to support seniors to age in place in adequate housing.

In our interviews, we heard about seniors living in housing with significant heating, plumbing, electrical, or structural issues. This was particularly a concern in Northern BC and the Interior due to the cold winters experienced in these regions. Currently, the Province of BC only offers a Home Renovation Tax Credit (of little use to low-income seniors due to their lack of financial capacity to pay for repairs upfront) and the Rebate for Accessible Home Adaptations program through BC Housing (focuses on modifications to increase accessibility, not home repairs like fixing broken windows or leaky roofs). Several Canadian provinces offer grant programs for home repairs for seniors, and the Province of BC could implement a similar program. For example, Nova Scotia provides grants of up to \$6,500 for minor home repairs for low-income seniors.<sup>37</sup>

Goal 3: To develop multisectoral community tables, coalitions, or alliances to identify common housing issues and develop communitydriven solutions.

Recommendation 3.1: Local governments provide adequate and sustainable funding for the establishment of community tables/ coalitions/alliances to address housing and homelessness in local communities.

The context within which housing precarity and homelessness occurs in different regions and communities within BC is unique – housing solutions for the Downtown Eastside of Vancouver might look very different from solutions for vacation destinations in the Okanagan or rural communities in Northern BC. It is clear, though, that housing precarity and homelessness are complex and multisectoral issues, requiring coordinated efforts from multiple sectors. Even more important, solutions need to be rooted in the community and co-developed with people experiencing housing precarity and homelessness.

In order to develop effective community-driven solutions, coordinated planning and advocacy must occur between the broad range of partners who interact with and influence the lives of people experiencing housing precarity and homelessness, including but not limited to local governments, housing providers, the health care system, and youth, immigrant, Indigenous, and senior-serving organizations.

Community tables/coalitions/alliances already exist in some communities in BC, such as 100 More Homes Penticton and the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region (see <u>Appendices 5</u> and <u>6</u> for descriptions of these initiatives). Key to the success of both initiatives has been funding to provide backbone organizational support to ensure the sustainability of the table/coalition/alliance.

While community tables/coalitions/alliances usually do not directly engage in building housing themselves, they can play a key role in supporting advocacy for subsidized rentgeared-to-income housing, community planning, public education to destigmatize homelessness and rental housing developments, and enhance coordination of services for homeless or precariously housed individuals.

A key priority for these tables/coalitions/ alliances should be to advocate for the development and retention of low-income rental housing in their community by promoting strategies such as those outlined in Goals 1 and 2. To specifically support the needs of seniors, steps can also be taken, such as the formation of seniors housing working groups.

The Provincial Government has also begun introducing housing targets for select municipalities in BC under its Housing Supply Act which was introduced in 2022. Ten initial municipalities were selected in spring 2023 and an additional 8-10 will be selected in the fall. The Province of BC will work with the municipalities to assess local housing needs and select targets, and then monitor progress and provide supports to address any barriers. If necessary, compliance measures can be utilized.<sup>64</sup> Local community tables/coalitions/alliances could work with the selected municipalities to develop communityfocused strategies to meet housing targets.



Goal 4: To increase financial assistance for low and moderateincome seniors living in private market rental housing by introducing needed changes in the SAFER program.

**Recommendation 4.1:** The Provincial Government increase SAFER amounts to ensure they accurately reflect the rental market, and thereafter annually review and adjust the amounts. Steps should also be taken to expand and streamline access to the program.

Many of the policy solutions proposed so far will require time to be implemented, however, we know that there are precariously housed seniors who need assistance now. The SAFER program can provide valuable financial assistance to lowincome senior renters in BC who are currently struggling to make ends meet. However, as has been noted in this paper and by the Office of the Seniors Advocate of BC,<sup>37</sup> there are limitations to the SAFER program. The most significant limitation is that current rates do not reflect the private rental market and there are no regular adjustments made to the subsidy to account for increases in costs of living. Both the Office of the Seniors Advocate<sup>37</sup> and the Union of BC Municipalities<sup>65</sup> have recommended that SAFER amounts be increased to reflect the current rental market, and then annually reviewed and adjusted. Currently, the SAFER program is under review, and we are hopeful that changes can be made to increase the accessibility and effectiveness of this program.

For example, in order to ensure SAFER aligns with the rental market, the rent ceilings could be tied to average rents for the zone based on Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) data. Currently the rent ceiling for SAFER is \$803 for zone 1 communities (Greater Vancouver)<sup>39</sup> but the average rent for a 1-bedroom apartment is \$1,543 in Greater Vancouver, almost double what the rent ceiling is. As a result, when calculating a SAFER subsidy, the \$740 in rent above the \$803 rent ceiling is currently not taken into account. SAFER rent ceilings should be increased to current CMHC average rental amounts, and thereafter annually adjusted based on either CMHC data, annual allowable rent increases, or inflation.

Furthermore, to ensure SAFER stays in line with the changing incomes of seniors, the income ceilings for SAFER should be tied to the average income of a senior. SAFER also should be available for co-op rental housing, providing that the housing is not subsidized rent-geared-toincome. Steps also need to be taken to increase awareness among seniors of SAFER and identify ways to streamline access (e.g., expedite the application process to decrease wait times, remove the need to re-apply each year).

Goal 5: To increase access to housing with supports (both social and health supports) to ensure low-income seniors can maintain their housing tenancy and improve their health and well-being.

In our interviews, the need for a full continuum of affordable housing options to be made available to seniors was emphasized. On one end of this continuum is living independently in your own home, while at the other end are health care options such as assisted living or long-term care.<sup>‡</sup> In telephone and online surveys conducted by the City of Vancouver for their seniors housing strategy, approximately half of seniors reported interest in living in seniors housing with supports.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>‡</sup> While assisted living and long-term care facilities are beyond the scope of this paper, we recognize and support the urgent need to increase access to these types of housing.

Research from Canada and the USA suggests that seniors living in low-income rental housing often experience significant vulnerabilities – including food insecurity, multiple chronic conditions, activity limitations, loneliness, poor mental health, and limited family support.<sup>66</sup> Furthermore, approximately 23% of low-income seniors report having a low or moderate level of social support.<sup>67</sup>

Low-income rental buildings represent an important setting where we can provide vulnerable seniors with services to support their tenancies and well-being. Based on the feedback from our interviews, we have identified three strategies to enhance supports for seniors living in low-income rental housing: 1) external community agencies supporting the provision of on-site tenant supports and social connection activities; 2) services like meals, housekeeping, laundry and recreation activities built into the housing itself through the currently underused seniors supportive housing model; and 3) enhanced coordination and collaboration between health and housing, particularly to support the mental health needs of seniors.

### **Recommendation 5.1:** The Provincial Government develop funding streams to support community-based organizations providing on-site tenant and social connection supports to vulnerable seniors living in low-income rental housing.

In our interviews, it was noted that housing a vulnerable individual is not enough, you also need to provide them with the supports required to stay healthy and housed.

Research with Canadian service providers recommends integrating support services into seniors housing that can assist seniors with needs such as housekeeping, tenant education, social connection, food security, and form and tax assistance.<sup>68,69</sup> The integration of these types of services into housing has been recognized as a proactive strategy to support aging in place and prevent evictions and homelessness.<sup>66</sup>

The extent that housing providers in BC can provide supports to vulnerable tenants is limited due to regulations related to their role as landlords, as well as their organizational willingness and capacity. However, examples have emerged of innovative programs where external community-based organizations provide on-site tenant support and social connection programs to vulnerable rental housing tenants. One example is the Whole Way House model that provides on-site community building programs and tenant support services at ten non-profit affordable and transitional housing buildings in Vancouver, Burnaby, and Surrey (See Appendix 7 for a full description). Another example is the Downtown Eastside SRO Collaborative that provides tenants living in single room occupancy (SRO) units with practical supports, a voice in decision making, and employs tenants to connect and help their neighbours (See Appendix 8 for a full description).

Due to the large clusters of seniors in low-income rental housing buildings, and often higher levels of need, there is the potential to have significant positive impacts if investments are made by the Provincial Government to develop programs to provide social supports to residents of these buildings. It is important that these programs be delivered in ways that are linguistically appropriate and culturally safe for the residents they serve and inclusive and safe for marginalized and underserved population groups.

### **Recommendation 5.2:** The Ministry of Housing expand access to seniors supportive housing.

BC has a very small subsidized rent-geared-toincome Seniors Supportive Housing program. It was introduced in 2007/08, and over four years, 856 affordable housing units were converted to Seniors Supportive Housing.<sup>§</sup> Residents pay a monthly rent equivalent to 50% of their income for housing and hospitality services (at least one daily meal, light housekeeping, laundering of towels and linens, 24-hour emergency response, and weekly social and recreational activities).

While a number of the original Seniors Supportive Housing units still remain today, there have been no subsequent investments in this program with the focus shifting to supportive housing models for individuals with mental health and addiction concerns.

Given our aging population and the increasing need for support services for seniors, the Provincial Government should re-invest in the Seniors Supportive Housing program.

### **Recommendation 5.3a:** Regional health authorities provide access to multidisciplinary mental health teams to support seniors to stay housed.

In our interviews, mental health crises were identified as one of the main reasons a senior may no longer be able to safely remain in their home. Research suggests that mental health conditions are a key factor contributing to at-fault tenant evictions and are often a root cause of issues such as hoarding and clutter, lack of unit maintenance, and landlord-tenant conflicts.<sup>67,70</sup> There is a need for proactive multidisciplinary supports to be made available to seniors to address mental health conditions and prevent evictions like these from occurring.

Seniors are also particularly vulnerable to hoarding and clutter issues as a result of having a lifetime of accumulated possessions that can be difficult to fit into an apartment if they downsize.<sup>69</sup> Due to the complexity of hoarding issues, coordinated community approaches that involve actors from a range of sectors (e.g., multidisciplinary mental health, housing, fire services, bylaw officers, animal control) are considered one of the most effective responses.<sup>71,72</sup> For example, in 2011 the City of Vancouver formed the the Hoarding Action Response Team (HART), in partnership with Vancouver Coastal Health, although demand for this service exceeds current staffing and resource levels.

**Recommendation 5.3b:** The Ministries of Housing, Health, and Mental Health and Addictions must work together to develop policies and processes to improve the coordination of services for seniors living in low-income rental housing.

Finally, a consistent concern that was raised in the interviews was the lack of integration and coordination of housing and health services. This was particularly a concern around mental health services and hospital discharge processes. The need for intersectoral collaboration between the housing and health sectors has been strongly articulated by the Health Officers' Council of BC.<sup>8</sup> We recommend that the Ministries of Housing, Health, and Mental Health and Addictions work together to address these issues.



<sup>§</sup> Based on the BC Housing Annual Service Plans which reported 196 units converted in 2007/08, 491 in 2008/09, 114 in 2009/10, and 55 in 2010/11.

Goal 6: To ensure that housing navigation supports, the shelter system, and transitional and lowincome rental housing are, not only adequately funded, but also accessible, safe, and appropriate for seniors who are homeless or precariously housed.

Throughout the interviews, a common theme was the need to recognize that seniors have unique needs and there should not be a one-size fits all approach to providing housing and supports in BC. Interviewees emphasized how the current continuum of housing services may not be accessible, safe, or appropriate for seniors.

### **Recommendation 6.1:** The Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions continue to support and expand access to the SHINE program.

The interviewees made apparent the need for senior-specific housing navigation services. There is currently a high level of demand for these services in communities across BC, yet many CBSS have limited capacity to offer the in-depth navigation supports that are required by seniors. In BC, SHINE (Seniors Housing Information and Navigation Ease) is an innovative housing navigation program that is led by the Seniors Services Society of BC located in New Westminster. The program is available in additional communities through partnerships with 9 organizations across the province. SHINE represents an important addition to the continuum of services that are available to support seniors who are homeless or precariously housed. Appendix 9 describes the SHINE program in more detail.

**Recommendation 6.2:** The Ministry of Housing should provide funding for needed renovations to increase the accessibility and safety of existing homeless shelters and low-income rental housing.

In Canada, it is estimated that 38% of seniors aged 65 and up have a disability, and 24% have a mobility disability.<sup>73</sup> As a result, the accessibility of temporary and permanent housing is a key concern for seniors (e.g., presence of elevators, ramps, accessible bathrooms, etc.). In our interviews, we heard that people living with disabilities (particularly mobility disabilities) often have very limited housing options due to the lack of accessible rental housing units and shelter beds. For example, BC Housing reported that in 2022, there were 1,087 people waiting for a wheelchair accessible housing unit.<sup>74</sup>

Accessibility issues are particularly a concern for older buildings (both low-income rental housing buildings and homeless shelters), which will need to be renovated or retrofitted to better meet the needs of our aging population in BC. Improvements to the accessibility of these buildings will also significantly benefit younger individuals living with disabilities, in addition to seniors.

Furthermore, a common concern that was raised in the interviews is the tendency to house vulnerable low-income seniors in buildings with population mixes that are not safe and appropriate for seniors. We recognize the need for discussions and solutions to address this issue and ensure that seniors feel safe and secure in their housing.

# **Recommendation 6.3:** The Ministry of Housing should invest in transitional housing models for seniors.

Physical and cognitive declines that can occur with age may place seniors at increased risk of being victims of abuse or crimes when placed in mixed use low-income rental housing or homeless shelters. This emerged as a common concern in our interviews and has been echoed in other Canadian research.<sup>68</sup> Furthermore, concerns were also raised about the fact that frail seniors are usually unable to access home support services in homeless shelters as home support staff often will not provide services in shelters.

Therefore, we recommend that the Ministry of Housing expand investments in transitional housing models for seniors to provide an alternative to homeless shelters and allow seniors, and particularly those experiencing homelessness for the first time later in life, to safely transition from temporary to permanent housing. The Temporary Housing Program from Seniors Services Society of BC is an example of a transitional housing model for seniors (see <u>Appendix 10</u>).

# **Endnotes**

- 1 Canadian Human Rights Commission. *Advocating For Change: The Housing Crisis In Canada*. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://housing.chrcreport.ca/pdf/federal-housing-advocates-annual-report-2022-2023.pdf</u>
- 2 Statistics Canada. *Table 11-10-0135-01 Low income statistics by age, sex and economic family type* [Data table]. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/1110013501-eng</u>
- 3 Statistics Canada. *Income Explorer 2021 Census*. 2022. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/</u> census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/dv-vd/income-revenu/index-en.html
- 4 Statistics Canada. *Table 17-10-0005-01 Population estimates on July 1st, by age and sex* [Data table]. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/1710000501-eng</u>
- 5 Happy Cities. *City of Vancouver Seniors Housing Strategy: What we Heard Report.* 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. https://www.shapeyourcity.ca/seniors-housing
- 6 Langley Seniors Community Action Table. *Impact of Housing First and Supportive Housing on Frail Seniors*. 2018. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.langleyseniorsinaction.ca/newpage</u>
- 7 Khoo LM. Vancouver *Chinatown Affordable Seniors Housing Inventory. 2023*. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://bc.healthyagingcore.ca/resources/january-2023-vancouver-chinatown-affordable-seniors-housing-inventory</u>
- 8 Health Officers' Council of BC. Position on Homelessness, Equity, and Health. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. https://www.healthofficerscouncil.net/positions-and-advocacy/publications/homelessness/
- 9 BC Housing. Subsidized Housing. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.bchousing.org/housing-assistance/rent-al-housing/subsidized-housing</u>
- 10 Gaetz S, Barr C, Friesen A, et al. Canadian *Definition of Homelessness. 2012.* Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/COHhomelessdefinition.pdf</u>
- 11 United Nations. *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*. 1948. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.un.org/en/about-us/universal-declaration-of-human-rights</u>
- 12 Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. The human right to adequate housing Special Rapporteur on the right to adequate housing. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/special-procedures/sr-housing/human-right-adequate-housing</u>
- 13 National Housing Strategy Act (S.C. 2019, c. 29, s. 313)
- 14 Govender K. Kasari Govender: We need to talk about encampments. Vancouver Sun. September 14, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://vancouversun.com/opinion/op-ed/kasari-govender-we-need-to-talk-about-encampments</u>
- 15 Raphael D, Bryant T, Mikkonen J, Raphael A. *Social Determinants of Health: The Canadian Facts*. Oshawa: Ontario Tech University Faculty of Health Sciences and Toronto: York University School of Health Policy and Management; 2020.
- 16 Taylor L. *Housing And Health: An Overview of the Literature*. 2018. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.healthaf-fairs.org/do/10.1377/hpb20180313.396577/</u>
- 17 Park GR, Grignon M, Young M, Dunn JR. The association between housing cost burden and avoidable mortality in wealthy countries: cross-national analysis of social and housing policies, 2000-2017. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2023;77(2):65-73. doi:10.1136/jech-2022-219545
- 18 Park GR, Grignon M, Young M, Dunn JR. How do housing asset and income relate to mortality? A population-based cohort study of 881220 older adults in Canada. *Soc Sci Med*. 2022;314:115429. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.115429
- 19 Jenkins Morales M, Robert SA. Housing Cost Burden and Health Decline Among Low- and Moderate-Income Older Renters. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2022;77(4):815-826. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbab184
- 20 Mawhorter S, Crimmins EM, Ailshire JA. Housing and cardiometabolic risk among older renters and homeowners. *Hous Stud.* 2021; 1-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2021.1941792</u>
- 21 Mehdipanah R, Martin J, Eisenberg AK, Schulz AJ, Morgenstern LB, Langa KM. Housing status, mortgage debt and financial burden as barriers to health among older adults in the U.S. *Hous Soc*. 2022;49(1):58-72. doi:10.1080/0888274 6.2021.1881373
- 22 Bhat AC, Almeida DM, Fenelon A, Santos-Lozada AR. A longitudinal analysis of the relationship between housing insecurity and physical health among midlife and aging adults in the United States. *SSM Popul Health*. 2022;18:101128. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2022.101128
- 23 Szabo A, Allen J, Alpass F, Stephens C. Longitudinal trajectories of quality of life and depression by housing tenure status. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2018;73(8):e165-e174. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbx028
- 24 Singh A, Daniel L, Baker E, Bentley R. Housing disadvantage and poor mental health: A systematic review. *Am J Prev Med.* 2019;57(2):262-272. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2019.03.018

- Webb E, Blane D, de Vries R. Housing and respiratory health at older ages. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2013;67(3):280-285. doi:10.1136/jech-2012-201458
- 26 Brown RT, Hemati K, Riley ED, et al. Geriatric conditions in a population-based sample of older homeless adults. *Geron*tologist. 2017;57(4):757-766. doi:10.1093/geront/gnw011
- 27 Brown RT, Kiely DK, Bharel M, Mitchell SL. Geriatric syndromes in older homeless adults. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2012;27(1):16-22. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1848-9
- 28 Bamberger J, Dobbins S. Long-term Cost Effectiveness of Placing Homeless Seniors in Permanent Supportive Housing. 2014. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.frbsf.org/community-development/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/wp2014-01.pdf</u>
- 29 Brown RT, Miao Y, Mitchell SL, et al. *Health Outcomes of Obtaining Housing Among Older Homeless Adults*. Am J Public Health. 2015;105(7):1482-1488. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302539
- 30 Office of the Seniors Advocate, British Columbia. *Monitoring Seniors Services: 2022 Report*. 2022. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.seniorsadvocatebc.ca/app/uploads/sites/4/2022/12/MSS\_Report\_2022.pdf</u>
- 31 Statistics Canada. Table 98-10-0241-01 Housing indicators by tenure including presence of mortgage payments and subsidized housing, household type including census family structure and period of construction: Canada, provinces and territories, census metropolitan areas and census agglomerations. 2023. Accessed November 7, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/9810024101-eng</u>
- 32 Statistics Canada. Table 14-10-0340-02 Average and median gender wage ratio, annual, inactive [Data table]. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/1410034001-eng</u>
- 33 Government of British Columbia. Disability Assistance Rate Table. Updated August 1, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/policies-for-government/bcea-policy-and-procedure-manual/bc-employment-and-assistance-rate-tables/disability-assistance-rate-table
- 34 Government of British Columbia. Income Assistance Rate Table. Updated August 1, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/policies-for-government/bcea-policy-and-procedure-manual/bc-employment-and-assistance-rate-tables/income-assistance-rate-table
- 35 CMHC. Rental Market Report: January 2023 Edition. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/-/media/sites/cmhc/professional/housing-markets-data-and-research/market-reports/rental-market-report/rental-market-report-2022-en.ashx</u>
- 36 Statistics Canada. Table 98-10-0251-01 Family characteristics of seniors by total income statistics: Canada, provinces and territories, census metropolitan areas and census agglomerations [Data Table]. Updated September 21, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/9810025101-eng</u>
- 37 Office of the Seniors Advocate, British Columbia. *BC Seniors: Falling Further Behind*. 2022. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.seniorsadvocatebc.ca/app/uploads/sites/4/2022/10/OSA-BCFFB\_FINAL.pdf</u>
- 38 Men F, Gundersen C, Urquia ML, Tarasuk V. Association between household food insecurity and mortality in Canada: A population-based retrospective cohort study. Can Med Assoc J. 2020;192(3):E53-E60
- 39 BC Housing. Shelter Aid For Elderly Renters (SAFER). Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.bchousing.org/hous-ing-assistance/rental-assistance-programs/SAFER</u>
- 40 BC Non-Profit Housing Association, BC Housing. *Expiring Operating Agreements: A Planning Guide for BC's Non-Profit Housing Societies*. 2018. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.bchousing.org/publications/Expiring-Operat-ing-Agreements.pdf</u>
- 41 Pomeroy S. Updating analysis on erosion of lower rent stock from 2021 Census. 2021. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://chec-ccrl.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Updated-Analysis-on-Housing-Erosion-from-2021-Census-Steve-Pomeroy.pdf</u>
- 42 BC Non-Profit Housing Association. Canadian Rental Housing Index. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.rentalhousingindex.ca/en/#intro</u>
- 43 Statistics Canada. Consumer Price Index: Annual review, 2022. Published January 17, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/230117/dq230117b-eng.htm</u>
- 44 Homelessness Services Association of BC. 2020/21 *Report on Homeless Counts in B.C.* Accessed October 18, 2023. https://www.bchousing.org/publications/2020-21-BC-Homeless-Counts.pdf
- 45 Homelessness Services Association of BC. 2023 *Homeless Count in Greater Vancouver*. 2023. Accessed October 18, 2023. <u>https://hsa-bc.ca/\_Library/2023\_HC/2023\_Homeless\_Count\_for\_Greater\_Vancouver.pdf</u>
- 46 Statistics Canada. Housing indicators, 2021 Census. Updated on May 10, 2023. Accessed on September 21, 2023. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/dv-vd/housing-logement/index-en.cfm
- 47 Morris M, Good J, Halseth G. Housing Affordability, Income, and Vulnerability in Non-Metropolitan British Columbia: 2021 Census Data Edition. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www2.unbc.ca/community-development-institute</u>

- 48 Whitzman C, Flynn A, Gurstein P, Jones C. Chapter 2: Affordable Housing: Increase Federal and Provincial Funding to Support Municipal Action. In Eidelman G, Hachard T, Slack E, eds. *The Municipal Role in Housing*. The Institute on Municipal Finance and Governance; 2022:4-8.
- 49 August M. The Financialization of Housing in Canada: A Summary Report for the Office of the Federal Housing Advocate. 2022. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.homelesshub.ca/resource/financialization-housing-canada-proj-ect-summary-report</u>
- 50 Lee M. How to Build Affordable Rental Housing in Vancouver. 2021. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://policyalter-natives.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/publications/BC%20Office/2021/03/ccpa-bc\_Affordable-Housing-March2021\_report.pdf</u>
- 51 Lee M. Getting Serious About Affordable Housing: Towards a Plan for Metro Vancouver. 2016. https://policyalternatives. ca/sites/default/files/uploads/publications/BC%20Office/2016/05/CCPA-BC-Affordable-Housing.pdf
- 52 BC Housing. About the Community Housing Fund. n.d. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/CHF-RFP-Fact-Sheet.pdf</u>
- 53 Lee M. Still so far from home: An update on BC's 114,000 homes promise. Published February 10, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.policynote.ca/housing-update/</u>
- 54 Suttor G. Chapter 4: Social Housing: Strong City Roles Need Regional and Federal-Provincial Partnerships. In Eidelman G, Hachard T, Slack E, eds. *The Municipal Role in Housing*. The Institute on Municipal Finance and Governance; 2022:14-17.
- 55 Community Social Planning Council. *Local Government Levers for Housing Affordability*. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://communitycouncil.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/CSPC-Local-Government-Toolkit.pdf</u>
- 56 Eidelman G, Hachard T, Slack E, eds. *The Municipal Role in Housing*. The Institute on Municipal Finance and Governance; 2022
- 57 Daniels J, August M. Acquisitions for Affordable Housing: Creating Non-Market Supply and Preserving Affordability. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://hart.ubc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/HART-Acquisition-Report.pdf</u>
- 58 New fund will protect thousands of renters in B.C. News Release. Office of the Premier. January 12, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2023PREM0002-000023</u>
- 59 BC Non-Profit Housing Association. New Housing Strategy Follows BC Budget 2023. Published April 4, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. https://bcnpha.ca/new-housing-strategy-follows-bc-budget-2023/
- 60 Lee M. Vacancy control: taking the next step on housing affordability. Published February 11, 2021. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.policynote.ca/vacancy-control/</u>
- 61 BCGEU. Evaluating Prospects for Vacancy Control Policy in B.C.'s Housing Affordability Crisis. 2023. Accessed October 11, 2023. https://www.affordablebc.ca/vacancycontrolreport
- 62 Xuereb X, Jones C. Estimating No-Fault Evictions in Canada: Understanding BC's Disproportionate Eviction Rate in the 2021 Canadian Housing Survey. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://housingresearch.ubc.ca/sites/default/</u><u>files/2023-05/estimating\_no-fault\_evictions\_in\_canada\_0.pdf</u>
- 63 Weichel A. B.C. considering reforms to 'eliminate' bad-faith evictions for landlord's use. CTV News. August 25, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://bc.ctvnews.ca/b-c-considering-reforms-to-eliminate-bad-faith-evictions-for-landlord-s-use-1.6535843</u>
- 64 Housing targets expected to deliver more homes faster, first communities selected. News Release. Ministry of Housing. May 31, 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2023HOUS0059-000851</u>
- 65 UBCM. 2023 UBCM Resolutions Book. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.ubcm.ca/sites/default/</u> files/2023-08/2023-UBCM-Resolutions-Book.pdf
- 66 Sheppard CL, Kwon C, Yau M, Rios J, Austen A, Hitzig SL. Aging in Place in Social Housing: A Scoping Review of Social Housing for Older Adults. *Can J Aging*. 2023;42(1):69-79. doi:10.1017/S0714980822000125
- 67 Frank K. COVID-19 and social support for seniors: Do seniors have people they can depend on during difficult times?. 2020. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00007-eng.htm</u>
- 68 Sheppard C, Gould S, Um S, Austen A, Roche B, Hitzig S. *Enhancing Eviction Prevention Supports for Older Adults in Social Housing*. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.wellesleyinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/</u> <u>Eviction-Prevention-Supports-Designed-Report-2023-Final.pdf</u>
- 69 Weldrick R, Canham SL, Sussman T, et al. "A right place for everybody": Supporting aging in the right place for older people experiencing homelessness. *Health Soc Care Community*. 2022;30(6):e4652-e4661. doi:10.1111/hsc.13871
- 70 Zell S, McCullough S. Housing Research Report: Evictions and Eviction Prevention in Canada. 2020. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://eppdscrmssa01.blob.core.windows.net/cmhcprodcontainer/sf/project/archive/research\_6/evictions-and-eviction-prevention-in-canada.pdf</u>

- 71 Whitfield KY, Daniels JS, Flesaker K, Simmons D. Older adults with hoarding behaviour aging in place: looking to a collaborative community-based planning approach for solutions. *J Aging Res.* 2012;2012:205425. doi:10.1155/2012/205425
- 72 Bratiotis C, Muroff J, Lin NXY. Hoarding disorder: Development in conceptualization, intervention, and evaluation. Focus (*Am Psychiatr Publ*). 2021;19(4):392-404. doi:10.1176/appi.focus.20210016
- 73 Morris S, Fawcett G, Brisebois L, Hughes J. A demographic, employment and income profile of Canadians with disabilities aged 15 years and over, 2017. 2018. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/89-654x/89-654-x2018002-eng.htm</u>
- 74 Braich B. Thousands of people with disabilities are waiting for an accessible home in B.C. *CBC News*. September 1, 2022. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/disability-accessible-hous-ing-bc-1.6567378</u>

# Appendix 1. Prevalence of Low-Income After Tax in British Columbia by Age Group, 1990-2021



Year	0-17	18-64	Seniors (65+)	Year	0-17	18-64	Seniors (65+)
1990	16.3	11.1	8	2006	21.5	15.0	10.6
1991	12.5	10.1	5.6	2007	18.8	13.1	10.2
1992	14.4	10.7	6.6	2008	14.6	13.6	11.4
1993	14.4	10.5	4.3	2009	19.3	14.8	12.6
1994	14.9	10.5	3.1	2010	17.6	14.7	13.9
1995	15.4	11.2	2.9	2011	19.4	15.2	11.7
1996	14.6	12.1	2.2	2012	14.8	14.3	11.7
1997	14.8	12.9	5.0	2013	15.1	14.5	13.0
1998	15.1	14.5	6.5	2014	15.3	13.4	13.0
1999	17.3	14.9	7.7	2015	14.1	17.7	15.0
2000	15.8	16.1	7.3	2016	13.0	13.5	13.2
2001	16.5	16.0	8.6	2017	10.7	11.8	15.6
2002	22.1	16.3	12.4	2018	9.2	11.9	14.0
2003	21.4	15.8	10.6	2019	7.5	12.4	12.0
2004	20.6	15.5	10.0	2020	6.7	8.9	10.8
2005	19.7	14.1	10.6	2021	8.3	8.1	15.2

Data Source: Statistics Canada. Table 11-10-0135-01 Low income statistics by age, sex and economic family type. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/1110013501-eng</u>

Note: The low-income measure used is low-income measure after-tax.

# **Appendix 2. Government Retirement Income Benefits**

Most low-income seniors rely on government income benefits (i.e., OAS, GIS, and the BC Seniors Supplement) for their income. Individuals aged 65 and up who have been living in Canada for at least 10 years are eligible for OAS. GIS and BC Seniors Supplement are additional benefits for qualifying low-income seniors.

In September 2023, the annual income from OAS/GIS/BC Seniors Supplement that a single low-income senior would receive was:

- \$1,841.35 per month for seniors aged 65-74 (\$22,096.20 annually)
- **Annual Amount Monthly Amount** Old Age Security \$698.60 (ages 65-74) \$8,383.20 (ages 65-74) \$9,221.52 (ages 75+) \$768.46 (ages 75+) Guaranteed Income \$1,043.45 \$12,521.4 Supplement \$99.30 **BC Seniors Supplement** \$1,191.60 Total Income from OAS, \$1,841.35 (ages 65-74) \$22,096.20 (ages 65-74) GIS and BC Seniors \$1,911.21 (ages 75+) \$22,934.52 (ages 75+) Supplement
- \$1,911.21 per month for seniors 75+ (\$22,934.52 annually)

Notes: Benefit amounts are from September 2023. BC Seniors Supplement and GIS show the maximum monthly amount for a single senior. Both OAS and GIS are adjusted regularly based on costs of living, while the BC Seniors Supplement is not and has only been increased once since introduced in 1987.

# Appendix 3. Average Monthly Rental Cost for a 1-Bedroom Apartment by Community

Community	Average Rental Cost for 1 Bedroom Apartment (2022)	Community
Abbotsford	\$1,142	Pitt Meadows
Burnaby	\$1,418	Port Alberni
Campbell River	\$1,157	Port Coquitlam
Chilliwack	\$1,022	Port Moody
Colwood	\$1,226	Powell River
Coquitlam	\$1,343	Prince George
Courtenay	\$1,233	Prince Rupert
Cranbrook	\$844	Richmond
Dawson Creek	\$825	Quesnel
Delta	\$1,140	Saanich
Duncan	\$982	Salmon Arm
Esquimalt	\$1,269	Sidney
Fort St. John	\$772	Squamish
Kamloops	\$1,169	Surrey
Kelowna	\$1,287	Terrace
Langley	\$1,240	Vancouver
Langford	\$1,592	Vernon
Maple Ridge	\$1,102	Victoria
Mission	\$1,010	West Kelowna
Nanaimo	\$1,230	Williams Lake
Nelson	\$923	Data Source: CMHC Housing
New Westminster	\$1,338	Primary Rental Mark Statistic
North Vancouver	\$1,643	Notes: The Primary Rental N
Parksville	\$1,284	units in apartments that were
Penticton	\$1,023	

Community	Average Rental Cost for 1 Bedroom Apartment (2022)
Pitt Meadows	\$1,529
Port Alberni	\$819
Port Coquitlam	\$1,393
Port Moody	\$1,610
Powell River	\$821
Prince George	\$923
Prince Rupert	\$961
Richmond	\$1,459
Quesnel	\$652
Saanich	\$1,299
Salmon Arm	\$951
Sidney	\$1,447
Squamish	\$1,421
Surrey	\$1,365
Terrace	\$1,008
Vancouver	\$1,629
Vernon	\$1,002
Victoria	\$1,336
West Kelowna	\$1,595
Williams Lake	\$807

Data Source: CMHC Housing Market Information Portal, Primary Rental Mark Statistics

Notes: The Primary Rental Market refers to rental housing units in apartments that were purpose-built as rental housing.

# **Appendix 4. Seniors Living in Unaffordable Housing or Precariously Housed, By Community**

Community	housing (spe	naffordable nding 30% or ne on housing)	Precariously housed (spending 50% or more of income on housing)		
	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage	
Abbotsford	1,450	50%	400	14%	
Burnaby	2,685	45%	1,145	19%	
Campbell River	535	55%	145	15%	
Castlegar	65	37%	20	11%	
Central Saanich	165	51%	50	15%	
Chilliwack	1,155	51%	335	15%	
Colwood	170	61%	105	38%	
Comox	260	64%	75	19%	
Coquitlam	1,285	50%	570	22%	
Courtenay	490	58%	170	20%	
Cranbrook	235	43%	55	10%	
Creston	115	59%	30	15%	
Dawson Creek	225	54%	20	5%	
Delta	740	41%	335	18%	
Duncan	155	49%	30	10%	
Esquimalt DM	475	56%	185	22%	
Fernie	65	48%			
Fort St. John	115	38%	25	8%	
Gibsons	130	68%	40	21%	
Норе	100	56%	15	8%	
Kamloops	1,110	50%	350	16%	
Kelowna	2,400	62%	970	25%	
Kimberley	95	45%	15	7%	
Kitimat	35	32%			
Ladysmith	130	53%	40	16%	

Community	housing (spe	Living in unaffordable housing (spending 30% or nore of income on housing)		Precariously housed (spending 50% or more of income on housing)	
	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage	
Lake Country	120	45%	55	21%	
Langford	470	53%	255	29%	
Langley DM	630	47%	275	21%	
Langley	665	58%	265	23%	
Maple Ridge	655	42%	220	14%	
Merritt	120	55%	30	14%	
Mission	215	38%	70	13%	
Nanaimo	810	47%	265	18%	
Nelson	155	44%	55	16%	
New Westminster	1,270	48%	445	17%	
North Cowichan	400	52%	130	17%	
North Vancouver DM	695	51%	290	21%	
North Vancouver	1,385	60%	725	31%	
Oak Bay	385	50%	125	16%	
Parksville	375	53%	150	21%	
Penticton	1,095	62%	370	21%	
Pitt Meadows	150	43%	65	19%	
Port Alberni	385	56%	115	17%	
Port Coquitlam	550	57%	205	21%	
Port Moody	175	38%	45	10%	
Powell River	230	47%	105	21%	
Prince George	840	45%	260	14%	
Prince Rupert	115	28%	15	4%	
Quesnel	195	43%	25	5%	
Revelstoke	50	48%			
Richmond	2,150	50%	960	22%	
Saanich	1,155	49%	435	18%	
Salmon Arm	300	50%	95	16%	
Sechelt	150	45%	50	15%	

United Way British Columbia - Aging in Uncertainty: The Growing Housing Crisis for BC Seniors

Community	housing (spe	naffordable nding 30% or ne on housing)	Precariously housed (spending 50% or more of income on housing)		
	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage	
Sidney	330	63%	140	27%	
Smithers	40	29%			
Sooke	135	55%	50	20%	
Squamish	180	50%	75	21%	
Summerland	140	68%			
Surrey	3,385	44%	1,225	16%	
Terrace	80	29%			
Trail	145	43%	30	9%	
Vancouver	10,440	46%	4,375	19%	
Vernon	1,155	61%	460	24%	
Victoria	3,180	55%	1,225	21%	
View Royal	150	51%	60	20%	
West Kelowna	280	58%	160	33%	
West Vancouver	1,045	62%	575	34%	
Whistler	25	31%			
White Rock	890	67%	375	28%	
Williams Lake	150	38%	40	10%	

Data Source: BC Non-Profit Housing Association. Canadian Rental Housing Index. 2023. Accessed September 21, 2023. <u>https://www.rentalhousingindex.ca/en/#intro</u>

Notes: All numbers have been rounded. Numbers marked – have been suppressed by Statistics Canada due to the small sample size.

# **Appendix 5. 100 More Homes Penticton**

<u>100 More Homes Penticton</u> is a collaborative initiative that recognizes the intersecting vulnerabilities that can lead to homelessness and the need for integrated approaches to address homelessness. The collaborative was formed in 2016 by 25 community partners in Penticton, including the City of Penticton, Interior Health, BC Housing, the RCMP, Osoyoos Correctional Centre, United Way British Columbia, and local non-profits delivering housing and support services for vulnerable community members.

United Way British Columbia serves as the backbone organization for the collaborative. United Way BC's role as a neutral convening organization that can bring partners together and provide staff support to ensure the consistency of the work has contributed to the success of the collaborative. The 100 More Homes steering committee meets monthly to work towards their goal to prevent homelessness in Penticton. While the collaborative does not directly build housing, they act as a forum for advocacy for affordable housing and homelessness solutions and support the development of integrated approaches.

The 100 More Homes partners have successfully supported each other to apply for funding to enhance access to supportive housing in the community and there are now just under 200 units of supportive housing in Penticton. There is also a permanent homeless shelter in the community and there was a winter shelter for a period of time.

Additionally, the collaborative has helped Penticton develop coordinated access, an approach for communities to develop realtime data on housing supply and demand (e.g., number of available shelter beds) and implement standardized and streamlined processes for providing housing. The collaborative has also been working on the development of a by-namelist, a real-time list of individuals experiencing homelessness in the community. A Community Active Support Table (CAST) was also formed to bring together stakeholders to support vulnerable people in the community. To address the stigma associated with homelessness, some of the collaborative partners have developed a series of videos highlighting the stories of people who have experienced homelessness.

Despite the progress that has been made by the collaborative, homelessness continues to be a challenge in Penticton. Originally, the collaborative was named 100 Homes Penticton, but after they were able to meet their goal of housing 100 individuals (in fact they housed 133 individuals in the first 18 months) their name was updated to 100 More Homes Penticton. This was in recognition of the ongoing need to provide housing and homelessness supports in their community, as at the same time new supportive housing units were being built, other housing options for low-income individuals (e.g., motels, RV sites) were being lost.

In 2022, 100 More Homes entered into a 3-year memorandum of understanding with the City of Penticton to collaborate on homelessness and housing planning. The work of the 100 More Homes initiative had outgrown the capacity of the volunteer members sitting at the table. To further the priorities of the table, and to meet the ongoing housing needs from the City of Penticton, it was identified that a full time Strategy Coordinator would be best placed to coordinate the community partners, develop a community-driven strategy, and be the Systems Planning Organization in housing and supports for Penticton. With 100 More Homes recognized by the municipality as the leader in Penticton and the surrounding region for housing and homelessness, a mouthpiece and organized advocacy approach is created. The non-profit

sector is recognized as key to the development of a fully rounded housing continuum – from shelter provision to supportive housing, to complex care housing, to affordable housing and market rentals. The 100 More Homes initiative can navigate many different partners, funders and relationships as a neutral backbone that collaboratively builds solutions to the housing crisis the communities in the South Okanagan find themselves in.

# Appendix 6. Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region

The Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region is a multisectoral alliance that works to develop community-owned solutions in the Capital Region. The Alliance originated from a municipal taskforce set up in 2007 by the Mayor of Victoria. In 2008, to build on the work of the taskforce and respond to the housing, homelessness, and mental health challenges identified, the community formed the Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness. The Coalition evolved into the Alliance in 2023.

The Alliance centers its work around people with lived experiences of homelessness and develops the Community Plan to engage all partners in aligning their respective efforts. Funding to support the Alliance is provided by Island Health, the Capital Regional District, the City of Victoria, the Victoria Foundation, through grants, and the generosity of individual donors.

Members of the Alliance include housing providers, health and social service providers, non-profits, government, businesses, researchers, the faith community, people with lived and living experiences of homelessness, and the public.

The Alliance is governed by a Board of Directors that includes both appointed and elected directors from government and the community. The Board of Directors engages with the community through several statutory committees as well as advisory committees, such as the Health and Housing Steering Committee, comprised of partners who provide recommendations and advise for the implementation of the Alliance's initiatives. The work of the Alliance is also supported by six other tables: System Transformation Working Group, Lived and Living Experience Council, Community Data Dashboard, Community Engagement and Communications Working Group, Youth Task Force, and other regional planning tables.

Over 2019-2024, the Alliance has been focusing its efforts on five key outcome areas that were identified through a community planning process: 1) Support services, 2) Housing, 3) Advocacy and Awareness, 4) Prevention Support, and 5) Collaboration and Leadership. Examples of key successes achieved by the Alliance and its members include:

- Commencing development of a Community Data Dashboard to monitor regional housing inventory
- Offering Face 2 Face with Stigma workshops and other educational resources
- Supporting the Surfacing our Strengths: Co-Creating Strategic Solutions with Women+ At Risk of Violence and Homelessness Solutions Lab
- Partnering with BC Housing and Our Place Society to develop a Tiny Homes Village to provide temporary housing over 2021-2023 until construction is completed on supportive housing
- Implementing the Peer Housing Support program for people transitioning from homelessness to safe and stable housing

Moving forward, the mission of the Alliance is to support the vision of a region, province and nation where everyone has a safe place to call home as we reach functional zero "where experiences of homelessness are rare, brief, and non-recurring and that housing and supports are culturally adaptive, creative, caring, and person-centered."

# **Appendix 7. Whole Way House Model**

The <u>Whole Way House (WWH)</u> model seeks to build healthy communities in housing. WWH is a non-profit organization that provides onsite community building programs and tenant support services at ten non-profit affordable and transitional housing buildings in Vancouver, Burnaby, and Surrey. The Whole Way House model has three pillars: 1) Re-connecting with others, 2) Re-building a sense of purpose and belonging, and 3) Re-centering by having access to on-site support services.

Six of their buildings target low-income seniors and veterans: Veterans Manor, Alexander House, Chelsea Tower, Chelsea Terrace, Granville House, and Shiloh Place. BC Housing funds the staffing for programs and services at five of these buildings, while Reaching Home funds the staffing at Shiloh Place. WWH also does fundraising for program resources such as food, transportation, etc.

Building trusting relationships with tenants is key to the success of the WWH model, and a Community Committee is formed for each building to help guide the approach and develop the monthly schedule of activities. Each new tenant is provided with a welcome basket with items such as cleaning supplies, linens, etc., to start their experience on a positive note. WWH offers a variety of community building programs that are designed to provide lowbarrier opportunities for social connection and/or provide tenants with opportunities to contribute and find a sense of purpose.

Examples of community building programs include morning coffee, seated exercise classes, food programs, outings, visits if the tenant is in hospital, and room cleaning programs. The programs are run by staff to ensure consistency, but tenants are encouraged to contribute and share their skills through volunteering to teach classes, help set up for activities, or assist with programs in other ways. External volunteers also support some of the programs.

The WWH model can play an important role in supporting tenants to age in place and preventing crisis-driven evictions. WWH's tenant support workers are regularly on-site to provide one-on-one support services such as information and referral, assistance with forms and applications for benefits, advocating for and helping to coordinate health care services, and mediating issues with landlords. Depending on the complexity of the tenants' needs, staff are onsite at each building between 3 to 7 days a week.

WWH views their position as an independent non-profit organization as a contributor to the success of the model, as tenants are often reluctant to ask for help or disclose health or personal issues to their landlord. Tenant support workers are in regular contact with the tenants, so they can monitor tenants' health and wellbeing and help connect them with health and community services as needs emerge. If care needs begin to exceed what can safely be provided in the building, the tenant support workers initiate conversations with the tenant about transitioning them to assisted living or long-term care. The tenant support workers also seek to proactively address or mediate issues that may put the tenancy of a senior at risk (e.g., arranging a volunteer team to assist with cleaning units, referral to adult guardianship programs if needed, helping to setup repayment plans if a tenant is behind on their rent).

WWH estimates that the cost of their model ranges from \$1 per tenant per day to \$8 per tenant per day depending on the needed intensity of programs and services. A preliminary 6-month evaluation of the WWH model was conducted by researchers from Simon Fraser University at four pilot sites. Data was collected from 143 tenants at the pilot sites and 91 tenants from comparison sites. Due to the small sample size and short period of study, further research is required to determine the full impacts of the model, but there were promising results in several areas. At the pilot sites, a key finding was that the intervention resulted in increases over time in participants' sense of belonging, sense of purpose and meaning in life, and feelings that they were valuable to others. Positive trends were also observed for mental health and some types of social support, particularly for those with higher levels of participation in the activities and services. In the qualitative feedback, participants emphasized the impacts the programming has on their mental health and social connectedness, and how the program is a lifeline for lonely and isolated older adults.

"It pulled me right up to the surface. I wasn't very sociable at all. Whole Way House was the best thing that's happened because it helps your sanity. You get to be seen [rather than] sit in your room in solitary confinement all the time. They've got to keep this going. Don't shut it down."

"It gets me out of bed and it gives me something to do. I know somebody's going to be down here and I can talk to people. I have a different outlook now on life. So, everything's better. Everything."
### **Appendix 8. SRO Hub Program - Tenant Based Initiatives**

The <u>SRO Hub Program</u> is a unique model that supports tenants to have a voice in decision making and employs tenants to support other tenants living in their buildings. The program was established in 2020 in eight privately-owned SROs in the Downtown Eastside of Vancouver by the SRO Collaborative. Single room occupancy hotels (SROs) are a type of low-income housing that consist of a small room with no private bathroom or kitchen. In the SROs, approximately 50% of the tenants are aged 50 and up.

The SRO Hub Program is built upon community organizing principles, and empowers and supports tenants to build relationships, provide mutual aid, and collectively identify issues and solutions. Goals of the program include: 1) Preventing evictions and homelessness and 2) Improving the affordability, habitability, health, sense of belonging, and safety of SROs. When possible, the SRO HUB Program attempts to build relationships with landlords and demonstrate the value of the tenant-based initiatives, although the programs operate even if the landlords are not engaged or supportive.

Tenant-based initiatives include:

- Outreach organizers who routinely survey their neighbours to identify unmet needs and issues and connect them to resources;
- Food programs where tenants cook, and/or distribute food to their neighbours;
- Organizing to stop the effects of extreme heat;
- Fire prevention;
- Education on community organizing and tenant rights;
- Overdose response training and naloxone kits distribution;

- The BOLTS program provides maintenance and housekeeping supports (e.g., painting, decluttering) via peers; and
- Connecting Indigenous tenants to Elders and knowledge keepers and provision of holistic wellness supports.

The tenant who leads each initiative in their building receives a stipend or honorarium to support their work. SRO Collaborative staff do outreach in the buildings to understand their communities, identify potential tenant leaders, and offer them coaching and support.

To date, the tenant-based initiatives have been strongly embraced by the SRO tenants. For example, over April 2020 to October 2022, the BOLTS team completed 2,629 maintenance jobs and the food programs provided 44,000 prepared meals. The tenant based initiatives have immediate positive impacts on the tenants receiving the services (e.g., increase food security, prevent overdoses, create sense of pride in building), as well as those leading the initiatives.

"As I've just told you, I'm now elderly, officially, and uh, the great danger of being a single old man is isolation! And isolation and loneliness kills you, eventually. So, the SRO-C helps mitigate that; I'm connected, I have friends, I'm doing something, a sense of accomplishment." Some of the landlords are also beginning to see the value of the BOLTS teams and SRO Hub's community development approach.

The SRO Collaborative is currently working on a governance project whereby tenants in the participating buildings can be members of their Tenant Building Committee, and an Organizing Committee is formed to lead the tenant-based initiatives, which are developed based on tenant needs and interests, as well as available resources.

The <u>SRO Hub Tenant Organizing Roadmap</u> provides more information on the SRO Hub organizing process.

The tenant-based initiatives also contribute more broadly to building community and the capacity of the SRO Hub Program to advocate with landlords, government, and other policymakers. One example is the SRO Vacancy Control Bylaw implemented by the City of Vancouver to regulate how much landlords can increase rents between tenancies. Because the controls put in place by the province to limit annual rental increases only apply when a unit is tenanted, landlords have a strong motivation to renovict/evict longstanding tenants so they can significantly raise the rents. The SRO Collaborative worked with the City to develop an approach for the bylaw that does not put the onus on the tenants to make complaints, but rather requires landlords to submit rental data to the City. This data can be checked against data the SRO Collaborative collects from tenants to ensure landlords are being truthful. In the spring of 2022, two landlords challenged the right of the municipality to implement such a bylaw in court, with the court ruling in favour of the landlords in August 2022. However, an appeal is underway and scheduled to be heard in late 2023.

### **Appendix 9. Seniors Housing Information and Navigation Ease**

### SHINE (Seniors Housing Information and

Navigation Ease) is a collaborative province-wide initiative that supports older adults aged 60+ at risk of homelessness to navigate housing, mental health, and addiction services. The program is jointly funded by the Ministry of Health and Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions. Seniors Services Society of BC is the lead organization for the initiative and collaborates with nine partner organizations (West End Seniors' Network, Nanaimo Family Life Association, Prince George Council of Seniors, Seniors Outreach Services Society, Langley Senior Resources Society, Brella Community Services Society, Beacon Community Services, OneSky Community Resources, and Richmond Cares, Richmond Gives) to offer SHINE programs in all five regions of the province.

Key components of the SHINE program include: 1) Housing navigation and information and referral, 2) Connecting seniors to other support services, and 3) Training and knowledge mobilization (e.g., offering housing navigation training, educational podcasts, self-advocacy supports). SHINE housing navigators can assist seniors with housing needs such as advising on tenant rights, applying for housing and filling out forms, and mediation and conflict resolution with landlords. While SHINE was designed to support housing navigation, many of the seniors accessing the program have complex needs, and therefore also receive help with navigating a range of needs beyond housing (e.g., income benefits, digital technology literacy, health services).

In addition to providing assistance directly to individual seniors, SHINE also engages in advocacy to address process and policy issues that impact the housing stability of seniors. For example, the transition off of provincial disability or income assistance at age 65 to federal retirement income benefits was causing an income gap for some seniors. Therefore, SHINE advocated to the Ministry of Social Development and Poverty Reduction to ensure case managers will connect individuals turning 65 to federal retirement income benefits.

### **Appendix 10. Temporary Housing Program**

The <u>Temporary Housing Program (THP)</u> is a program operated by Seniors Services Society of BC that provide short-term housing to Metro Vancouver seniors who are experiencing the loss of their home for a range of reasons (e.g., change in financial situation, building redevelopment, fleeing abuse). THP addresses the lack of senior-specific shelter options and fills a gap for seniors aged 60+ who are experiencing first-time homelessness.

Through the program, the senior can stay in a studio apartment for between 3-6 months, during which time a case worker works with them to organize their finances and secure permanent housing. Rent is 45% of the individual's monthly gross income (or \$425 if they are a client of the Ministry of Social Development and Poverty Reduction).

Seniors Services Society of BC has developed strong relationships with many landlords which they are able to leverage when searching for housing options. After securing permanent housing, the case worker continues to provide support to the senior for up to three months.

Currently, the THP runs 15 units in New Westminster in partnership with BC Housing and there is very high demand for the units. There are plans to add an additional 38 units over the next two years.





@UnitedWay\_BC





@UnitedWayBritishColumbia

@unitedwaybritishcolumbia



@unitedway\_bc



United Way British Columbia



**United Way** British Columbia

Working with communities in BC's North, Interior, Lower Mainland, Central & Northern Vancouver Island

4543 Canada Way Burnaby, B.C. V5G 4T4 P 604.294.8929 | F 604.293.0220

Charitable registration number: BN 108160185 RR0001



Page 78 of 155

## 2024 Budget Presentation Review

January 16, 2024 Committee of the Whole

. . . . . .



TOWN of CRESTON

## 2024 General Budget Overview

### Revenue

Property Taxes and Other Taxes and Assessments	essments
Fees & Charges	
Other (grants, etc.)	
Gas Tax	
Estimated Revenues	

### Uses of funds (before capital)

Operating Budget (Existing Levels of Service) Additions to Core Debt Payments Transfer to Reserves (PW Equip, FD Equip, etc.)

**Remaining Current Year Budget Surplus** 

 Used to fund one-time projects & capital before using other forms of funding such as reserves and third party contributions

\$5,763,323 \$2,278,271 \$2,750,149 \$575,000 \$**11,366,943**  \$9,442,854 \$234,298 \$233,064 \$830,911 \$10,741,361 **\$625,582** 

Monday, January-15-24

Page 80 of 155

# **Obligated Core Expense Increases**

Description	Est. Cost Increase	Taxation Implication
Wages & Benefits	\$ 83,544	1.60%
CUPE Collective Agreement	\$66,413	1.27%
Canada Pension Plan (Employer Contribution)	\$ 10,613	0.20%
Pension, Benefits, WCB, El	\$ 33,567	0.64%
Electricity and Gas	\$ 33,450	0.64%
Property and Liability Insurance	\$ 7,600	0.15%
Other increases and decreases (net amount)	\$ 2,909	0.06%
Increases related to 2023 Projects (Market Park)	\$ 25,000	0.48%
Police Tax – RCMP Municipal Contract	\$103,957	1.99%
TOTAL	\$367,053	7.03%

Monday, January-15-24

CRESTON C VALLEY

Page 81 of 155

# **Obligated Core Revenue Increases**

		Contraction of the second of the second
Description	Est. Revenue Increase	Taxation Implication
Administrative Recoveries	\$ 25,250	0.48%
1% Utility Tax	\$ 8,454	0.16%
Cemetery Revenues	\$ 4,677	0.09%
COTR Fire Program	\$ 48,643	0.93%
Fire Service Fee Increase	\$ 25,450	0.49%
Other increases and decreases (net amount)	\$ 19,782	0.24%
Victim Services and Police Revenue Increases	<u>\$ 12,448</u>	0.38%
TOTAL	\$144,674	2.77%

Monday, January-15-24

CRESTON C VALLEY

Page 82 of 155

## Requested Core Increases

Description	Total Cost	Savings Anticipated	Estimated Revenue Increase	2024 Tax Implication	2025 Tax Implication
Victim Services to full-time (new RDCK contr.)	\$ 30,190 \$	0 \$	<b>\$38,013</b>	(0.15%)	0.00%
IT Automation/Records Management	\$ 45,000 \$ 12,000	\$ 12,000	¢	0.34%	0.29%
New Procurement Coordinator (May Hire)	\$110,691	\$ 80,000	Ş	0.75%	0.16%
Emergency Services Program (May Hire)	\$ 121,891	\$ 0	\$ 75,000	0.30%	0.60%
Fire Service Support Supervisor (May Hire)	\$ 113,537	\$40,000	\$ 46,937	0.00%	0.51%
Tree Planting Program	\$ 23,500 \$ 0	¢ 0	\$10,000	0.26%	0.00%
TOTAL	\$444,809 \$132,000	\$132,000	\$169,950	1.50%	1.56%
					「「「「「「「」」」

Monday, January-15-24

CRESTON C VALLEY

TOWN of CRESTON

**Obligated Optional** 

Taxation Implication	0.54%	ç.,		0.54%	
Est. Cost	\$28,500	ć		\$28,500	
Description	Council Benefits Change (2022 Decision)	Service Level increases /reductions		TOTAL	

Monday, January-15-24

CRESTON CVALLEY

TOWN of CREST

Page 84 of 155

## Preliminary 2024 Budget

(based on Preliminary Budget presented on November 28, 2023 with revisions)

## Proposed 2024 Municipal Tax Increase Effect

	Percent	Dollars
CPI Tax Increase (based on known/contractual increases only)	6.22%	6.22% \$ 324,786
Estimate Non-Market Change Increase	(0.74%) (\$	(\$ 38,619)
Net Effect of Taxation for CPI on Existing Property Taxpayers	5.48%	5.48% \$ 286,167
Other Net Core Inc./Dec. +/-% (as proposed )	1.98%	\$103,262
Core Revenue Increases	(2.73%)	(\$142,336)
Infrastructure Replacement Reserve Funding	0.57%	\$ 30,000
Net Increase for Municipal Operational Purposes	5.31%	\$ 277,093
Municipal Police Tax – RCMP Increases	1.99%	1.99% \$ 103,957
Total Net Increase for Municipal Operations & Policing	7.30%	\$ 381,050
* Effective rate for average house is 6.14% due to higher assessments for light industry and commercial properties using prior year tax class multiples. Council will set the multiple rates in April which would affect this.	nercial propertie	s using prior year

Monday, January-15-



## **General Fund Budget**

### Questions

### Discussion



Monday, January-15-24



Page 86 of 155

### Next Steps

- <sup>1</sup> January 23, 2024
- Review of General Fund One-time Projects and Capital Projects
- February 6, 2024
- Review or 5 Year Plan considering Public Comments & strategic planning (COTW)
- February 27, 2024
- Public Budget Meeting (at Council) 1st, 2nd, and 3rd Readings of 2024 to 2028 Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw
- March 12, 2024
- Adoption of 2024 to 2028 Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw
- April 11, 2024
- Review of Tax Rates (Special COTW)

Monday, January-15-24

CRESTON Q VALLEY



# **Reserve Balances Based on Proposed Budget**

3,500,000



General - Operating Surplus LILO General Capital Reserves

CRESTON Q VALLEY

dav lanuary-15-24

Monday, January-15-24

Page 89 of 155

## General Fund Requested One-Time Projects

Description	Total Cost	Third Party Funding	Town Reserve	Operations and Surplus
General Government	\$ 276,403	\$ 208,403	\$ 1,000	\$ 67,000
Corporate Services	\$ 15,400	\$	\$ 0	\$ 15,400
Development Services	\$ 829,360	\$ 649,082	\$ 27,918	\$ 152,360
Emergency Services	\$ 130,000	\$ 76,400	\$ 0	\$ 53,600
Bylaw & Building Services	\$ 24,751	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 24,751
Infrastructure Services	\$ 279,500	\$ 240,000	\$ 27,500	\$ 12,000
TOTAL	\$1,555,414 \$1,173,885	\$1,173,885	\$ 56,418 \$ 325,111	\$ 325,111

Monday, January-15-24

CRESTON CVALLEY

12

Page 90 of 155

### General Fund Capital Projects

Descrintion	Total	Third Party Town	Town	Government Operations	Onerations
	Cost	Funding	Reserve	Grants	and Surplus
General Asset Management	\$ 1,859,500	\$ 70,989	\$ 979,400	\$ 1,859,500 \$ 70,989 \$ 979,400 \$ 668,000 \$ 141,111	\$ 141,111
New Additions to Levels of Services	\$15,075,500 \$ 260,000	\$ 260,000	\$ 101,500	\$14,474,000 \$ 240,000	\$ 240,000
Downtown Improvements	\$ 725,000 \$ 0 \$ 725,000	\$ \$	\$ 725,000	\$ 152,360	\$ 152,360
Parks Improvements	\$ 1,116,000 \$ 76,400 \$	\$ 76,400		0 \$ 1,070,000 \$ 46,000	\$ 46,000
Trails and Sidewalks	\$ 228,585 \$ 0 \$	\$ 0		0 \$ 160,010 \$ 68,575	\$ 68,575
TOTAL	\$19,004,585 \$ 330.989	\$ 330.989	\$1,805,900	\$1,805,900 \$16,372,010 \$495,686	\$ 495,686

Monday, January-15-24

### **COUNCIL DIRECTION REQUEST (CDR)**

**Town of Creston** 



ACTION DATE: January 16, 2024

SUBJECT: Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 1986 – Fences and Housekeeping

SUGGESTED FOLLOW-UP ACTION: THAT the Committee of the Whole RECOMMENDS that Council DIRECT Staff to draft a zoning amendment bylaw for consideration of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting; THAT Council DIRECT Staff to draft a fees and charges amendment bylaw for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting; AND FURTHER THAT, Council repeal Fence Height Policy SER-005-055.

CAO COMMENTS: Any additional comments regarding the suggestion.

BACKGROUND	Staff Briefing Note:	Attached 🛛	Available 🗌	Nil 🗖

### 1. DEFINE THE TOPIC

KEY INFORMATION: Fence Height Policy (SER-005-055) outlines guidelines to establish the maximum height of residential fences (see Appendix A). Staff propose a zoning amendment bylaw to expand on this policy and provide enforceable fence regulations. Fence regulation within the Zoning Bylaw, is a proactive approach to address disputes. The amendment bylaw would also include housekeeping updates.

**RELEVANT OBSERVATIONS:** There are currently no enforceable fence regulations. In some cases, residential property owners have added fencing in excess of 8ft in height or with materials that reflect heat at another property.

STRATEGIC RELEVANCE: Livability. Service Excellence.

**ESSENTIAL QUESTION:** Does Council want to regulate residential fences?

### 2. DETERMINE DESIRED OUTCOMES if the essential question is addressed.

KEY RESULT: Clear rules regarding residential fences.

**DESIRED BENEFITS OF KEY RESULT:** Clarity for Town of Creston residents.

**REQUISITES:** 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup>, 3<sup>rd</sup> readings, Adoption, Ministry of Transportation approval.

**UNINTENDED OUTCOMES:** Increased administration and enforcement.

### 3. EXPLORE RESPONSE OPTIONS to achieve the key result (Pros & Cons)

- 1. Council direct Staff to repeal Fence Height Policy (SER-005-055) and prepare draft bylaws as outlined in the Staff Briefing Note for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting;
- 2. Council refer to Staff for further information; or,
- 3. Other, as per Council direction.

Submitted by:

Joel Comer, MCPD

CAO Reviewed by:



**DATE:** 01/16/2024

Michael Moore, Chief Administrative Officer					
Joel Comer, Manager of Community Planning and Development					
Community Planning and Development					

### **PURPOSE / ISSUE:**

Fence Height Policy (SER-005-055) outlines guidelines to establish the maximum height for residential fences. The guidelines suggests that residential fences should be no taller than 1.8m (6ft.). Staff propose a zoning amendment bylaw to expand on this policy and provide enforceable fence regulations. Staff deal with fence disputes each year, with no bylaw support to resolve issues. Fence regulation within the Zoning Bylaw, is a proactive approach to address disputes. The amendment bylaw would also include housekeeping updates.

### **BACKGROUND:**

Introducing a maximum fence height, and a combined maximum height for fences and retaining walls will:

- Result in safer construction;
- Reduce neighbour fencing disputes;
- Reduced staff time addressing fence concerns;
- Result in more desirable looking fences; and,
- Remove the ability for individuals to unnaturally manipulate land to get around height restrictions.

### **Fencing Requirements**

Staff propose including fence regulations within Section 6.0: Screening and Landscaping Requirements. Key aspects proposed to be included are:

- 1. Permitted fence materials;
- 2. Screening requirements for waste receptacles;
- 3. Fencing requirements for swimming pools;
- 4. Maximum fence height;
- 5. Maximum fence and retaining wall heights; and,
- 6. Diagrams to increase usability and aid in bylaw interpretation.

### **Proposed Regulations**

- 1. Screening and Fencing Materials
  - Prohibiting the use of reflective materials, tarps, and sheet metal in all zones.
  - Prohibit barbed wire, razor wire, electrified wire, and unfinished corrugated metal in all residential zones.

### **Town of Creston**

- Creston Notwithstanding the above, residential properties with farm uses may be permitted to use barbed wire or electrified wire, and properties with hens or horses may be permitted to use
- electrified wire. 2. Waste Receptacle Screening Requirements
  - For lots with a commercial, community use, industrial, or multi-family residential:
    - a minimum of one common storage area for the collection of recycled materials and waste.
    - all storage areas must be enclosed on at least three (3) sides by a decorative solid Fence equivalent in height to the waste, recycling, or compost container.
    - cannot be located within a Lot's Front setback or within 3.0 metres of a Lot's Front lot line, whichever is greater.
- 3. Swimming Pools
  - a solid fence of a least 1.5 metres in height must be erected around the perimeter of the swimming pool area.
- 4. Fence Height residential uses
  - Cannot exceed the maximum height indicated in Figures 1 and 2. See below.



Figure 1: Maximum Fence height

Page 93 of 155

ESTON





Figure 2: Maximum Fence height in conjunction with a retaining wall





### **Housekeeping Amendments**

Staff identified the following housekeeping amendments to improve bylaw usability and interpretation:

Section	Current Regulation	Proposed Regulation	Rational
2.0 Definitions	iii. <mark>w</mark> here both the Principal	iii. Where both the Principal building	Grammar
Accessory	building and Accessory dwelling	and Accessory dwelling unit	
dwelling unit	unit constitute a single real estate	constitute a single real estate entity.	
	entity.		
2.0 Definitions	means a residential Building, other	means a residential Building, and	Removed "without meals" to
Boarding,	than a hotel or motel, or other	specifically excludes hotels or	separate boarding, rooming or
rooming or	Tourist accommodation or	motels, or other Tourist	lodging home from other tourist
lodging home	services, containing two (2) or	accommodation or services,	accommodation services.
	more sleeping rooms for the	containing two (2) or more sleeping	
	accommodation of boarders with	rooms for the accommodation of	
	or without meals, for periods	boarders with meals, for periods	
	greater than thirty (30) days. The	greater than thirty (30) days. The	
	preparation of meals within the	preparation of meals within the	
	rented units is prohibited.	rented units is prohibited.	
2.0 Definitions	means a physical or visual barrier	means a physical barrier formed by	New definition. Current
Fence	formed by a trellis, wooden or	a wooden, metal, louver, masonry,	definition for fence includes
	masonry matierals, louver, solid	lattice, or similar materials, or a	"screening". Proposed update
	hedge of trees or shrubs, or a	combination thereof enclosing,	separates "screen" from "fence"
	combination thereof.	bordering, or dividing a parcel of	to increase clarity when applying
		land.	Section 6, fence requirements.
2.0 Definitions	means a single Storey, Detached	means a single Storey, Detached	Garden suites are independent
Garden suite	accessory dwelling unit which is	accessory dwelling unit which is not	structures.
	not located above an Accessory	located above <mark>or adjacent</mark> to an	
	building.	Accessory building	
2.0 Definitions	means a home constructed in a	means a home constructed in a	Homes built to A277 standards
Modular Home	factory to CSA A277 standards,	factory to CSA A277 standards,	are considered single family
	complying with the BC Building	complying with the BC Building	homes when on foundation in
	Code, transported to a building	Code, transported to a building site	compliance with the Building
	site on a flat-deck trailer and	on a flat-deck trailer and placed on a	Code. Updated definition clarifies
	placed on a permanent	permanent foundation. For the	this.
	foundation.	purposes of this bylaw, a modular	
		home is considered a Single family dwelling.	
		uwening.	
2.0 Definitions	means a Lot which includes a strip	means a Lot which includes a strip of	Highlighted section in current
Panhandle lot	of land, or panhandle, to provide	land, or panhandle, with a width less	definition includes regulations.
	principle vehicle access from a	than the Minimum Lot Frontage, to	Regulations are more suited for
	street to the developable area of a	provide principal vehicle access from	Section 3.0 General Compliance,
	Lot. Structures are not permitted	a street to the developable area of a	Prohibitions and Regulations,
	<mark>in panhandle areas. The</mark>	Lot (see <i>Fig. 2.3</i> ).	opposed to the definition itself.
	panhandle area is not included in		



	density or Lot coverage calculations (see Fig. 2.3)		
2.0 Definitions Screen	New definition.	Screen means a visual barrier formed by a Fence, hedge, trellis, or combination thereof.	
2.0 Definitions Townhouse	means a Multi-family dwelling of at least two (2) Buildings connected by a common sidewall, where each Building is a minimum of two (2) Storeys, and where each Storey contains an individual Dwelling unit occupied or intended to be occupied as the permanent residece of one (1) Family.	means a Multi-family dwelling of at least two (2) Buildings connected by a common sidewall, where each Building is a minimum of two (2) Storeys, and where each Storey contains an individual Dwelling unit occupied or intended to be occupied as the permanent residence of one (1) Family.	Grammar
3.0 General Compliance, Prohibitions and Regulations – 3.4.2	New regulation.	3.4.2 Where a Lot includes a Panhandle, the panhandle area is not included in the allowable density calculation.	Currently included in definition. Regulation is more appropriate in Section 3.0.
3.0 General Compliance, Prohibitions and Regulations – 3.5.2	Except in the Commercial - Downtown Core (CDC) Zone, no Fence, wall or Structure, other than a permitted Principal building or Accessory building shall be erected to a greater Height than 1.1 metres so as to obstruct vision clearance in the area bounded by:	Except in the Commercial - Downtown Core (CDC) Zone, no Fence, wall, Structure, Screen, or landscaping, other than a permitted Principal building or Accessory building shall be erected to a height greater than 1.1 metres so as to obstruct vision clearance in the area bounded by:	Inclusion of Screen and landscaping. Landscaping is often the visual barrier that impacts vehicle traffic on corners.
3.0 General Compliance, Prohibitions and Regulations – 3.5.3	New regulation.	In no case shall uncovered steps, wheelchair ramps, or uncovered decks be located closer than 1 metre from any property line.	Currently, in some zones, this infrastructure could intersect with property lines.
3.0 General Compliance, Prohibitions and Regulations – 3.6.2	New regulation.	Where a Lot includes a Panhandle, the panhandle area is not included in the Lot coverage calculation.	Currently included in definition. Regulation is more appropriate in Section 3.0.
3.0 General Compliance, Prohibitions and	New regulation.	Where a Lot includes a Panhandle, no Structures are permitted in the panhandle area.	Currently included in definition. Regulation is more appropriate in Section 3.0.



Regulations – 3.6.5			
4.0 General Use Provisions and Regulations – 4.1.2	<ul> <li>Applications for Temporary Use Permits will be considered in the following Zones: <ol> <li>Commercial – Downtown Core (CDC);</li> <li>Commercial - General (CG);</li> <li>Commercial - Highway Service (CHS);</li> <li>Commercial - Neighbourhood (CN);</li> <li>Northwest Boulevard Comprehensive Development (CDNW);</li> <li>Industrial – General (IG); and, vii.Industrial – Heavy (IH).</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Applications for Temporary Use Permits will be considered in the following Zones: <ol> <li>Commercial – Downtown Core (CDC);</li> <li>Commercial - General (CG);</li> <li>Commercial - Highway Service (CHS);</li> <li>Commercial - Neighbourhood (CN);</li> <li>Northwest Boulevard Comprehensive Development (CDNW);</li> <li>Industrial – General (IG);</li> <li>Industrial – Heavy (IH); and,</li> <li>Community Use (CU).</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	Inclusion of Community Use zone allows for properties zoned from community use to be eligible for temporary use permits.
4.0 General Use Provisions and Regulations – 4.4	ix. where permitted in Residential Zones, be painted or clad in a colour and material which are complementary to the primary Dwelling unit; and,	ix. where permitted in Residential Zones, Commercial Downtown Core, Commercial General, Commercial Neighbourhood Zones, be painted or clad in a colour and material which are complementary to the Principal building; and,	Shipping containers may be used as an accessory building within the Commercial Downtown Core, Commercial General and Commercial Neighbourhood zones. The proposed regulation ensure that shipping containers used as accessory buildings, look similar to a traditional building and avoid unsightly containers within our commercial areas. The proposed regulation does not impact the Commercial – Highway Service, Industrial – General, or Industrial – Heavy zones.
4.0 General Use Provisions and Regulations – 4.4.2	No more than one (1) Shipping container for use as an Accessory building is permitted within the Agriculture (AG), Residential - Low Density (R1), Residential - Zero Lot Line (R2), Residential - Medium Density (R3), Residential - High Density (R4), Residential - High Density (R4), Residential - Rural (R5), Residential - Manufactured Home Park (R6), Commercial - Downtown Core (CDC), Commercial - General (CG), Commercial - Neighbourhood	4.4.2 No more than one (1) Shipping container for use as an Accessory building is permitted within any zone, excluding the Commercial – Highway Service (CHS), Industrial – General (IG), or Industrial – Heavy (IH) zones.	The current regulation limits all zones to one shipping container, with the exception of the CHS, IG, IH, and Community Use Zones. The proposed regulation would limit Community Use zones to one shipping container as an accessory building.



	(CN), and Northwest Boulevard Comprehensive Development (CDNW) Zones.		
5.0 Off-street Parking and Loading – 5.1.6	New regulation.	Off-street loading spaces must not be utilized as Off-street parking spaces.	Current bylaw prohibits the use of off-street parking spaces as loading spaces. Inclusion of the reverse provides clarity that off- street loading and off-street parking spaces are not interchangeable.
5.0 Off-street Parking and Loading – 5.6.2	New regulation.	Where a Building, Structure, or Lot contains multiple uses, parking calculations will be determined for each use and will be added together for a total number of required Parking or Loading spaces.	The addition of this clause adds flexibility and results in more accurate parking area requirements for mixed-use buildings.
5.0 Off-street Parking and Loading – Table 5.1	See Appendix B.	See Appendix C.	Allowing for parking requirements to be determined by use, opposed to Gross floor area results in more accurate parking area requirements for mixed-use buildings.
7.2 Residential Low Density - 7.2.6.1	Usable private open space must be provided for each Dwelling unit on a Lot, which shall reflect a minimum of 10% of the Gross floor area of the Dwelling unit and in no case shall be less than 5.6 sqaure metres.	Usable private open space must be provided for each Dwelling unit on a Lot, which shall reflect a minimum of 10% of the Gross floor area of the Dwelling unit and in no case shall be less than 5.6 square metres.	Grammar.
7.4 Residential Medium Density - 7.4.2.2	Community care facility, only within a Single family dwelling	Community care facility.	Allows multi-family buildings to have care facilities, such as daycares, as an accessory use, not just within a single family dwelling.
7.5 Residential High Density – 7.5.2.1	New regulation.	Community Care Facility	Allows multi-family buildings to have care facilities, such as daycares, as an accessory use.
7.9 Commercial General – 7.9.2.1	xxvi. Tire shop, specific only to the propery located at: 1816 Canyon Street, legally described as Lots 9, 10 and 11, District Lot 891, Kootenay District, Plan 1970 (PIDs: 009-445-692, 009- 445-731, and 009-445-765).	xxvi. Tire shop, specific only to the property located at: 1816 Canyon Street, legally described as Lots 9, 10 and 11, District Lot 891, Kootenay District, Plan 1970 (PID: 009-445- 692, 009-445-731, and 009-445- 765).	Grammar.
7.10 Commercial Highway	New regulation.	xli. Mobile food vendor. xlii. Mobile retail vendor.	Allows for mobile food and retail as principal uses.





Service – 7.10.2.1			
7.15	New regulation.	x. Mobile food vendor.	Allows for mobile food and retail
Community		xi. Mobile retail vendor.	as accessory uses.
Use – 7.15.2.2			
Schedule C –	Lot 2, Distrtic Lot 892, Kootenay	Lot 2, <mark>District</mark> Lot 892, Kootenay	Spelling.
CHS Zone Site	District, Plan 16809: PID: 006-782-	District, Plan 16809: PID: 006-782-	
Specific	906	906	
<b>Residential Use</b>			

### **CURRENT SITUATION:**

Fence Height Policy SER-005-055 establishes a fence height guideline of 1.8m. There are no other fence regulations such as fence material. The policy is a guideline and is not enforceable under bylaw. Staff recommend amending the Fees and Charges Bylaw to allow for a fence variance, at a lower cost (\$100) then the current development variance fee of \$750.

### **KEY CONSIDERATIONS:**

The proposed bylaw provides clarity for Staff and Town of Creston residents when constructing or disputing residential fences. Further, the housekeeping updates provide clarity and increase overall usability of the Zoning Bylaw.

### **OPTIONS FOR FOLLOW-UP ACTION:**

- 1. Council direct Staff to repeal Fence Height Policy (SER-005-055) and prepare a draft bylaw as outlined in the Staff Briefing Note for 1st and 2nd Readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting;
- 2. Council refer to Staff for further information; or,
- 3. Other, as per Council direction.

Submitted by:

Joel Comer, MCPD

Reviewed by:

CAO Michael Moore. CAO



POLICY:

SER-005-055

### **Fence Height Policy**

**PURPOSE** To establish guidelines regarding the height of residential fences.

**SCOPE** All Town of Creston residentially zoned fences.

**POLICY** The maximum height for fences in a Residential Zone shall be 1.8 meters (6 feet).

### POLICY RECORD

Date Approved by Council:	November 27, 2000	Resolution No.	#910-00
Next Review Date:		Policy No:	
Last Review Date:		Replaces:	
Administrative Review:			

### 5.0: OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING

### Table 5.1: Off-Street Parking

Use	Parking Space Requirements (MINIMUMS)		
Residential (R) Uses:			
• Single family dwelling; Duplex; Accessory dwelling unit	<ul> <li>1 per <i>Dwelling unit.</i></li> </ul>		
Dwelling unit as Accessory use in Commercial or Industrial Zone	<ul> <li>1 per <i>Dwelling unit</i>.</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Multi-family dwelling; Apartment dwelling</li> <li>Manufactured home park</li> <li>Senior citizen facility</li> <li>Boarding, rooming or lodging house</li> <li>Home occupation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1.25 per <i>Dwelling unit.</i></li> <li>1.25 per <i>Dwelling unit.</i></li> <li>1 per 3 units.</li> <li>1 per 2 units.</li> <li>1 per <i>Home occupation</i> employee.</li> </ul>		
» Bed and breakfast	» 1 per guest room.		
<ul> <li>Commercial (C) Uses:</li> <li>General</li> <li>Business or professional office; Health and medical services</li> <li>Tourist accommodation</li> <li>Auto repair or tire shop</li> <li>Hardware store; Plant nursery; Grocery store; Department store</li> </ul>	<ul><li> 1 per guest room.</li><li> 3 per service bay.</li></ul>		
<ul> <li>Industrial (I) Uses:</li> <li>General</li> <li>Exceptions:</li> <li>Warehousing or wholesale, and storage Buildings</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1 per each 93 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i>; and, 1 per each 46.5 sq. m. of display, rental or retail floor area.</li> <li>1 per each 186 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i>; and, 1 per each 46.5 sq. m. of display, rental or retail floor area.</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Other Uses:</li> <li>Hospital</li> <li>Assembly facility; Outdoor recreation or entertainment</li> <li>Indoor recreation or entertainment</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1 per 4 hospital beds</li> <li>The greater of: 1 per 10 seats, or 1 per 18.6 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i> with fixed seating; and, 1 per 9.6 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i> without fixed seating, excluding playing surfaces and stages.</li> <li>1 per 46.5 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i>; and, 1 per each 10 spectator seats, excluding playing surfaces and stages.</li> </ul>		
<ul><li>Daycare</li><li>Primary or elementary school</li><li>Secondary or post-secondary school</li></ul>	<ul><li>1 per employee.</li><li>1.5 per classroom.</li><li>4 per classroom.</li></ul>		

### Table 5.2: Off-Street Loading

Use	Loading Space Requirements (MINIMUMS)	
All Community Use Zone uses		
<ul> <li>less than or equal to 2790 sq. m.</li> </ul>	1 space	
more than 2790 sq. m.	2 spaces	
All commercial and industrial warehousing,		
manufacturing and storage with a <i>Gross floor area</i> of:		
<ul> <li>less than or equal to 1860 sq. m.</li> </ul>	1 space	
more than 1860 sq. m.	2 spaces	

### TOWN OF CRESTON ZONING BYLAW NO. 1958, 2022

Use	Parking Space Requirements (MINIMUMS)
<ul> <li>Residential (R) Uses:</li> <li>Single family dwelling; Duplex; Accessory dwelling unit</li> </ul>	• 1 per <i>Dwelling unit.</i>
Dwelling unit as Accessory use in Commercial or Industrial Zone	<ul> <li>1 per <i>Dwelling unit</i>.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Multi-family dwelling; Apartment dwelling</li> <li>Manufactured home park</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1.25 per <i>Dwelling unit.</i></li> <li>1.25 per <i>Dwelling unit.</i></li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Senior citizen facility</li> <li>Boarding, rooming or lodging house</li> <li>Home occupation <ul> <li>Bed and breakfast</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1 per 3 units.</li> <li>1 per 2 units.</li> <li>1 per <i>Home occupation</i> employee.</li> <li>1 per quest recem</li> </ul>
	» 1 per guest room.
<ul> <li>Commercial (C) Uses:</li> <li>Business or professional office; Health and medical services</li> <li>Tourist accommodation</li> <li>Auto repair or tire shop</li> <li>Hardware store; Plant nursery; Grocery store; Department store</li> <li>Retail or Personal service</li> <li>General</li> <li>All other commercial uses</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1 space per 28 sq. m. of <i>Business office, professional</i> office, or Health and medical services use.</li> <li>1 per guest room.</li> <li>3 per service bay.</li> <li>1 per 50 sq. m. of Hardware store, Plant nursery, Grocery store, or Department store use.</li> <li>1 space per 28 sq. m. of <i>Retail</i> and <i>Personal service</i> use.</li> <li>1 space per 28 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i>.</li> </ul>
	1 space per 46.5 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area.</i>
<ul> <li>Industrial (I) Uses:</li> <li>General</li> <li>Exceptions:</li> <li>Warehousing or wholesale, and storage Buildings</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1 per each 93 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i>; and, 1 per each 46.5 sq. m. of display, rental or retail floor area.</li> <li>1 per each 186 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i>; and, 1 per each 46.5 sq. m. of display, rental or retail floor area.</li> </ul>
Other Uses:	
<ul> <li>Hospital</li> <li>Assembly facility; Outdoor recreation or entertainment</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1 per 4 hospital beds</li> <li>The greater of: 1 per 10 seats, or 1 per 18.6 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i> with fixed seating; and, 1 per 9.6 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i> without fixed seating, excluding playing surfaces and stages.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Indoor recreation or entertainment</li> <li>Daycare</li> <li>Primary or elementary school</li> <li>Secondary or post-secondary school</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1 per 46.5 sq. m. of <i>Gross floor area</i>; and, 1 per each 10 spectator seats, excluding playing surfaces and stages.</li> <li>1 per employee.</li> <li>1.5 per classroom.</li> <li>4 per classroom.</li> </ul>

Use	Loading Space Requirements (MINIMUMS)
<ul> <li>All Community Use Zone uses</li> <li>less than or equal to 2790 sq. m.</li> <li>more than 2790 sq. m.</li> </ul>	<ul><li>1 space</li><li>2 spaces</li></ul>
<ul> <li>All commercial and industrial warehousing, manufacturing and storage with a Gross floor area of:</li> <li>less than or equal to 1860 sq. m.</li> <li>more than 1860 sq. m.</li> </ul>	<ul><li>1 space</li><li>2 spaces</li></ul>

### **COUNCIL DIRECTION REQUEST (CDR)**

**Town of Creston** 



ACTION DATE: January 16, 2024

SUBJECT: Backyard Hen Program Bylaw Amendments

SUGGESTED FOLLOW-UP ACTION: THAT the Committee of the Whole recommends the following motion: THAT Council DIRECT Staff to present draft bylaws to amend Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763; Animal Care and Responsibility Bylaw No. 1826; and, Bylaw Notice of Enforcement Bylaw No. 1760; AND FURTHER, THAT Backyard Hen Pilot Program Policy SER-005-060 be repealed.

CAO COMMENTS: No additional comment.

BACKGROUND	Staff Briefing Note:	Attached	Available 🗌	Nil 🗖

### **DEFINE THE TOPIC** 1.

KEY INFORMATION: The current Backyard Hen Pilot Program limits the keeping of backyard hens to 10 residential properties with specific qualifications. The program will expire on October 31, 2024. If the program were to expire, the keeping of backyard hens would no longer be permitted. On December 12, 2023, Council directed Staff to draft bylaws for Council consideration to allow backyard hens in the long-term, addressing allowance of chicks inside and coop siting requirements.

**RELEVANT OBSERVATIONS:** The pilot program required a minimal increase in service levels to ensure properties participating in the pilot program were in compliance. To date, Staff have not received any complaints.

STRATEGIC RELEVANCE: Service Excellence.

ESSENTIAL QUESTION: Do the proposed bylaw amendments meet Council's objectives?

### 2. DETERMINE DESIRED OUTCOMES if the essential question is addressed.

KEY RESULT: Responsible keeping of backyard hens.

DESIRED BENEFITS OF KEY RESULT: Food Security. Good animal husbandry.

**REQUISITES:** Bylaw Adoption.

**UNINTENDED OUTCOMES:** Increasing the number of hens in town leads to the possibility of additional bylaw enforcement being needed beyond current pilot program service level, however routine pilot program administration and site visits will be no longer required.

### 3. EXPLORE RESPONSE OPTIONS to achieve the key result (Pros & Cons)

1. Council direct Staff to draft amendment bylaws for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting;

2. Council refer to Staff for more information; or,

3. Other, as per Council direction.

Submitted by:

Reviewed by:

Michael Moore, CAO

Joel Comer, MCPD

CAO



**DATE:** 1/16/2024

lichael Moore, Chief Administrative Officer
atasha Ewashen, Municipal Services Coordinator and Planner
pel Comer, Manager of Community Planning and Development
ommunity Planning and Development
ackyard Hen Pilot Program Amendments
ATTACHED 🗌 OTHER DOCUMENT 🗌 NOT APPLICABLE

### **PURPOSE / ISSUE:**

On December 12, 2023, Council directed staff to draft the appropriate amendment bylaws to make the Backyard Hen Pilot Program permanent, for Council consideration. Amendments to Animal Care Responsibility Bylaw No. 1826; Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763; and, Bylaw Notice of Enforcement Bylaw No. 1760 are required. Further, Backyard Hen Pilot Program Policy SER-005-060 should be repealed. Refer to the December 12, 2023, Committee of the Whole Report.

### **BACKGROUND:**

The following outlines the current Backyard Hen Pilot Program regulations. Regulations highlighted in red, will be discussed further in this report to address Council direction and participant feedback.

### Animal Care and Responsibility Bylaw No. 1826 (Current)

### Part 12 Licencing Requirements for the Keeping of Hens

- 12.1 No person shall own, keep, possess or harbour any Hen in the Town unless a valid and subsisting Backyard Hen Pilot Program licence has been obtained under this Bylaw.
- 12.2 The Hen Owner shall apply to the Town for a Backyard Hen Pilot Program licence on the prescribed form provided by the Town and pay the fee set out in the current Fees and Charges Bylaw, and upon receipt of the application and payment of the prescribed fee, the Manager of Community Planning & Development, or designate, shall review the application to ensure conformity with this Bylaw. If the application is found to be in conformance with this Bylaw, the Town shall issue a numbered Hen licence valid until October 31, 2024.
- 12.3 A Hen Owner shall, at their own expense, on or before October 31, 2024, remove all Hens from their property.
- 12.4 The licence is not transferable to another person or property.
- 12.5 There shall be no more than one (1) Hen Owner per property.
- 12.6 A maximum of 10 (ten) Backyard Hen Pilot Program licences shall be active at any time.
- 12.7 Backyard Hen Pilot Program licences shall be issued on a first-come, first-serve basis.
- 12.8 A Backyard Hen Pilot Program licence may be revoked by the Animal Control Officer if the Hen Owner fails to adhere to the regulations of this Bylaw.

**Town of Creston** 



### Part 13 Regulations for the Keeping of Hens

- 13.1 A person who engages in the keeping of Hens shall:
  - a) be the registered property owner or obtain written permission from the registered property owner of the property where the Hen(s) is kept, and reside on the property where the Hen(s) is kept;
  - b) keep no more than six (6) Hens per parcel of land, located within the Residential Rural (R5) Zone or Residential Low Density (R1) Zone as designated in Zoning Bylaw No. 1958, 2022, where the lot is not subject to a strata plan and is at least 464 sq. m. in area;
  - c) not keep a rooster;
  - d) ensure proper animal husbandry is followed at all times;
  - e) not slaughter, euthanize or dispose of Hen(s) within town limits, except at a veterinary clinic;
  - f) keep Hen(s) in a Coop from sunset to 7am;
  - g) not sell Hen products or bi-products;
  - h) maintain the Coop and Run in a sanitary condition at all times:
    - i. manure shall not be allowed to accumulate in such a manner as to cause, in the opinion of the Animal Control Officer, an objectionable odour or nuisance;
    - ii. all food scraps must be removed from Coop and Run daily following feeding of Hen(s);
    - iii. food must be stored in a secure and closed container;
  - i) not permit a Hen within a residential dwelling unit or on a balcony or deck;
  - j) construct and site Coop and Run structures in accordance with the following regulations:
    - i. Coop and Run must be secure from Animals and rodents including under structures and within walls;
    - ii. fencing must be installed to ensure Hen safety and security from escape and predators, including use of fencing to span above Hen Run;
    - iii. Coop and Run must be located in a rear yard, and in no case shall it be closer to an exterior side lot line than the principle building;
    - iv. Coop and Run must comply with all existing accessory building setbacks and shall be sited no less than 3m from any property line and no less than 3m from any door or window;
    - v. Coop size must be no less than 0.37 sq. m. per Hen;
    - vi. Run size must be no less than 0.92 sq. m. per Hen;
    - vii. adequate roost space for each Hen must be provided within the Coop;
    - viii. Coop must include a minimum of one (1) nest box per two (2) Hens, with a minimum dimension of 30cm x 30cm x 30cm;
    - ix. Coop must not exceed 3 sq. m. floor area or 2m in height; and,
    - x. Coop and Run must not be visible from any street.

### Proposed Amendments – Animal Care and Responsibility Bylaw

- 1. Remove all references to the pilot program, such as program expiration dates.
- 2. Adjust licence fee and program fee to an annual fee.
- 3. Remove minimum lot size
  - a. Permit all lots in the Residential Low Density and Residential Rural, regardless of lot size, to keep hens.
- 4. Adjust timeframe for hens to be kept in their coop
  - a. Require hens to be in their coop from sunset to sunrise, or 7am, whichever is earlier, to allow hens to be let out at sunrise during longer daylight hours.
- 5. Remove the requirement for hens to be kept outside at all times, to allow individuals to raise chicks indoors.

### **Town of Creston**



### 6. Adjust setback requirements

- a. Allow coops to be located within rear setbacks to allow for more flexibility when siting coops. Maintain the 3m setback requirement when locating coops near any windows and doors, to reduce visual and noise impact to neighbours.
- 7. Increase coop size
  - a. Permit a maximum coop size of 4 sq. m. to allow for easier coop access for hen health and coop maintenance. Maintain a maximum coop height of 2m to reduce visual impacts.
- 8. Adjust visibility requirement
  - a. Adjust regulations stating that coops and runs cannot be visible from any street. Reduce this requirement to the front street to allow for greater flexibility when siting coops.

### Proposed Amendments – Fees and Charges Bylaw

The current licence fee for keeping hens is \$50 for the duration of the two-year program. Staff recommend amending the licence fee to \$20 annually (\$25 if paid after March 31<sup>st</sup>), to match neutered/spayed cat and dog licences. Continuing to require a licence allows for better notification and records in the event of a disease outbreak, returning a misplaced hen to its owner, or if there is need for bylaw enforcement.

### Proposed Amendments – Bylaw Notice of Enforcement Bylaw

Remove financial penalty for keeping hen within a residential dwelling unit, balcony, or deck, to align with other bylaw changes.

### Proposed Amendments – Backyard Hen Pilot Program Policy SER-005-060

Repeal the policy. The policy establishes guidelines for the purposes of a 24-month pilot program. If Council chooses to proceed with amending the bylaws, this policy will become obsolete. See Appendix A.

### **CURRENT SITUATION:**

The Pilot Program is set to expire on October 31, 2024. When the program expires, participants will be required to dispose of their hens and related infrastructure. Zoning Bylaw No. 1958, 2022 permits hens in accordance with the Animal Care and Responsibility Bylaw, and does not require amendment.

### **KEY CONSIDERATIONS:**

Submitted by:

To date the Backyard Hen Pilot Program has been a positive experience. Staff have not received any complaints or had to address enforcement issues. The proposed amendments increase the likelihood of enforcement being needed from time to time, but may decrease administration time from what is required in the Pilot Program.

### **OPTIONS FOR FOLLOW-UP ACTION:**

- 1. Council direct Staff to draft amendment bylaws for 1st and 2nd Readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting;
- 2. Council refer to Staff for more information; or,
- 3. Other, as per Council direction.

Reviewed by:

CAO

Michael Moore, CAO



POLICY: SER-005-060

### **Backyard Hen Pilot Program**

- **PURPOSE** To establish guidelines and give direction for the purposes of establishing a 24 month pilot program for the keeping of backyard hens.
- **SCOPE** All members of Council, designate Staff and all applicable applicants.
- **POLICY** A 24 month Backyard Hen Pilot Program.

### PROCEDURE

- 1.0 Residents within a R1 Residential Low Density, or R5 Residential Rural zone with a minimum lot size of 464 sq. m. may apply to keep a maximum of 6 backyard hens.
- 2.0 Any one who wishes to participate in the program must submit a completed application for a Backyard Hen Pilot Program licence including:
  - i. The zone in which the hens are to be located;
  - ii. Property size;
  - iii. Number of hens being applied for;
  - iv. Provincial Premises Identification Program Number; and,
  - v. Landowner Agreement if applicable.
- 3.0 Staff will review all applications to ensure they are complete and meet the program's intent. Staff will conduct a site visit as part of the review process.

Applications not meeting the Town's requirements will be rejected by Staff.

- 4.0 Applications are reviewed on a first-come, first-serve basis. A maximum of 10 licences are permitted for the duration of the program.
- 5.0 Once approval is granted and a licence is issued, the applicant may proceed with coop and run construction, and following inspection by Town Staff:
  - i. Obtain hens; and,
  - ii. Obtain feed and other necessary items to support good hen health.
- 6.0 Staff will present to Council every six months to provide program updates.

### Terms and Conditions

- 1.0 A Backyard Hen Pilot Program Licence is valid until October 31, 2024.
- 2.0 The licence is not transferable to another person or property.
- 3.0 Only one licence is permitted per property.

### Town of Creston COUNCIL POLICY

- 4.0 All uses must comply with provincial and federal law, and any Town of Creston's bylaw or policy.
- 5.0 Successful applicants must keep a logbook which includes information regarding:
  - i. Hen health and deaths;
  - ii. Number of eggs produced;
  - iii. Coop and run structure integrity and effectiveness;
  - iv. Wildlife interactions;
  - v. Noise observations;
  - vi. Smell observations;
  - vii. Waste disposal;
  - viii. Ability to acquire hens, hen-keeping supplies and feed; and,
  - ix. Overall perception of keeping hens.
- 6.0 Upon expiry of the licence or program, all hens, fixtures and structures pertaining to the Backyard Hen Pilot Program must be removed.

### POLICY RECORD

Date Approved by Council:October 11, 2022Resolution No.409-22Next Review Date:Policy No:SER-005-060Last Review Date:Replaces:New PolicyAdministrative Review:October 2024Vertical Action Service
# **COUNCIL DIRECTION REQUEST (CDR)**

**Town of Creston** 



ACTION DATE: January 16, 2024

SUBJECT: Parks and Public Spaces Booking Policy

SUGGESTED FOLLOW-UP ACTION: THAT the Committee of the Whole RECOMMENDS the following motion: THAT Council DIRECT Staff to present draft amendment bylaws for Parks, Trails and Public Spaces Bylaw No. 1788; Delegation of Authority Bylaw No. 1855; and, Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763 for consideration of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> readings at an upcoming regular Council Meeting; AND FURTHER, Council direct Staff to update the Parks and Public Space Booking Policy SER-009-010.

CAO COMMENTS: No additional comment.

BACKGROUND Staff Briefing Note: Attached 🛛 Available 🗌 Nil	
--	--

#### **1. DEFINE THE TOPIC**

KEY INFORMATION: In the fall of 2023, Council directed staff to investigate how closed park bookings, bookings requiring extended hours, and bookings on statutory holidays could be approved at the staff level.

**RELEVANT OBSERVATIONS:** Currently Council approval is required for all closed park bookings, park bookings on a statutory holiday, and bookings requiring extended hours, and under various other circumstances.

STRATEGIC RELEVANCE: Service Excellence.

ESSENTIAL QUESTION: Do the proposed amendments align with Council's objectives.

#### 2. DETERMINE DESIRED OUTCOMES if the essential question is addressed.

**KEY RESULT:** Clear and simple application of the Parks and Public Spaces Booking Policy for Staff and the public.

DESIRED BENEFITS OF KEY RESULT: Vibrant and responsible use of parks and public spaces.

**REQUISITES:** Bylaw and policy adoption.

Submitted by:

UNINTENDED OUTCOMES: None anticipated.

#### 3. EXPLORE RESPONSE OPTIONS to achieve the key result (Pros & Cons)

1.	Council direct Staff to present the draft amendment bylaws for Parks, Trails and Public Spaces Bylaw No. 1788; Delegation of Authority Bylaw No. 1855; and, Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763 for consideration of 1 <sup>st</sup> and 2 <sup>nd</sup> readings at an upcoming regular Council Meeting; AND FURTHER, Council direct Staff to update the Parks and Public Space Booking Policy SER-009-010;
2.	Council refer to Staff for more information; or,
3.	Other, as per Council direction.

Reviewed by:

CAO

Michael Moore. CAO

Joel Comer, MCPD



**DATE:** 1/16/2024

Michael Moore, Chief Administrative Officer
Natasha Ewashen, Municipal Services Coordinator and Planner
Joel Comer, Manager of Community Planning and Development
Community Planning and Development
Parks and Public Spaces Bookings
ATTACHED OTHER DOCUMENT NOT APPLICABLE

#### **PURPOSE / ISSUE:**

In the fall of 2023, Council directed staff to investigate options for the majority of park bookings to be approved at the Staff level. Currently, Council approval is required for all closed bookings, bookings with extended hours, and bookings falling on or near Victoria Day, Canada Day, B.C. Day, and Labour Day.

#### **BACKGROUND:**

For park bookings to be approved at the Staff level, bylaw amendments are required for the Parks, Trails, and Public Places Regulations Bylaw, Fees and Charges Bylaw, and Delegation of Authority Bylaw. The Parks and Public Spaces Booking Policy would also requires updates to be consistent with the bylaws, if amended. Further, Staff have included housekeeping updates to improve the overall booking process.

#### PARKS AND PUBLIC SPACES BOOKING POLICY SER-009-010 Proposed Amendments:

#### **Definitions:**

**Casual Use:** means an open booking, for informal activities such as birthday parties, staff luncheons, picnics, and similar uses with less than 50 people.

**Event Use:** means an open or closed booking, for gatherings of 50 people or more, and includes uses such as weddings, concerts, art shows, or similar uses.

**Community Orientated Event:** means an open booking accessible to the general public, that brings community members together through a social event to enhance community spirit, quality of life, and the public realm.

#### **Booking Procedure: New Time Slots**

Currently, all booking types and uses are able to book the park or public space from 7am-10pm. Booking a public space for an entire day for casual uses (e.g. birthday) is unnecessary. Staff propose permitting casual uses to book one time slot per day. Further, the proposed policy update, provides clarity regarding event set up and take down, to avoid overlap between users.

## **Town of Creston**



For casual uses, the maximum time a park, public space, or facility may be booked shall be for one time slot per day, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m or 2:00 p.m. and 10:00 p.m.. All set up and take down must be completed within the allotted time.

Staff propose maintaining the 7am-10pm booking time for Event Uses. Event Uses are intended for larger, more complex bookings that may require significant set up and take down times. The policy has been updated to state clearly that set up and take down should occur within the timeframe provided.

For event uses, the maximum time a park, public space or facility may be booked shall be between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m., unless specifically permitted by the Chief Administrative Officer, or their designate. All set up and take down must be completed within the allotted time.

## Maximum Occupancy for Millennium Park

The current maximum occupancy is 150 people, unless otherwise approved by Council. Staff propose increasing this number to 250, reducing the frequency Council approval is required for larger occupancies in Millennium Park.

## Booking Millennium Park during BC, Labour, Canada, and Victoria Day

Currently, bookings may only be approved on these days if they are considered an Established Community Event. Staff propose broadening allowable bookings to also include Community Orientated Events, to allow for open bookings that would add to festivities during the statutory holidays.

## PARKS, TRAILS AND PUBLIC PLACES BYLAW NO. 1788

The current bylaw does not permit Staff to approve or deny closed park bookings. Staff propose the following amendment to permit Staff to approve or deny closed park bookings:

# Council authorizes the Chief Administrative Officer, Corporate Officer, Director of Community Services, or their designate, to grant or deny permission to:

1. Individuals, groups and organizations, on a first come/first serve basis, requesting open or <u>closed</u> bookings, to use facilities in Town parks; ...

## **DELEGATION OF AURHORITY BYLAW NO. 1855**

The current bylaw does not delegate open or closed park bookings to staff. Staff propose the following amendment to permit Staff to approve park bookings:

Council hereby delegates to the Chief Administrative Officer, Corporate Officer, or Director of Community Services, or their designate, all of the powers, duties, and function of Council in respect to the issuance of an Open or Closed Park Booking as per Section 6.1 of the Parks, Trails and Public Places Regulations Bylaw No. 1788, 2014, as amended or replaced from time to time.

## FEES AND CHARGES BYLAW NO. 1763

Staff recommend updating park booking fees to be more reflective of park usage.

Description	Fee	Proposed Fee
Millennium Park <ul> <li>Open Booking</li> <li>Closed Booking</li> </ul>	• \$20 • \$200	<ul> <li>Open Booking – Casual Use \$20</li> <li>Open Booking – Event Use \$50</li> </ul>

#### **Town of Creston**



		<ul> <li>Closed Booking \$200</li> </ul>
<ul><li>Centennial Park</li><li>Open Booking (covered</li></ul>	• \$20	<ul> <li>Open Booking – Casual Use \$20</li> </ul>
picnic area only)		<ul> <li>Open Booking – Event Use \$50</li> <li>*Include Rotary Pavilion as an additional booking space.</li> </ul>
Spirit of Creston Square • Open Booking	• \$0	No change
<ul> <li>11<sup>th</sup> Ave Walkthrough</li> <li>Open Booking (non-profit events only)</li> </ul>	• \$0	No change
<ul> <li>Downtown Greenspace</li> <li>Open Booking (non-profit events only)</li> </ul>	• \$20	<ul> <li>Open Booking – Casual Use \$20</li> <li>Open Booking – Event Use \$50</li> </ul>
All other Parks and Public Spaces <ul> <li>Open Booking</li> </ul>	• \$20	<ul> <li>Open Booking – Casual Use \$20</li> <li>Open Booking – Event Use \$50</li> </ul>

#### **CURRENT SITUATION:**

On average, Staff approve approximately 50 park bookings a year. In 2023, Council received 3 park bookings to approve or deny. Reasons for park bookings requiring a resolution by Council were:

- 1. Booking hours
- 2. Occupancy
- 3. Booking on Canada Day

The proposed amendment would delegate the majority of park bookings to Staff. Exceptions would be bookings with greater than 250 people for Millennium Park, and bookings serving liquor.

#### **KEY CONSIDERATIONS:**

- The proposed updates reduce Council's involvement in approving the use of parks and public • spaces for events of various sizes.
- Council could also choose to delegate all park bookings, including those serving liquor or events with more than 250 people in Millennium Park.
- In the event that staff reject a booking request, the applicant has the option to request reconsideration of the staff decision by Town Council, as per the Delegation of Authority Bylaw.
- Currently closed bookings of Millennium Park can only be approved by Council, which likely keeps the number of closed booking requests for weddings and other private events lower than it would be if Council were not involved. Does Council have specific guidance regarding decision making for these types of bookings where a public park would be made inaccessible to the public due to a private event?

#### **OPTIONS FOR FOLLOW-UP ACTION:**

1. Council direct Staff to present the draft amendment bylaws for Parks, Trails and Public Spaces Bylaw No. 1788; Delegation of Authority Bylaw No. 1855; and, Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763



# **Town of Creston**

Submitted by:

for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> readings at an upcoming regular Council Meeting; AND FURTHER, Council direct Staff to update the Parks and Public Space Booking Policy SER-009-010;

- 2. Council refer to Staff for more information;
- 3. or, Other, as per Council direction.

Reviewed by:

CAO All Michael Moore, CAO

Joel Comer, MCPD



POLICY:

SER-009-010

# Parks and Public Spaces Booking Policy

- **PURPOSE** The purpose of this Policy is to establish guidelines for booking parks and public spaces.
- **SCOPE** This Policy applies to all bookings of Town owned or operated parks and public spaces.
- **POLICY** Booking of Town owned or operated parks and public spaces is permitted in the Town of Creston when in conformance with this Policy.
- **DEFINITIONS Booking** means the reservation of a Town owned or operated park, public space or facility.

**Closed booking** means the booking of a park, public space or facility where the booked area is closed to the general public, or where an admission fee is charged to access the booked area.

**Open booking** means the booking of a park, public space or facility where the general public retains access to booked area.

**Established annual community event** means Creston Valley Blossom Festival, Creston Valley Fall Fair, Creston Valley Winter Festival, or other events as defined in *Parks, Trails, and Public Places Regulations Bylaw No.* 1788, 2014.

**Facility** means a feature, area, or structure in a Town owned or operated park or public space.

#### PROCEDURES

#### 1.0 **Booking Procedure**

- 1.1 Any person or organization intending to book a Town owned park, public space or facility must complete and sign the appropriate application form, as available at Town Hall.
- 1.2 No park, public space or facility booking will be authorized to a person under the age of 18 years.
- 1.3 No park, public space or facility booking will be authorized without a properly executed waiver of liability and indemnity form.
- 1.4 If requested by the Town, the applicant(s) and event organizer(s) will be required to provide 3<sup>rd</sup> party liability insurance of an amount not less than \$2,000,000, naming the Town of Creston as additional insured.
- 1.5 Bookings are registered on a first-come, first-serve basis.

- 1.6 Open booking applications must be submitted to the Town of Creston a minimum of 15 business days prior to the event.
- 1.7 Open bookings must be approved or denied by the Chief Administrative Officer, Corporate Officer, Director of Community Services, or their designate within 10 business days of receiving a complete application form.
- 1.8 Open booking fees will not be refunded.
- 1.9 Closed booking applications must be submitted to the Town of Creston a minimum of 30 business days (6 weeks) prior to the event.
- 1.10 Closed bookings must be approved or denied by Town Council, except for established annual community events, which may be approved by Staff, as defined in *Parks, Trails, and Public Places Regulations Bylaw No. 1788, 2014.*
- 1.11 Closed booking fees may be refunded, less a \$25 administrative fee, when in accordance with *Parks, Trails, and Public Places Regulations Bylaw No.* 1788, 2014.
- 1.12 The maximum time period a park, public space or facility may be booked shall be one day, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m., unless specifically permitted by Council, or as part of an established annual community event, which may be approved by Staff, as defined in *Parks, Trails, and Public Places Regulations Bylaw No. 1788, 2014*
- 1.13 All Town parks are closed to bookings between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. daily, unless specifically permitted by Council, or as part of an established annual community event, which may be approved by Staff, as defined in *Parks, Trails, and Public Places Regulations Bylaw No. 1788, 2014*.

#### 2.0 General Terms & Conditions of Booking

- 2.1 Pets are prohibited, unless permitted by *Parks, Trails, and Public Places Regulations Bylaw No. 1788, 2014.*
- 2.2 No sales or other business shall be conducted, without a Commercial Vendor Permit.
- 2.3 All newly landscaped and seeded areas are to be completely avoided in order to promote proper development.
- 2.4 Any and all solid waste shall be disposed of in litter barrels or similar facilities.
- 2.5 The park, public space or facility booked, including washrooms if applicable, shall be left in a clean and tidy condition.
- 2.6 Town staff must have access to the park, public space or facility at all times and may attend free of charge to any event held on Town owned or operated property for the purpose of auditing or reviewing compliance with Town bylaws and policies.

- 2.7 Failure to comply with this Policy or *Parks, Trails, and Public Places Regulations Bylaw No. 1788, 2014,* will result in the applicant(s) and/or attendees being removed from the Park or Public Space.
- 2.8 All performers and public speakers will conduct themselves in a polite and courteous manner. Inappropriate, offensive or obscene lyrics/speech are not permitted, whether live or recorded.
- 2.9 Users shall ensure that the park, public space, facility and/or field conditions are suitable for their intended use and must report any deficiency in maintenance to the Town of Creston.
- 2.10 Failure to completely clean up after an event will result in charges for the cost of cleaning and a 20% administrative fee.
- 2.11 Whenever reasonably possible, the Town will avoid maintenance of a park, public space or facility during the period booked.
- 2.12 All installation and removal costs of any required municipal equipment or property related to the event, shall be the responsibility of the applicant(s).
- 2.13 Arrangements with Town Staff regarding installation and removal of any municipal equipment or property must be made prior to the event.
- 2.14 Permission to book Town parks, public spaces or facilities does not imply any endorsement of the aims, policies or activities of any group or individual.

## 3.0 Additional Booking Terms and Conditions for Millennium Park

- 3.1 Closed bookings of Millennium Park are permitted only as specifically authorized by Council, except established annual community events, which may be approved by Town Staff.
- 3.2 No open or closed booking of Millennium Park is permitted on the following days, unless specifically authorized by Council, or as part of an established annual community event approved by Town Staff:
  - 3.2.1 Victoria Day, and the Saturday and Sunday that precede Victoria Day;
  - 3.2.2 Canada Day, and the Saturday and Sunday closest to Canada Day (if Canada Day falls on a Wednesday, no booking shall be permitted on the Saturday and Sunday preceding, or the Saturday and Sunday following Canada Day);
  - 3.2.3 B.C. Day, and the Saturday and Sunday that precede B.C. Day;
  - 3.2.4 Labour Day, and the Saturday and Sunday that precede Labour Day.

- 3.3 The applicant(s) or organization booking Millennium Park for a closed event where admission is charged to allow access for the general public, shall advertise the event in the local newspaper, or other media outlet deemed appropriate by Town Staff, for a minimum of one week prior to the event.
- 3.4 The maximum number of people permitted to attend a closed booking event at Millennium Park is 150, unless specifically approved by Council.
- 3.5 The applicant(s) or sponsoring organization shall be liable for insurance coverage and security of their event.
- 3.6 Closed bookings may require an admission fee.
- 3.7 Open bookings may not charge an admission fee.

#### 4.0 Additional Booking Terms and Conditions for Spirit of Creston Square

- 4.1 Unless requested to offset costs to the Town, there is no booking fee for Spirit of Creston Square.
- 4.2 Any street closures related to utilization of Spirit of Creston Square must be in accordance with *Traffic Regulations Bylaw No. 1546* and *Street Closure Policy* (*SER-010-001*) and be coordinated with Town Staff.

#### 5.0 Additional Booking Terms and Conditions for the Downtown Greenspace

- 5.1 The Downtown Greenspace may only be booked for non-profit community events.
- 5.2 No performer or other person shall charge any fee for attendance.
- 5.3 No performer or other person shall inhibit the free movement of traffic or pedestrians.
- 5.4 No performer or other person shall block the pathway for any reason.

## 6.0 Additional Booking Terms and Conditions for the 11<sup>th</sup> Avenue South Walkthrough

- 6.1 Unless requested to offset costs to the Town, there is no booking fee for the 11<sup>th</sup> Avenue South Walkthrough.
- 6.2 The 11<sup>th</sup> Avenue South Walkthrough may only be booked for non-profit community events.
- 6.3 No performer or other person shall charge any fee for attendance.
- 6.4 No performer or other person shall inhibit the free movement of traffic or pedestrians.
- 6.5 Performers are restricted to the podium area only.

## 7.0 Denial and Cancellation of Bookings by the Town of Creston

- 7.1 The Town of Creston reserves the right to deny or cancel a booking application when it reasonably believes:
  - 7.1.1 use by any individual or group will be for a purpose that is likely to promote, or would have the effect of promoting: discrimination, contempt or hatred for any group or person on the basis of colour, race, religion, national or ethnic origin, age, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, or mental or physical disability (*as per Section 318 and 319 of the Criminal Code of Canada*); or,
  - 7.1.2 use by any individual or group will be for a purpose or action, that is contrary to provincial or federal law, or any Town of Creston bylaw or policy, including: violent, threatening, abusive, harassing, disruptive or intrusive language or conduct; or,
  - 7.1.3 there is a misrepresentation, a likelihood of physical hazard to participants or audiences or a misuse of premises or equipment. Past misuse or non-payment of fees is sufficient grounds for denial of an application; or,
  - 7.1.4 the booking is contrary to the public interest as determined by Council.

#### 8.0 Alcohol Use

- 8.1 No alcohol is permitted during a booking except in cases where:
  - 8.1.1 the booking conforms with Liquor Licence Application Policy (*SER-003-015*); and,
  - 8.1.2 the applicant provides proof of General Liability Insurance in an amount not less than \$2,000,000 and a Liquor Liability Endorsement Policy in an amount not less than \$2,000,000, with the Town of Creston named as additional insured; and,
  - 8.1.3 the applicant is in possession of a Special Event Permit issued by the British Columbia Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Branch; and,
  - 8.1.4 the applicant or organizer has established a "Designated Driver Plan" in accordance with the Town's Liquor Licence Application Policy (*SER-003-015*).

## POLICY RECORD

Date Approved by Council:	June 30, 2020	Resolution No.	211-20
Next Review Date:	June 2025	Policy No:	SER-009-010
Last Review Date:	June 30, 2020	Replaces:	New Policy
Administrative Review:	June 2022		

# **COUNCIL DIRECTION REQUEST (CDR)**

**Town of Creston** 



ACTION DATE: January 16, 2024

**SUBJECT:** Fees and Charges Amendment Bylaw regarding Property Access Application.

**SUGGESTED FOLLOW-UP ACTION:** THAT the Committee of the Whole RECOMMENDS the following motion: THAT Council DIRECTS Staff to draft a bylaw to amend Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763, 2011, for Council consideration of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> readings at an upcoming Regular Council Meeting.

**CAO COMMENTS:** No additional comment.

BACKGROUND       Staff Briefing Note:       Attached       Available       Nil
--

#### **1. DEFINE THE TOPIC**

**KEY INFORMATION:** At the January 9<sup>th</sup>, 2024 Committee of the Whole meeting, Council directed Staff to update the Property Access Bylaw. As part of the approval process, Staff allocate time to evaluating applications. There is no application fee currently. Staff propose amending the Fees and Charges Bylaw to include a fee of \$50 to subsidize administrative costs associated with application evaluation.

**RELEVANT OBSERVATIONS:** Currently, there is no fee charged for this service.

**STRATEGIC RELEVANCE:** Service excellence.

ESSENTIAL QUESTION: Does Council want to charge a fee regarding property access applications?

#### 2. DETERMINE DESIRED OUTCOMES if the essential question is addressed.

KEY RESULT: Cost recovery.

DESIRED BENEFITS OF KEY RESULT: Improved service.

**REQUISITES:** Staff to prepare draft bylaw.

**UNINTENDED OUTCOMES: N/A** 

#### 3. EXPLORE RESPONSE OPTIONS to achieve the key result (Pros & Cons)

1.	Council direct Staff to draft an amendment bylaw for Council consideration of 1 <sup>st</sup> and 2 <sup>nd</sup> readings at an upcoming
	Regular Council Meeting;
2.	Council direct Staff to maintain status quo; or,
3.	Other, as per Council direction.

Submitted by:

Joel Comer, MCPD

Reviewed by: CAO

Michael Moore, CAO

# **COUNCIL DIRECTION REQUEST (CDR)**

**Town of Creston** 

Page 120 of 155 RESTON **ALLEY** TOWN of CRESTON

ACTION DATE: 2024-01-16

**SUBJECT:** Short term rental public notification

SUGGESTED FOLLOW-UP ACTION: THAT Council DIRECT Staff to notify Town residents of new Short Term Rental regulations, following adoption of the relevant bylaws, AND FURTHER THAT, Council DIRECT Staff to begin enforcement of the regulatory bylaws six months following adoption of the relevant bylaws.

CAO COMMENTS: No additional comment.

BACKGROUND Staff Briefing Note: Attached 🛛 Available 🗌 Nil 🗌	BACKGROUND	Staff Briefing Note:	Attached 🛛	Available 🗌	nii 🗆
--	------------	----------------------	------------	-------------	-------

#### 1. DEFINE THE TOPIC

KEY INFORMATION: At the January 9<sup>th</sup>, 2024 Regular Committee of the Whole meeting, Council directed Staff to bring forward amendment bylaws to legalise and regulate Short term rentals (STRs). The attached briefing note provides recommendations for public notification, consideration of alternate fee structure, and discussion regarding enforcement.

**RELEVANT OBSERVATIONS:** None at this time.

STRATEGIC QUESTIONS: Liveability; Economic Health

ESSENTIAL QUESTION: Does council wish, upon adoption of STR bylaws, for Staff to notify residents of the bylaw changes and delay enforcement by 6 months to provide a grace period for residents to become compliant with the new bylaws?

## 2. DETERMINE DESIRED OUTCOMES if the essential question is addressed.

KEY RESULT: Public notification of STR bylaws with 6 month delay on enforcement.

DESIRED BENEFITS OF KEY RESULT: Residents aware of changes and have opportunity to come into compliance with the STR bylaws.

**REQUISITES:** Staff to draft notification materials for mail out. Staff to develop a 'frequently asked questions' document.

#### **UNINTENDED OUTCOMES:** None anticipated

#### 3. EXPLORE RESPONSE OPTIONS to achieve the key result (Pros & Cons)

Council direct Staff to notify Town residents about STR bylaw changes following adoption of amendment bylaws; 1. direct staff to delay enforcement by a period of six months; and give 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> readings to the relevant bylaws; Or, Council direct Staff to notify Town residents about STR bylaw changes following adoption of amendment bylaws; 2. direct staff to delay enforcement by a period of six months; give 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> readings to the relevant bylaws; and direct staff to modify the fees and charges amendment bylaw prior to 3<sup>rd</sup> reading; Or,

3. Other, as per Council direction.

Reviewed by:

Submitted by:

Joél Čomer, MCPD

CAO



**DATE:** 2024-01-16

то:	Michael Moore, Chief Administrative Officer		
CC:	Asha DeLisle, Affordable Housing & Climate Change Coordinator		
FROM:	oel Comer, Manager of Community Planning & Development		
DEPARTMENT:	Community Planning & Development		
SUBJECT:	Short term rental implementation		
APPENDIX:	□ ATTACHED □ OTHER DOCUMENT ⊠ NOT APPLICABLE		

#### **PURPOSE / ISSUE:**

At the January 9th, 2024 Regular Committee of the Whole meeting, Council directed Staff to draft bylaws to legalise and regulate Short term rentals (STRs). This briefing note provides recommendations to notify the public, handle enforcement, and provides Council with an alternate fee structure to consider for STRs.

#### **BACKGROUND:**

#### Fee Structure

During the January 9<sup>th</sup>, 2024 Regular Committee of the Whole meeting, Council directed Staff to draft a Fees and Charges bylaw with fees of \$500 annually for a STR business licence and \$500 every three years for a STR fire inspection. Alternatively, Council may wish to consider an annual \$650 fee for a STR business licence and 0\$ for a fire inspection fee. This fee structure results in similar cost over the course of a 3 year period, but reduces costs in the first year. Currently the fees in the draft bylaw add up to \$2,000 over 3 years, the proposed change would add up to \$1,950 over three years. Making this change requires less money up front for the applicant.

#### **Public Notification**

Currently, there are individuals in Creston who are operating STRs, both commercially and otherwise. To help residents come into compliance, Council may wish to allow a six month grace period before actively enforcing the STR bylaws. During this time, STR operators would have the opportunity to align their operations with the new regulations or, particularly in the case of commercial operators, make the switch to long-term rentals or consider sale if the regulations do allow continued operation in their case. Council could also consider a shorter or longer grace period, or no grace period at all.

To notify residents of the STR changes, Staff propose the following:

- 1. Send a letter to known STR operators notifying them of:
  - All relevant bylaw changes
  - The grace period time frame to come into compliance
  - Fines for non-compliance that will be actively enforced when the grace period ends





- 2. Notify residents of the STR bylaw changes via the Town newsletter, Let's Talk Creston, social media, and a press release.
- 3. Provide a reminder on Let's Talk Creston one month before the grace period ends notifying residents when the new STR bylaws will be actively enforced.
- 4. Develop a 'frequently asked question' document.

#### Enforcement

Following the grace period staff recommend the following proactive enforcement approach:

- Monitoring STR listings on major sites like AirBnb and VRBO for new STR advertisements on a biweekly basis.
- Where an unknown listing is found, staff may book an STR in order to confirm the listing's civic address and operator contact information.
- When confirmed, notify operator of regulations and require that the listing discontinue until such time as they have acquired a business licence and meet all requirements thereto.
- If STR continues to operate without a business licence enforce through monetary penalties as outlined in the Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw.

## **CURRENT SITUATION:**

The proposed bylaws align with Provincial initiatives to put restrictive measures on STRs to alleviate pressures on the long-term housing market. Any currently operating STRs in Creston are nonconforming.

## **KEY CONSIDERATIONS:**

#### **Key Considerations**

- 1. Altering the fee structure to be spread out over three years may be more feasible for STR operators to enter or remain in the STR market.
- 2. Providing a grace period for residents to become compliant with the new bylaws may allow time for current commercial STR operators to sell their house or enter into the long-term rental market.

## **OPTIONS FOR FOLLOW-UP ACTION:**

- 1. Council directs Staff to notify Town residents about bylaw changes relevant to STRs, pending adoption, and provide a grace period of six months for residents to come into compliance with the bylaws; Or,
- 2. Council directs Staff to notify Town residents about all bylaw changes relevant to STRs, pending adoption, and provide a grace period of six months for residents to come into compliance with the bylaws; and adjust the Fees and Charges Amendment bylaw to include \$650 for a business licence with no separate fire inspection fee prior to 3<sup>rd</sup> reading of the bylaw; Or,
- 3. Other, as per Council direction.

Reviewed by:

CAO //wl

Submitted by:

Joel Comer, MCPD

# **REQUEST FOR DECISION (RFD)**

**Town of Creston** 



File: File No.

Action Date: 1/16/2024

SUBJECT: Development Permit Amendment 20-11 (215 and 235 NWBlvd.)

**RECOMMENDATION:** THAT Council DIRECT Staff to issue an amendment to Development Permit 20-11 for the properties legally described as Lots 1 & 2, District Lot 525, Kootenay District, Plan 10683, Except Plan EPP37612, PIDs: 007-028-687 and 007-028-652, and located at 215 and 235 Northwest Boulevard.

**CAO COMMENTS:** No additional comment.

	RECOMMENDATION	Report / Document:	Attached 🛛	Available 🗌	Nil 🗆
--	----------------	--------------------	------------	-------------	-------

**KEY ISSUE(S) / CONCEPTS DEFINED:** At the January 9, 2024 Committee of the Whole, the Committee recommended that Staff issue an amendment for Development Permit (DP) 20-11. The proposed amendment does not change the overall intent of the DP; however, there is less landscaping and accessibility improvement than originally proposed. See Appendix A for the draft Development Permit Amendment.

**RELEVANT POLICY:** Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 1854, 2017 – Development Permit Area (DPA) 4 – Downtown Core Guidelines.

STRATEGIC RELEVANCE: Economic Health; Service Excellence.

**DESIRED OUTCOME(S):** Development in alignment with the Town's long Term Planning objectives.

**RESPONSE OPTIONS:** Possible ways to achieve the main result with analysis highlights

- 1. Council approve Development Permit Amendment 20-11;
- 2. Council deny Development Permit Amendment 20-11;
- **3.** Other, as per Council direction.

#### PREFERRED STRATEGY: Option 1.

#### IMPLICATIONS OF RECOMMENDATION:

**GENERAL:** Development in conformance with DPA guidelines.

**ORGANIZATIONAL:** Staff to manage Development Permit Amendment as part of regular duties.

FINANCIAL: None anticipated.

CAO

**FOLLOW UP ACTION:** Ensure conditions are met. Submit DP amendment to BC Land Title and Survey for amendment registration.

**COMMUNICATION:** Continued contact with the applicant throughout the development process.

OTHER COMMENTS: By others reviewing this RFD

Submitted by:

Endorsed by: Other

Reviewed by:

/Joel Comer, MCPD

Reviewers

# Town of Creston Development Permit No. DP-11/20 – Amended

TO: CBT PROPERTY CORP. 300, 445 – 13<sup>th</sup> Avenue Castlegar, BC, V1N 1G1

(the "Owner")

- 1. This Development Permit is issued subject to compliance with all of the bylaws of the Municipality applicable thereto, except as specifically varied or supplemented by this Permit.
- 2. This Development Permit applies to and only to those lands within the Municipality described below, and any and all buildings, structures and other development thereon:

Lot 1, District Lot 525, Kootenay District, Plan 10683 (PID: 007-028-687) - AND -

Lot 2, District Lot 525, Kootenay District, Plan 10683, Except Plan EPP37612 (PID: 007-028-652)

being located at 235 and 215 Northwest Boulevard, Creston, BC

(the "Land", generally as shown on the attached Location Plan).

3. This Permit has the effect of authorizing the alteration of the Land and the construction of the buildings and structures on the Land in accordance with the following plans and specifications attached to this Permit, and subject to all applicable laws and to the conditions, requirements and standards imposed and agreed to in Sections 5 and 6 of this Permit:

a. Appendix 'A' – Landscape Plan

- b. Appendix 'B' Building Drawings
- c. Appendix 'C' Landscape Plan

(collectively, the "Development Plans").

- 4. This Permit shall not have the effect of varying the use or density of the Land nor a flood plain specification.
- 5. The Permittee, as a condition of issuance of this permit, agrees to:
  - a. Construct the building improvements, develop the Lands, and protect, establish and maintain landscaping, trees and vegetation substantially in conformity with the Development Plans;

- 6. This Permit is issued on the condition that the Permittee has provided to the Municipality, security in the form of an Irrevocable Letter of Credit (or other acceptable security) to guarantee the performance of the conditions in Section 5 of this Permit respecting landscaping. *The security shall be in the amount of* \$5,000.00. *The security provided shall be held until the conditions referred to in section 5 of this permit have been satisfied or, in the event that the conditions have not been satisfied, 2 years following approval or amendment of this permit, at which time the Municipality may undertake and complete the works required, as described in section 7.*
- 7. Should the Permittee fail to satisfy the conditions referred to in section 5 of this Permit, the Municipality may undertake and complete the works required to satisfy the landscaping condition(s) or carry out any construction required to correct an unsafe condition(s), at the cost of the Permittee, and may apply the security in payment of the cost of the work, with any excess being returned to the Permittee.
- 8. Notice of this Permit shall be filed in the Land Titles Office at Kamloops, BC according to the Local Government Act and, upon such filing, the terms of this Permit or any amendment hereto shall be binding upon all persons who acquire an interest in the land affected by this Permit.
- 9. The Land shall be developed strictly in accordance with the terms and conditions and provisions of this Permit and any plans and specifications attached hereto which shall form a part hereof.
- 10. If the Permittee does not commence the construction permitted by this Permit within two years of the date of this Permit, this Permit shall lapse.
- 10. This Permit prevails over the provisions of the Bylaw, in the event of a conflict.
- 11. This Permit is not a Building Permit.
- 12. This Permit has been amended by:
  - a) Updating section 3 to remove Appendix 'A' Landscape Plan and add Appendix 'C' Landscape Plan
  - b) Updating section 7 to extend the time period in which security is to be held by the Town
  - c) Repeal of "Appendix 'A', and the addition of "Appendix 'C'.

Approval of this Permit by Resolution No. 27-21 of the Council of the Town of Creston was given on the 26<sup>th</sup> day of January, 2021.

This Permit was issued on the 27<sup>th</sup> day of January, 2021.

#### This Permit was Amended on the 16<sup>th</sup> day of January, 2024 by Resolution No. <mark>XX-</mark> <mark>XX</mark>.

This Permit in no way relieves the owner(s) or occupier(s) of the responsibility of adhering to all other legislation of responsible authorities which may apply to the Land.

## Town of Creston

Arnold DeBoon, Mayor

# Location Plan



# Appendix 'A' Landscape Plan





Appendix 'B' <u>Building Drawings</u>



Page 7 of 12



Page 8 of 12



Page 9 of 12



Page 10 of 12



Page 11 of 12



Page **12** of **12** 

# **REQUEST FOR DECISION (RFD)**

**Town of Creston** 



**File:** 0125-20-01

Action Date: January 16, 2024

SUBJECT: Casey's Community House LCRB Application Amendment

**RECOMMENDATION:** THAT Council AMENDS Resolution # 398-23 as follows: THAT Council SUPPORTS Casey's Community House application to the British Columbia Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Branch requesting an extension of hours of operation for 7 days a week 10:30 am to 1:00 to 9:00 am to 2:00 am.

CAO COMMENTS: No additional comment.

RECOMMENDATION	Report / Document:	Attached	Available 🗌	Nil 🗖
----------------	--------------------	----------	-------------	-------

**KEY ISSUE(S) / CONCEPTS DEFINED:** Council had previously supported Casey's Community House application to the Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Board (LCRB) to extend hours of operation for serving alcohol until 2:00 am on Saturday and Sundays. The establishment's original intention was to apply the extension of hours 9:00am to 2:00am 7 days a week. There was an error in processing with LCRB and it appeared to Staff that the application was for Saturday and Sunday only. Staff has not identified any negative impacts that Council should not support the extension of hours to apply to all 7 days of the week.

**RELEVANT POLICY: N/A** 

**STRATEGIC RELEVANCE:** Focus on Economic Health

**DESIRED OUTCOME(S):** Council's support to the application and approval to opt out of the public process in approval of extending the hours of operation.

#### **RESPONSE OPTIONS:** Possible ways to achieve the main result with analysis highlights

**1.** Council supports the extension of hours.

2. Other as directed by Council.

**3.** Council does not support the application.

#### PREFERRED STRATEGY: Option 1

#### **IMPLICATIONS OF RECOMMENDATION:**

**GENERAL:** Provides a streamlined process for the applicant with the LCRB.

**ORGANIZATIONAL:** Provides a streamlined process for the applicant with the LCRB.

FINANCIAL: N/A

FOLLOW UP ACTION: Provide resolution to LCRB.

COMMUNICATION: N/A

**OTHER COMMENTS:** Casey's Community House did follow through with Town Policy and advertise the intended change in the local newspaper with no complaints from the public.

Submitted by:		4
		Brandon Vigne
		Manager of Building & Bylaw Services
		Neil
Reviewed by:	CAO	flot / le
		· -

Endorsed by: Other

Reviewers

## TOWN OF CRESTON DISCRETIONARY GRANT APPLICATION FORM

ISCRETIONARY GRANT AP	PLICATION FORM	C	ile: 185 ate: action:	
Section A – General Informatio	n			
1. Date of Application: JAN	UARY 6, 2024			
2. Legal Name of Applicant/Org KOOTENAY REGION -		BC/YT SECTION		
3. Is the organization a non-pro	fit organization?		Yes	No
4. Name and title of Contact Pe JILLIAN SIBE	erson: BAUD - TREASURE	ĸ	_	
5. Mailing Address: PO BOX 615 ROS	ISLAND BC 1	106140		
6. Phone:	Fax:	Email: skatekootenaya	gmail.co	m
7. Has your organization receiv	ved Town of Creston grant	funding in the past?	Yes	No
<ol> <li>Does your organization cu located within the Town of C</li> </ol>		ve Tax Exemption for proper	ty Yes	No
COMING TOGETHER IN C REGIONAL CHAMPIONSH FAMILIES WITL BE TAK	SKATERS FROM T RESTON FEBRUARY HPS. OVER 150 SKA ING PART IN THE BNT FAULTIES AT	HE EAST AND WEST KU 14-18,2024 TO COMP ATERS, AS WELL AS THE EVENT. CRESTON PRU THE CRESTON AND DI	DOTENAYS U ETE AT OUI TR COACHES DVIDES A C STRICT COR	VILL BE R AND ENTRAL MMUNITY
COMPLEX TO HOST THE WITHIN THE ETAST SWES FAMILY PIZZA SPOOL PH DINING IN LOCAL RESTAU 10. Location(s) of the Project or	T ROOTENATIS. IN HRTY. SKATING FA RANTS. THE EVENT OME WATCH THE L	MILLES WILL BE STA	YING IN HO	HOST A TELS AND
COMPLEX TO HOST THE WITHIN THE EAST & WES FAMILY PIZZA & POOL PH DINING IN LOCAL RESTAU TO CO	T ROOTENATIS. IN HRTY. SKATING FA RANTS. THE EVENT OME WATCH THE L	MULTION TO THE SE MILLES WILL BE STA IS FREE ADMISSION FO OCAL KODTENAY SKA	YING IN HO	HOST A TELS AND
COMPLEX TO HOST THE WITHIN THE EAST & WES FAMILY PIZZA & POOL PH DINING IN LOCAL RESTAU TO CO	T ROOTENATIS. TA HETY. SKATING FA RANTS. THE EVENT SME WATCH THE L EVENT: TRICT COMMUNIT	MULTION TO THE SE MILLES WILL BE STA IS FREE ADMISSION FO OCAL KODTENAY SKA	YING IN HO	HOST A TELS AND

1. Why is this project needed? THIS FIGURE SKATING EVENT IS NEW THE KOOTENAY REGION CHAMPIONS & REGION TEAM WILL B ON THE RESULTS TO REPRESENT THE KOOTENAYS AT THE SUPERSERIES STARSKATE FINAL TO BE HELD IN KELOWNA	PROVINCIAL IN MARCH 3	BUYT 2024.
2. Project partners - please list: TWELVE CLUBS WITHIN OUR REGION : CRESTLE BEAVER VALLEY SKATING CLUB, CASTLEGAR SKATING CLUB, NELSON FORKS SKATING (LUB, CRANBROOK SKATING (LUB, KIMBERLEN COLUMBIA VALLEY SKATING CLUB, FORNIE SKATING (LUB, ELF SPARWOOD SKATING CLUB & THE ROSSLAND SKATING	SKATING CU	CATING C 3, GRAN
3. Have you requested funding from other grant programs? If 'yes', please list. Vlasport	Yes	No

Section C - Project Budget Information

- Project Budget Summary If successful in attaining Town of Creston grant funding, you must spend funds and prepare Project Financial Reports according to Section C. You will be expected to provide <u>copies of</u> <u>invoices with your final report to verify how you spent the grant funds</u>. The Town of Creston maintains the right to audit projects at any time.
- 2. If possible, please provide photographs of your completed project or event and authorize the Town of Creston to use the photographs for promotional purposes, by signing the release at the bottom of this page.

Items	Details	Cost
		\$
PLEASE SEE	ATTACHED DUCUMENT -	\$
	BUDGET	\$
		\$
		\$
		\$
	TOTAL	\$

3. Funds From Other Sources (donations, grants, fundraising, etc.)

Source	Amount
	\$
PLEASE SEE ATTACHED DOLUMENT	\$
PROPOSED BUDGET	S
	S

AMOUNT OF GRANT FUNDING REQUESTED: \_\_\_\_\_\_\_

The Town of Creston shall be solely entitled to the reproduction rights of the photographs submitted by the Applicant, following the project or event partially or entirely funded by the Town through this application.

The Applicant agrees to assign reproduction rights to the said photographs to the Town.

By way of signature, 1, <u>Jillian Sibbald</u> being the authorized agent/applicant hereby agree to the above.

Furthermore, the Applicant agrees to submit a financial accounting (proof of expenditures) in the form of a final project, initiative or special activity/event report and/or budget or receipt (for hotel and/or travel expenses).

By way of signature, I, \_<u>Jillian Sibbald</u> being the authorized agent/applicant hereby agree to the above.

Jullian Sippai

Applicant (also print name below)

Witness (also print name & Address below)

Jullian Sinhaid

Date of Signature: Jan 6/24

PENELOPE SIBBALD 13 SUNRISE CRESCENT, KINBERLEY Date of Signature: Jumery 7/2024 VIA 3E8

Page 140 of 155



## Proposed Budget 2024 Kootenay Region Championships February 16-18, 2024 Creston, BC

## REVENUE

Registrations	\$ 22,000
Gaming – Raffles	\$ 2,000
Grants/Donations	\$_3,000
	\$ 27,000

## EXPENSES

Facility Rental	\$ 3,600
Medals, Ribbons, Trophies	\$ 1,200
Region fee	\$ 3,000
BC/YT Section fee	\$ 900
Computer rentals	\$ 450
Software fees	\$ 125
Catered food	\$ 1,500
Travel officials	\$ 6,000
Hotel – officials	\$ 5,000
Gifts – officials	\$ 1,000
Gifts skaters	\$ 4,000
Production	\$ 2,200
Gaming	\$ 100
Miscellaneous	\$ 125
	\$ 29,200



## **Kirsten Dunbar**

Subject: Attachments: FW: 2024 Ktunaxa Business Showcase Registration now open! :) Industry Poster-v1 copy.pdf

From: Marion Eunson <<u>MEunson@ktunaxa.org</u>> Sent: January 10, 2024 4:37 PM To: Arnold DeBoon <<u>Arnold.DeBoon@creston.ca</u>> Subject: 2024 Ktunaxa Business Showcase Registration now open! :)

CAUTION This email originated from outside the organization. Please proceed only if you trust the sender.

Happy New Year!!

Hello Mayor DeBoon!

I am hoping you will share this with your Council for me – thank you!!

I am happy to share that the registration is now open for the Ktunaxa Business Showcase! I hope you can lead the logistics for your team(s). I think you will all get a lot out of the Networking session!!! www.ktunaxabusinessshowcase.ca

At this time, we are limiting registration to:

Two (2) teams of four people/per external entity; we will reassess our numbers around Feb 12 to see if we can expand #'s of teams...

Regards, Marion

Marion Eunson

Industry Engagement Officer Ktunaxa Nation Council Tel: (250) 489-2464 ext. 3046 Email: <u>meunson@ktunaxa.org</u>



KTUNAXA NATION Council Society | 7825 Mission Road | Cranbrook, BC V1C 7E5 | www.ktunaxa.org

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

The contents of this email message and any attachments are intended solely for the addressee(s) and may contain confidential and/or privileged information and may be legally protected from disclosure. If you are not the intended recipient of this message or their agent, or if this message has been addressed to you in error, please immediately alert the sender by reply email and then delete this message and any attachments. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any use, dissemination, copying, or storage of this message or its attachments is strictly prohibited. Please consider the environment before printing this email message.



VIA EMAIL

January 12, 2024

His Worship Arnold DeBoon Mayor of the Town of Creston 238 10<sup>th</sup> Avenue North PO Box 1339 Creston BC V0B 1G0 Email: <u>Kirsten.Dunbar@creston.ca</u>

Dear Mayor DeBoon:

I would like to thank the delegation from the Town of Creston for an engaging meeting at the 2023 Union of British Columbia Municipalities Convention. I am writing to follow up on our discussion regarding federal policing and municipal policing resources.

I appreciate your concerns with respect to the need for additional federal police resources to address the cross-border issues and increased complexity of investigations related to the nearby plural community.

For your awareness, I raised border security at the most recent Federal/Provincial/Territorial Minister's meeting in Montreal in October 2023, and will continue to do so in each interaction I have with my federal and provincial counterparts. As noted in our meeting, the matter of border security is a federal responsibility, and the associated resources are thus outside of the control of the Province.

I am advising that ministry staff will be in touch with you to schedule a follow-up discussion with representatives from the Town of Creston, Dwayne McDonald, Commanding Officer of BC RCMP and Glen Lewis, Director of Police Services and Assistant Deputy Minister, on these issues.

In regard to the Town's request for two General Investigative Services (GIS) members in your community, the process for increasing members of a Municipal Police Unit is prescribed in the Town's Municipal Police Unit Agreement.

With respect to increasing the authorized strength in provincial detachment units, the RCMP maintains internal processes by which local detachments identify resource pressures to BC RCMP Headquarters.

Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General Office of the Minister and Deputy Premier Mailing Address: Parliament Buildings Victoria BC V8V 1X4 .../2

Ref: 657009

His Worship Arnold DeBoon Page 2

These pressures are then prioritized and considered in the context of the entirety of the Provincial Police Service. Should the RCMP advance any business cases to increase resources at the Creston Provincial Unit to the ministry, in accordance with the terms of the *Provincial Police Service Agreement*, I can assure you it will be carefully considered by the ministry. It is imperative that staffing levels for both provincial and municipal jurisdictions are commensurate to the workload generated in their respective areas of responsibility.

As you may be aware, in support of the provincial government's Safer Communities Action Plan, announced November 20, 2022, the Province has approved an unprecedented, multi-year investment of approximately \$230 million to the RCMP, as the Provincial Police Service. This funding will address existing gaps in staffing and resource pressures in specialized functions within the Provincial Police Service, such as Major Crime Section and BC Highway Patrol, as well as at front-line provincial detachment units.

As part of the Provincial Police Service, the Creston Provincial RCMP Unit would be eligible for support under the \$230 million provincial investment. Ministry staff are engaged with RCMP 'E' Division regarding the next steps to address the vacancies and resource pressures within the Provincial Police Service.

While the provincial investment applies directly to the Provincial Police Service, it is anticipated that the positive impacts will benefit public safety for all of BC, beyond jurisdictions policed by the Provincial Police Service.

Ministry staff will be reaching out to your office to arrange a future meeting. In the interim, should you have any questions pertaining to the provincial investment or BC RCMP service delivery, please contact Katherine St. Denis, Director, BC RCMP Service Delivery, at: <u>Katherine.StDenis@gov.bc.ca</u> or: 778-572-3401.

I am confident we can continue to work together to strengthen our communities and find solutions to the concerns and challenges you brought to our meeting.

Sincerely,

Mich Jun

Mike Farnworth Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General and Deputy Premier

pc: Brittny Anderson, MLA

# **Town of Creston**

## Bylaw No. 1977

A bylaw to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 1958, 2022.

WHEREAS Council has enacted a Zoning Bylaw;

AND WHEREAS Council deems it necessary and in the public interest to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 1958, 2022;

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Town of Creston, in open meeting assembled, acts as follows:

# Part 1 Citation

1.1 This Bylaw may be cited as "Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 1977, 2023".

# Part 2 Severability

2.1 If a portion of this Bylaw is held invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, then the invalid portion must be severed and the remainder of this Bylaw is deemed to have been adopted without the severed section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, clause, or phrase.

# Part 3 Amendments

3.1 Part 2.0: Definitions, is hereby amended by adding the following:

## Principal residence:

means the **Dwelling unit** in which a person usually lives and conducts daily affairs. A person can only have one **Principal residence**.

3.2 Part 2.0: Definitions, is hereby amended by deleting the definition for **Dwelling unit** in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

## Dwelling unit:

means one (1) or more rooms used or intended for residential use by one (1) or more individuals, with cooking, living, sleeping, and sanitary facilities, and specifically excludes *Tourist accommodation or services.* 

3.3 Part 4.0: General Use Provisions and Regulations, is hereby amended by adding the following:

## 4.9 Short Term Rentals

- **4.9.1** A *Short term rental*, where permitted in a *Zone* of this Bylaw, must:
  - i. not change the character of the *Dwelling unit, Lot* or the neighbourhood in which it is located;
  - ii. not give any exterior indication of its existence except by one (1) sign which conforms to the provisions of the Town of Creston Sign Bylaw, as amended or replaced from time to time;
  - iii. be accessory in nature to the *Principal use* of the property as indicated by its

Bylaw No. 1977 Page 2 of 3

Zoning designation;

- iv. not involve frequent or regular delivery of materials by a commercial vehicle;
- v. not discharge or emit odorous, noxious or toxic matter or vapours, heat, glare, noise, radiation, or ground vibrations; and,
- vi. not result in traffic congestion, electrical interference, fire hazard, or other hazards.

#### **4.9.2** A **Short Term Rental** is to be conducted:

- i. only in the *Principal residence* where the operator of the *Short term rental* resides at least 8 months out of the year; and,
- ii. Notwithstanding 4.9.2 (i), where an operator has one or more **Attached** accessory dwelling units within a **Principal building** that also contains the operator's **Principal residence**, a maximum of one **Attached accessory** dwelling unit may be used as a **Short term rental** for 12 months per year.
- 3.4 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.1 Agriculture (AG) Zone, 7.1.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

#### viii. Short term rental.

3.5 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.2 Residential – Low Density, 7.2.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

#### vi. Short term rental.

3.6 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.3 Residential – Zero Lot Line (R2) Zone, 7.3.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

#### iii. Short term rental.

3.7 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.4 Residential – Medium Density (R3) Zone, 7.4.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

## iv. Short term rental.

3.8 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.5 Residential – High Density (R4) Zone, 7.5.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

## iii. Short term rental.

3.9 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.6 Residential – Rural (R5) Zone, 7.6.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

## viii. Short term rental.

3.10 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.7 Residential Manufactured Home Park (R6) Zone, 7.7.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

## v. Short term rental.

3.11 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.8 Commercial Downtown Core (CDC) Zone, 7.8.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

#### iii. Short term rental.

3.12 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.9 Commercial General (CG) Zone, 7.9.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amending by adding the following:

## iii. Short term rental.

3.13 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.10 Commercial Highway Service (CHS) Zone, 7.10.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

## vi. Short term rental.

3.14 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.11 Commercial Neighbourhood (CN) Zone, 7.11.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:

## iv. Short term rental.

- 3.15 Part 7.0: Establishment of Zones, 7.12 Northwest Boulevard Comprehensive Development (CDNW) Zone, 7.12.2.2 Accessory Uses, is hereby amended by adding the following:
  - iv. Short term rental.

# Part 4 Effective Date

4.1 This Bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon adoption.

READ A FIRST TIME by title and SECOND TIME by content this day of , 20 .

READ A THIRD TIME by title this day of , 20 .

ADOPTED this day of , 20 .

Mayor Arnold DeBoon

# **Town of Creston**

# Bylaw No. 1978

A bylaw to amend Business Licence Bylaw No. 1793, 2017.

WHEREAS Council has enacted a Business Licence Bylaw;

AND WHEREAS Council deems it necessary and in the public interest to amend Business Licence Bylaw No. 1793, 2017;

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Town of Creston, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows:

# Part 1 Citation

1.1 This Bylaw may be cited as "Business Licence Amendment Bylaw No. 1978, 2023".

# Part 2 Severability

2.1 If a portion of this Bylaw is held invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, then the invalid portion must be severed and the remainder of this Bylaw is deemed to have been adopted without the severed section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, clause, or phrase.

# Part 3 Amendments

3.1 **Part 2 Definitions**, is hereby amended by adding the following:

"**Short Term Rental**" means the rental of a dwelling unit, or portion thereof, to short-term paying guests for periods not exceeding thirty (30) days.

- 3.2 **Part 6 Offences and Penalties**, is hereby renamed, **Part 7 Offences and Penalties**.
- 3.3 **Part 7 General**, is hereby renamed, **Part 8 General**.
- 3.4 To add a new **Part 6 Short Term Rentals**, as follows:

## Part 6 Short Term Rentals

- 1. Short Term Rental Licence Regulations
  - (a) A requirement of this Bylaw pertaining to Short Term Rentals does not abrogate the application of any other requirements contained herein that are generally applicable to all businesses.
  - (b) No person shall operate a Short Term Rental unless the premises can be demonstrated to be that person's Principal Residence.
  - (c) No person shall operate a Short Term Rental without a valid and subsisting

licence.

- (d) No person shall offer or advertise a Short Term Rental without a valid licence in respect of such Short term rental.
- (e) Short Term Rentals are subject to inspection by the Fire Department once every three (3) years, whether or not the Short Term Rental has been continuously licenced during that period. At the discretion of the Fire Chief, the inspection required at the time of initial application may be waived if the subject property has been subject to a full inspection within the previous three years.
- 2. Short Term Rental Licence Applications
  - (a) Any person making an application for a Short Term Rental Licence shall at the time of making such application, in addition to the general requirements under this Bylaw, provide:
    - (i) proof of ownership of the premises from which the Short Term Rental will be operated;
    - (ii) proof of Principal Residence;
    - (iii) owner authorization when the Short Term Rental is operated by anyone other than the owner;
    - (iv) a filled out copy of the welcome booklet (provided by the Town) to Short term guests.
  - (b) In considering an application for a Short Term Rental Licence, the Licence Inspector may:
    - (i) consider whether a Short Term Rental licence held by the applicant has been revoked in the preceding two (2) licence periods;
    - (ii) require an inspection of the premises from which the Short Term Rental will be operated notwithstanding that, the Licence Inspector may grant approval of the application without an inspection subject to the condition that if upon subsequent inspection, the Short Term Rental fails to comply with the requirements of this Bylaw, the Licence Inspector shall suspend or cancel the licence;
    - (iii) withhold approval of a licence if an applicant and/or property owner has outstanding unpaid penalties issued under the Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 1760.
- 3. Short Term Rental Licence Renewal
  - (a) An application for renewal of a business licence accompanied by the additional Short Term Rental requirements outlined in this bylaw must be received by the Town by January 31st in each calendar year.

- 4. Advertising and Online Booking Platforms
  - (a) Every advertisement for a Short Term Rental must disclose, in respect of the Short Term Rental being advertised:
    - (i) a valid business licence number.
  - (b) All required taxes, including Municipal Regional District Tax, must be collected for all Short Term Rental bookings.
- 5. Short Term Rental Guest Registry
  - (a) Every person carrying on the business of a Short Term Rental must:
    - (i) establish and maintain a daily register of the name, telephone number, address and vehicle licence plate number, for every overnight guest of the business; and
    - (ii) upon request from the Town, supply a copy of the guest register to the Licence Inspector.
  - (b) The Town may request a copy of the guest register on any day of the calendar year between the hours of 8:00 am and 8:00 pm.
  - (c) The Town may request from the licensee, booking records as produced directly from each online listing platform used to advertise the licensed premises in the current calendar year on any day of the calendar year between the hours of 8:00 am and 8:00 pm.

READ A FIRST TIME by	title and 9	SECOND TIM	IE by content this	dav of	.2023.
	une and v	SECOND HIN	ne by content this	uay or	,2025.

READ A THIRD TIME by title this day of , 20 .

ADOPTED this day of , 20

Mayor Arnold DeBoon

# **Town of Creston**

# Bylaw No. 1979

## A bylaw to amend Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 1760, 2011.

WHEREAS Council has enacted a Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw;

AND WHEREAS Council deems it necessary and in the public interest to amend Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 1760, 2011;

NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the Town of Creston, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows:

# Part 1 Citation

1.1 This Bylaw may be cited as "Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw No. 1979, 2023".

# Part 2 Severability

2.1 If a portion of this Bylaw is held invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, then the invalid portion must be severed and the remainder of this Bylaw is deemed to have been adopted without the severed section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, clause, or phrase.

# Part 3 Amendments

3.1 Schedule "A" – Designated Bylaw Contraventions and Penalties, Business Licence Bylaw No. 1793, is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Bylaw No.	Section	Description	A1 Penalty	A2 Early Payment Penalty	A3 Late Payment Penalty	A4 Compliance Agreement Available (*Maximum 50% Reduction in Penalty Amount Where Compliance Agreement is shown as "Yes")
Busines	s Licence B	ylaw No. 1793, 2017				
1793	Part 5.1	No Business Licence	\$100.00	\$50.00	\$125.00	Yes
1793	Part 6.4 (a)	Advertising a Short term rental without a business licence	\$250.00	\$225.00	\$275.00	Yes

3.2 Schedule "A" – Designated Bylaw Contraventions and Penalties, Zoning Bylaw No. 1123, 1989, is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Bylaw No.	Section	Description	A1 Penalty	A2 Early Payment Penalty	A3 Late Payme nt Penalty	A4 Compliance Agreement Available (*Maximum 50% Reduction in Penalty Amount Where Compliance Agreement is shown as "Yes")	
Zoning E	Zoning Bylaw No. 1958, 2022						

1958	3.1.1	Use land or building contrary to bylaw	\$275.00	\$250.00	\$300.00	Yes
------	-------	--	----------	----------	----------	-----

# Part 4 Effective Date

4.1 This Bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon adoption.

READ A FIRST TIME by title and SECOND TIME by content this day of , 2023.

READ A THIRD TIME by title this day of , 2023.

ADOPTED this day of , 2023.

Mayor Arnold DeBoon

# **Town of Creston**

# Bylaw No. 1982

## A bylaw to amend Fire Service Bylaw No. 1928, 2021.

WHEREAS, the Council of the Town of Creston has established a fire department known as Creston Fire Rescue for the purpose of providing a municipal fire protection service, and wishes to continue the operation of the fire department under the authority of this Bylaw;

NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the Town of Creston, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows:

# Part 1 Citation

1.1 This Bylaw may be cited as "Fire Service Amendment Bylaw No. 1982, 2023".

# Part 2 Severability

2.1 If a portion of this Bylaw is held invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, then the invalid portion must be severed and the remainder of this Bylaw is deemed to have been adopted without the severed section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, clause, or phrase.

# Part 3 Amendments

- 3.1 APPENDIX A: FEES AND CHARGES, is hereby amended by adding the following:
  - (k) fire inspections conducted by the Fire Department as required by Business Licence Bylaw No. 1793, 2017, Part 6.1(e), as amended from time to time.

# Part 4 Effective Date

4.1 This Bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon adoption.

READ A FIRST TIME by title and SECOND TIME by content this day of , 20 .

READ A THIRD TIME by title this day of , 20 .

ADOPTED this day of , 20 .

Mayor Arnold DeBoon

## Town of Creston

## Bylaw No. 1994

A bylaw to amend the Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1763, 2011.

WHEREAS it is deemed necessary and in the public interest to amend Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1963, 2011;

NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the Town of Creston, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows:

# Part 1 Citation

1.1 This Bylaw may be cited as "Fees and Charges Amendment Bylaw No. 1994, 2024".

# Part 2 Severability

2.1 If a portion of this Bylaw is held invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, then the invalid portion must be severed and the remainder of this Bylaw is deemed to have been adopted without the severed section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, clause, or phrase.

# Part 3 Amendments

- 3.1 Schedule 4 Business Licence Fees, Schedule of Business Licence Fees, is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the new Schedule 4 Business Licence Fees, Schedule of Business Licence Fees, which is attached to and forms a part of this Bylaw as Schedule "A".
- 3.2 Schedule 6 Fire and Rescue Permits and Services, Fire Services Permits and Services, is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with a new Schedule 6 Fire and Rescue Permits and Services, Fire Services Permits and Services, which is attached to and forms a part of this Bylaw as Schedule "B".

# Part 4 Effective Date

4.1 This Bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon adoption.

READ A FIRST TIME by title and SECOND TIME by content this day of , 2024.

READ A THIRD TIME by title this day of , 2024.

ADOPTED this day of , 2024.

Mayor Arnold DeBoon

# Schedule "A" Schedule 4 – Business Licence Fees

Schedule of Business Licence Fees for 2024 and 2025

(subject to applicable taxes)

<u>NOTE</u>: A \$20.00 discount will be applied to all Business Licence renewals where payment is received on or before January 31<sup>st</sup> of each year

Description	On or before January 31st	After January 31st
<b>Home Crafts</b> Home crafts would be classified as articles made by hand such as jewelry, dolls, woodcrafts, stuffed animals, holiday art, toys, greeting cards, candles, soap, flower arranging, clothing and fabric art.	\$50.00	\$70.00
<b>Commercial – Small</b> Included in this category are any businesses or commercial ventures not included under any other business licence rate category under this Bylaw which occurs within Creston town limits and is not exempted elsewhere, agents or peddlers whereby the fee is applicable for each and every representative who sells, solicits, or takes orders for the sale by retail of goods or services to be supplied by another person; accommodation all types excluding hotel, motels, inns greater than 464.5 sq. meters or 5000 Sq. feet; contractors; home-based business not included in Home Crafts.	\$100.00	\$120.00
<b>Commercial – Large</b> Includes, any business whose commercial area is 464.5 sq. meters or 5000 sq. feet in size or greater; small industrial operations with less than 20 employees, hotels, motels and inns greater than 464.5 sq. meters or 5000 sq. feet.	\$170.00	\$190.00
<b>Cannabis Retail</b> Includes, any business that dispenses, sells, or distributes Cannabis as lawfully permitted and authorized under a Retail Cannabis Licence and the Cannabis Distribution Act of British Columbia and Cannabis Act of Canada and the respective regulations thereunder enacted and amended from time to time.	\$500.00	\$520.00
<b>Industrial</b> Operations including manufacturing facilities with greater than 20 employees. Manufacturing facilities include breweries, sawmills, fabrication plant, cement plants, etc.	\$450.00	\$470.00
Inter-Community Business Licence (Kootenay Region)	\$100.00	\$100.00
Short Term Rental Includes the rental of a dwelling unit, or portion thereof, to short-term paying guests for periods not exceeding thirty (30) days.	<mark>\$500.00</mark>	<mark>\$520.00</mark>

For the purposes of this schedule, "commercial area" is defined as all building space used by a business to conduct its operations. This includes retail, office, accommodation, supply storage, inventory storage, garage, workshop, basements, and furnace and utility rooms.

# Schedule "B" Schedule 6 – Fire and Rescue Permits and Services

Fire Services Permits and Services (subject to applicable taxes)			
	Description	Fee	
	<ul> <li>Fees for services described in the Fire Service Bylaw No. 1928, 2021, sections 11.1(a) to 11.1(j);</li> </ul>		
These	Command vehicle (all found rate) Support vehicle (all found rate – 2 firefighters) Engine (all found rate – 4 firefighters) Aerial Apparatus (all found rate) Haz Mat Response Unit Rescue Unit (all found rate – 5 firefighters) Water Tender (all found rate – 2 firefighters) Additional Firefighters Firefighters for traffic control, fire watch or security Training Instructor (per instructor)	As per Inter-Agency Guide*	
These rates apply for incident responses to an automatic aid, mutual aid or request for assistance to another jurisdiction within the Regional District of Central Kootenay, unless an annual negotiated fee or fixed annual service provision fee is provided within a contract between the Town of Creston and the Regional District of Central Kootenay.			
	spection as required by the Business Licence Bylaw No. 2017, Part 6.1(e), as amended from time to time.	\$500.00 per inspection	
c) Provincial agencies will be invoiced in accordance with the Inter-Agency Guide*.			
	contractors, individuals or other governments, these expenses shall be invoiced as actual		
Bylaw	Services provided by the Fire Department that are not described within the Fire Service Bylaw, and utilizes Fire Department owned vehicles, equipment and/or personnel shall be invoiced in accordance with the Inter-Agency Guide*.		
f) All hou	All hourly rates noted are flat rate hours.		
• /	) The fees and charges imposed pursuant to this Schedule shall be charged to the registered owner of the property at which the incident occurred.		
ُ paid b	h) These fees and charges are recoverable in the same manner as property taxes and, if not paid by December 31 <sup>st</sup> of the year which the fees and charges are imposed, are deemed to be taxes in arrears.		
(* Inter-Agency Guide refers to the publically available Inter-Agency Operational Procedures and Reimbursement Rates			

<sup>(\*</sup> Inter-Agency Guide refers to the publically available Inter-Agency Operational Procedures and Reimbursement Rates document (as amended from time to time) which may be viewed here: <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/public-safety-and-emergency-services/emergency-preparedness-response-recovery/embc/policies/inter-agency\_working\_group\_report\_reimbursement\_rates.pdf</u>)